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Our 2019-20 Narrative Report
Our Narrative Report aims to demonstrate a clear link between our
resources, our strategy and our performance in a transparent and
accessible wa . It shows how we ve helped deliver intended
outcomes and created value throughout 2019/20, and how we are
planning ahead to respond as effectively as possible to future
challenges. The report mainly looks back to the period before the
significant impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic began towards the
very end of the 2019/20 financial year.

and transparency. We have set out our governance standards in our
Code of Corporate Governance (The Code), which forms part of our
Constitution. The Code explains how the vision and values of the
organisation the Our Manchester principles - are at the heart of the
Council's approach to governance. Our Annual Governance
Statement (AGS) reviews the extent to which we have met the
Code s standards, and describes the progress made throughout the
year in addressing our key governance challenges.
Our City

Our Council

Our thriving and vibrant city

Our vision and strategy

The cit s growing population was estimated to be just over 575,400
in mid-2019, and by 2025 Manchester is forecast to be home to over
636,000 people1. The cit s growing econom has been crucial to its
overall success and resilience. Manchester is the third most visited
city in the UK and is renowned both nationally and internationally as
a vibrant, inclusive and outward-looking city.

Our mission is to support the delivery of the vision for the city set out
in the Our Manchester Strategy that in 2025 Manchester will be in
the top flight of world-class cities. The Council s Corporate Plan (Our
Plan) sets out our priorities for the next 2-3 years for delivering the
Our Manchester Strategy for the city. Our Plan was refreshed in
February 2020 to emphasise the fundamental importance of the Zero
Carbon agenda to the cit s future.

Responding to our challenges

Our commitment to good governance

While the city has made great progress, there are significant
challenges relating to areas of deprivation, health outcomes for
residents, and those residents living in poverty.

We make decisions affecting Manchester and its residents on a daily
basis. We are made up of 96 councillors elected by residents across
the cit s 32 wards. These elected representatives have the authorit
to make decisions affecting the city. Approximately 7,000 Council
staff deliver public services across five directorates; Adult Social
Care (including Homelessness), Children s Services, Homelessness,
Neighbourhoods, Growth and Development and the Corporate Core.

The Our Manchester Strategy sets out the cit s priorities up to 2025
and was launched in 2016. This ambitious strategy was developed
through extensive consultation with local people, businesses and
service providers and shows how the city came together to address
its challenges and strive for a place in the top flight of world class
cities.

We are responsible for conducting our business in accordance with
the law and ensuring that public money is safeguarded, properly
accounted for and used economically, efficiently and effectively. We
are committed to the highest standards of conduct, progressing
towards the cit s vision with robust controls over the use of
resources, intelligent and open decision making, and accountability

To progress towards the vision described in the Strategy, and to meet
the cit s challenges, we are continuing to embed the Our
Manchester approach. This is a radically transformed way of working
so that public services are focused around people and communities
rather than organisational silos. We are working with partners such
as health, education and housing providers, the police, the voluntary
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Estimate based on in-house forecasting model (MCCFM) which accounts for residential
building underway in 2019 and is dependent on strong recovery from impacts of COVID-19.
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sector and communities in new innovative ways that target the
specific challenges we have in Manchester and make Manchester
the best it can possibly be.
We will closely monitor the implications of government policy (in
relation to COVID-19, EU exit and the welfare reforms for example)
so that we are well placed to anticipate and mitigate negative
impacts, and grasp opportunities. We will continue to work together
with other authorities in our city region and use our collective
powers and budgets to make local decisions aligned to the needs of
our communities, partners and stakeholders.
COVID-19: impacts, response and recovery
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the Council
and the city. It has triggered an unprecedented rise in the number of
people claiming unemployment benefits with the claimant count
rising by 89% from March 2020 to May 2020 to reach 34,000 people2.
This represents 8.8% of the cit s working age population, which is
the highest rate this century. City centre footfall in June 2020 is also
61% lower than June last ear and footfall in the cit s district centres
has dropped by 28% over the same period. We have adapted the
way in which we provide the services which we offer, to support our
residents and local businesses in these challenging times. Although
the impact in the 2019/20 financial year has been limited, the impact
on the budget for 2020/21 and beyond will be substantial. The
position for 2020/21 is expected to be manageable through
immediate additional savings and the use of reserves, however the
financial position in 2021/22 becomes much more challenging based
on current information. It is clear that the pandemic will have a
significant impact on the Council s resources, in terms of both
increased expenditure and significantly reduced income for at least
the next two to three years.
Our Update on Response Phase report details our initial response
which included:

Establishing the Manchester and Trafford PPE Mutual Aid
Hub to quickly distribute PPE to front-line workers;
Establishing the Community COVID-19 Testing Hub with our
health partners which has enabled the testing of hospital
patients and NHS and social care staff;
Establishing a control room to expedite hospital discharges
and establishing a COVID-19 positive nursing home;
Accommodating people who sleep rough in the cit s hotels;
Delivering children s social care for the cit s Looked After
Children through video technology where possible;
Continuing to educate vulnerable children and the children
of key workers in schools and all children via physical
learning materials and laptops, and supporting families in
hardship with a Free School Meal Scheme;
Directl supporting the cit s businesses b making various
grants available and through the administration of business
rates relief schemes such as the Retail Discount.
Additionally, the Council has had to manage COVID-19 s impacts on
sickness levels, the need to redeploy staff where required, and the
need to become an organisation where many staff work from home
to respond to the government s sta at home measure (around
3,400 of our workforce of 7,300 during lockdown). Dashboards were
set up to monitor COVID-19 related absences and identify any
service areas or locations with particularly high levels of such
absences, with 14% of all the sickness days recorded for April 2020
being COVID-19 related. Policies were reviewed in relation to
redeploying staff, and data gathering exercises were carried out in
relation to workforce deplo ment and the identification of emplo ee s
underlying health conditions, caring responsibilities and required
adaptations for home working. We supported those staff who were
unable to do their usual role to volunteer for temporary redeployment,
which mainly involved supporting the helpline for vulnerable
residents and food and medicine deliveries. All staff have been
supported with guidance on working from home effectively, ICT
support and daily communications sharing the latest government,
Public Health England (PHE) and Manchester specific advice.

Establishing a Community Response Helpline to support
vulnerable people with the delivery of food and medicine;
2

Combined count of Universal Credit (not in employment) and Job Seekers Allowance
claimants (ONS).
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COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the Council s suppl chain
and a number of supplier relief arrangements were necessary to
support suppliers and service continuity throughout and following the
crises. Council staff and schools were provided with guidance on
actions needed to help identify and mitigate risk of supplier failure
and the Council's contract managers have been supported with
specific advice where needed. As a condition of receiving relief,
suppliers must certify that other forms of support under the
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme are not being accessed and
agree that open book accounting will be applied to all payments
made.
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) became a new priority area for
procurement. To mitigate the risk of a failure to provide enough PPE
to support the Council s own activit and the health care sector, the
Council established a dedicated procurement team to work alongside
the Council s health and safet , health partners in Manchester Health
and Care Commissioning (MHCC), and the Greater Manchester
Health and Care Partnership.
Whilst the response work will continue for some time, there is also a
significant focus on planning with our partners to develop the best
possible joint plans for the cit s recover . This planning work is
described in more detail in the July COVID-19 Update report to the
Executive and it will be focussed across four interdependent work
streams which will each have short, medium and longer term
priorities.
The economy - Whilst the effect on both the local and national
economy cannot yet be determined with great accuracy, it is now
widely recognised that the economic crisis we are facing will lead to
the most severe economic disruption experienced in modern times.
The forecasts for Manchester s economic performance in the KPMG
UK Economic Outlook Report for June suggest a projected reduction
in overall productivity of 7.6% for 2020, followed by an increase of
3.5% in 2021. The report highlights particularly vulnerable sectors
such as hospitality, tourism and activity associated with international
travel, which will be impacted disproportionately and whose recovery
will be lengthier.
Our Economy work stream aims to ensure we have a recovery plan
which is dynamic and local interventions which support the recovery

and rebuilding of the economy. Areas of focus will include Transport
and Infrastructure, Affordable Housing and Skills, Labour Market and
Business Support for example. We are currently planning for a
recovery period of at least three to five years whilst ensuring that our
recovery can be adapted to a rapidly changing situation.
Residents and communities - We will consider how best to support
our residents including those at greater risk and further
disadvantaged by COVID-19 through the recovery period. Our work
will include a focus on equality, diversity and inclusion, hardship
funds and other discretionary spend, youth services and support for
children and young people, domestic violence and abuse,
homelessness, digital exclusion, and the Voluntary Community and
Social Enterprise (VCSE) and Faith sector.
Health and Social Care - Health and Social Care leaders will
develop a refreshed Locality Plan for the city building on the unique
experiences of the pandemic and seizing the opportunities of
changes being made in the response phase.
Future Council / Impact on the Council - This work stream will
focus on how the Council will need to change in terms of workforce,
transformation and finance.
Our response to COVID-19 has been a catalyst for change in terms
of our workforce and has allowed us to reimagine what it will look like
in the coming months and beyond. This will be a workforce that is
supported to excel and be well, work in a transformed way and deliver
improved services. We will plan a phased return to the workplace for
our workforce. This will include plans for safe working in offices, a
refreshed health and well-being offer, and risk assessment and
guidance for staff and managers. Our plans will be informed by an
all-staff survey which had circa 3,500 respondents with nearly three
quarters of these working from home. 95% of those surveyed felt that
they were well supported, 80% felt they were at least as productive
as normal and 30% felt they were more productive than normal. We
are committed to continuing to embed the Our Manchester (OM)
approach throughout the Council and Our Transformation
Programme, Our Ways of Working will support staff to work even
more flexibly across different locations and services as we move into
our new normal
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Manchester s overall approach to public service reform involves ke
partners working together effectivel
across the cit s
neighbourhoods, and this is called Bringing Services Together for
People in Places (BST PIP). Our BST PIP work has been
accelerated in response to the pandemic and we will build upon the
success of this to ensure that key improvements are sustained to
become business as usual. Related plans include work to support
residents and businesses who may experience digital exclusion.

planning work. This reset will begin with a consultation that is firmly
rooted in the Our Manchester approach, which addresses the
significant challenges but also some of the opportunities over the
next five to ten years. The reset will maintain our overarching
principles of equality, inclusivity and sustainability at its heart,
building on them to establish the refreshed vision for achieving the
cit s 2025 aims.

We will be reviewing and revising the budget position for the Council
for 2020/21 and beyond in light of escalating costs, significant and
long term income losses, funding uncertainty and economic
challenges. Aligned to this, Our Plan and the activities which
underpin delivery of the Council Business Plan for 2020/21 are being
reviewed. This will allow the Council s shorter term priorities and the
planned actions of its 41 services to be updated in light of the impacts
of the pandemic and to support the cit s recover from this.
Our Manchester Strategy Reset
The longer term Our Manchester Strategy 2016-2025 also needs to
be reset and repositioned, to respond to the post COVID-19
challenges the city now faces and will underpin all the recovery
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Our Strategy and Objectives
This page sets out the eight priorities of Our Plan. It shows how they are aligned to the strategy for the city and the city region, and how they inform the Council
Business Plan and Budget Report. Our Revenue Budget Strategy and Capital Budget Strategy are aligned to the Our Manchester Strategy and what Manchester
people value most.

Greater Manchester
Strategy

Zero Carbon Manchester - Lead delivery of the target for Manchester to become a zero carbon city by 2038 at
the latest, with the cit s future emissions limited to 15 million tonnes of carbon dio ide:

Work with the Manchester Climate
Change Agency to develop a full action plan for the city by March 2020, setting out how the ambition will be met Ensure activities are delivered to reduce
the Council s own direct emissions as part of this plan Contribute to improvements in air qualit across Manchester required in the Clean Air Plan.

Our Manchester
Strategy (2016-25)

Young People - From da one, support Manchester s children to be safe, happ , health and successful, fulfil

Our
Corporate
Plan

Healthy Cared-for People - Work with partners to enable people to be healthy and well. Support those who

their potential, and make sure the attend a school graded good or better:

Ensure all children have high-qualit education
Support more Manchester children to have the best possible start in life and be read for school and adulthood Reduce number of children needing a
statutor service Reduce the number of children growing up in famil povert .

need it most, working with them to improve their lives:

Support Mancunians to be health , well and safe Improve health and reduce
demand by integrating neighbourhood teams, that are connected to other services and assets locall , delivering new models of care Reduce the number
of people becoming homeless, and enable better housing and better outcomes for those who are homeless.

Housing - Ensure delivery of the right mix of good-quality housing so that Mancunians have a good chance of
quality homes:

Accelerate and sustain the delivery of more housing
on low and average incomes.

Council
Business
Plan

Council
Budget
Report

Service Plans
Team Plans
About You

Ensure the provision of enough safe, secure and affordable housing for those

Neighbourhoods - Work with our cit s communities to create and maintain clean and vibrant neighbourhoods
that Mancunians can be proud of:

Enable clean, safe, vibrant neighbourhoods.

Connections - Connect Manchester people and places through good-quality roads, sustainable transport and
better digital networks:

Improve public transport and highwa s, and make them more sustainable
infrastructure, to enable delivery of transformed public services and support a thriving digital economy.

Facilitate the development of the cit s digital

Growth that benefits everyone - Boost the cit s productivit and create a more inclusive econom that all
residents can participate in and benefit from, and contributing to reductions in family poverty, as set out in the Our
Manchester Industrial Strategy: Support good-quality job creation for residents, and effective pathways into those jobs Facilitate economic
growth of the city.

Well-managed Council - Support our people to be the best and make the most of our resources:

Enable our
workforce to be the best they can be through the Our People Strategy and Our Manchester behaviours Effectively plan our future budgets and balance
our current budget, delivering savings, transformation of the organisation, reductions in demand through reform, and generating income.

Our work towards each priority is underpinned by city-wide leadership which aims to reduce inequalities and promote inclusion and diversity. We pursue our
priorities by applying the Our Manchester principles in all that we do, from our Business and Budget planning through our service and team planning, to the 1:1
About You sessions managers have with staff which complete the golden thread. These principles are listening , recognising strengths of individuals and
communities , working together better lives . The Our People Strategy is aligned to these principles and aims to ensure staff are listened to, involved, respected
and inspired
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Our Funding and Spending 2019/20
The graphics below show how our gross revenue and gross capital spending programmes were funded
and where we targeted our revenue spend and capital investments throughout 2019/20 to help support
the people of Manchester to achieve and enjoy a better quality of life.
Revenue spending relates to the day-to-da running costs required for the Council s operations such as
staffing and utilities costs.
Revenue funding and spending 2019//20

7

Capital funding and spending 2019/20
Capital expenditure relates to spending on the purchase or improvement of assets that have a longterm value to the Council and residents, such as land and buildings.
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Our Performance
The Performance of the Council and its partners against the goals of the cit s Our Manchester Strateg is reported each ear in the State of the city Report.
However, a high level view of delivery of the shorter-term Council priorities outlined in Our Corporate Plan is summarised in the infographic below. Green
arrows indicate substantial desirable changes from the previous ear s results and red arrows indicate substantial undesirable changes.

9

Our Financial Performance 2019/20
This section provides a high level analysis of our financial performance
within 2019/20 and complements the more detailed financial statements
published within the accounts. It shows how our position at the end of the
financial year relates to our budget and the key variances. Our net revenue
budget is the total amount of corporate resources available to us. It is mainly
funded from retained business rates, council tax receipts, government
grants, dividends and use of reserves. In 2019/20 the net revenue budget
totalled some £628m, and the table below shows our year-end position
(spend) compared to this budget.

Manchester City Council
programme
Total available resources

Net
revenue
budget
2019/20
£M

Year End
Position
2019/20
£M

Overspend or
(underspend)
2019/20
£M

(628.1)

(630.0)

(1.9)

119.9

119.1

(0.8)

Children's Services

120.9

122.3

1.6

Adult Social Care

198.3

205.2

6.9

Homelessness

14.1

14.2

0.1

Corporate Core

69.7

66.8

(2.9)

Neighbourhoods

99.3

97.3

(2.0)

5.9

5.4

(0.5)

Total Directorate budgets

508.2

511.4

3.2

Total use of resources

628.1

630.5

2.4

0.0

0.5

0.5

Total Corporate budgets
Directorate Budgets

Growth and Development

Net overspend

At the end of the year we had overspent against our net revenue budget by
£527,000 and this was funded from our General Fund Reserve. The main
variations are set out in the table above.
The most significant overspending areas in 2019/20 continued the trend from
2018/19 in the Children s Services and Adult Social Care Directorates
This is offset by underspends in other directorates; including Corporate Core
and Neighbourhoods together with the achievement of additional income to
increase available resources. The ongoing financial impact of these trends
has been addressed and budgets have been revised for 2020/21.
The Council also operates a Housing Revenue Account (HRA), which
contains the costs of owning and maintaining properties let to tenants, and
rental income from those properties. This is held separately from the net
revenue budget position shown in the previous table. The Council was
responsible for managing an average of 15,767 dwellings during 2019/20.
The outturn position for the HRA in 2019/20 was that income was greater
than expenditure by £4.993m which resulted in the general HRA reserve
increasing to £73.585m. In addition there are further HRA reserves relating
to other potential liabilities of £35.860m. It is anticipated that as a result of
planned capital expenditure HRA reserves will reduce considerably over the
next four years.
COVID-19
The Council received additional grants in 2019/20 as part of Central
Government's response to the COVID-19 pandemic. These were to assist
with cash flow and to allow the Council to help both the residents and
businesses of Manchester.
The first tranche of un-ring fenced Government COVID-19 support funding
totalling £18.589m was received in March 2020. This grant covered some
costs in 2019/20 (£389k) but as the majority of costs will be incurred from
2020/21 the remaining grant (£18.2m) was transferred to an earmarked
reserve to fund future cost pressures.
Our capital budget for the 2019/20 year was £318.1m, and the table below
shows our year-end position (spend) compared to this budget.
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Manchester City
Council programme
Highways

Capital
Budget for
2019/20
£m

Capital
Overspend or
expenditure in (underspend)
2019/20
for 2019/20
£m
£m

55.5

54.6

(0.9)

8.6

7.6

(1.0)

Growth and
Development

90.8

81.2

(9.6)

Town Hall refurbishment

17.0

12.7

(4.3)

Housing

private sector

10.3

11.1

0.8

Housing

HRA

19.6

18.9

(0.7)

25.2

4.3

(20.9)

5.7

5.5

(0.2)

15.4

7.4

(8.0)

248.1

203.3

(44.8)

70.0

52.2

(17.8)

318.1

255.5

(62.6)

Neighbourhoods

Children s Services
ICT
Corporate Services
Manchester City
Council Total
Programme on behalf of
Greater Manchester
Total

At the end of the year we had underspent against our capital budget by
62.6m. The Council s underspend is largel due to the timing of spend and
will be carried forward into the next financial year. The nature of the capital
budget requires flexibility to manage the funding across the life of projects in
a transparent manner. As such some variations within the year are to be
expected as projects are developed, and budgets are re-profiled on a
quarterly basis and reported to members for approval in order to reflect these
changes.
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Our Risks and Outlook
In this time of such rapid transition, our financial, policy and legislative
environment is constantly evolving. The skills and diversity of our leaders,
the continuous review of our Budget and Business Plans, and our attitude to
risk and robust risk management arrangements all mean we are well placed
to tackle challenges and grasp the opportunities of our ever-changing
environment to create value. More detail can be found in Our Risk Strategy
2018 20 and Our Business Continuity Strategy 2017 20

At a corporate level, significant risks are captured within our Corporate Risk
Register (CRR), which articulates the risk, quantifies its likelihood and
potential impact, names the strategic director who owns the risk, and
articulates how the risk is managed and any mitigating actions. In March
2020, the CRR was refreshed and risk scores (in terms of likelihood and
impact) were updated. The table below includes the four risks from the CRR
which had the highest risk scores in March 2020. It highlights the risk and
the planned mitigating actions.

Risk Description

Planned Mitigating Actions

Medium Term Financial Resources - These are insufficient to support
achievement of Council and city priorities. This is based on financial
uncertainty post 2020/21 and risks that may arise from the Spending Review,
Fair Funding Review, Business Rates reset, uncertainty over Shared
Prosperity Fund and wider financial / fiscal risks linked to EU Exit and
macroeconomic factors. Reduced income due to COVID-19 related economic
downturn and additional costs of managing the pandemic need assessment.

Budget reports 2020/21 to Scrutiny, Executive and Council in March 2020
reflect current levels of risk and scenarios in medium term financial strategy
prior to the pandemic. Robustness and maintenance of reserves.
Engagement and lobbying of national decisions makers direct and via
network groups including Core Cities and the Local Government
Association. Specific lobbying regarding the full financial impact of COVID19.

Access to ICT - Loss of required access to systems impacts on the ability to
operate services and deliver to Manchester residents. This could arise from
risks relating to core infrastructure (network and applications), hardware
obsolescence (WYSE terminals), system availability (unsupported systems,
insufficient licenses) or cyber-attack.

Corporate and Service Business Continuity Plans and robust incident
management process in place. Programme of ICT investment with reporting
to ICT Board, Capital Strategy Board, SMT, Executive and Scrutiny. Positive
assurance taken from LGA Cyber Stock Take 2019. Despite improvement in
control, risk remains as a consequence of heightened cyber risk in the
external environment and pending completion of the data centre project.

Climate Change - The Council does not produce, or deliver on, a sufficiently
ambitious plan to become a zero carbon Council by 2038 or earlier if
possible. The Council does not undertake its leadership role effectively for
Manchester to become a zero carbon city by this date, and stay within the
science-based budget for the city.

Governance through Zero Carbon Coordination Group. Regular reporting to
the Executive. Additional resources investment in budget 2020/21. Very
high level of ambition on this agenda will require fundamental changes to
how we operate and significant investment across all aspects of the Council,
and for many partners in the city.

Health and Social Care integration - Failure to achieve the desired and
intended outcomes of care integration increases further pressure on Council
and health budgets; and impacts on the ability to achieve improved health
outcomes for Manchester residents.

Joint business and budget planning with Manchester Health & Care
Commissioning (MHCC) and Manchester Local Care Organisation (MLCO),
and active senior leadership engagement in HSC governance with MHCC/
MLCO. Risk managed at SMT level. Positive response to MHCC/MLCO
Governance audit reports 2019 with further development steps underway.
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Medium Term Financial Plan
Our MTFP that was refreshed and approved in March 2020 considers the
local and national financial climate, describes some of the key challenges
we are facing and the key changes in our resources before setting out the
anticipated savings requirement for the financial year 2020/21.
This also included the approval of the annual council tax level being an
increase in Manchester s Council Ta of 3.99% in 2020/21; 1.99%
attributable to the Council element and 2% for the Adult Social care precept
as well as the Greater Manchester Mayoral and Police and Crime
Commissioner precepts. The increase in the Adult funding will be used to
support the most vulnerable.

The impact of funding reductions combined with the pressures of increased
demand has resulted in a need to reduce gross spend by £7.5m in
2020/21.
In order to support our investment priorities and deliver a balanced budget
directorates have produced budgets to reduce resource commitments.
Our current MTFP, (approved before the pandemic) is summarised in the
table below. It shows the resources we expected to have and the
resources we expected to need.

We are experiencing a number of challenges which are both internal and
external to the Council prior to the pandemic. These challenges include
continued reductions in Government funding, costs of inflation and pay
awards, demographic pressures, and increased demand for services. For
e ample, national pressures on Children s Social Care are ver much
reflected within Manchester with the rising numbers who require care and
support.
Other challenges continue in delivering transformational changes including
the implementation of public sector reform to ensure that we deliver
improved services for our residents. This includes improved working with our
partners such as Health, Housing providers, Greater Manchester Police,
Department for Work and pensions and continuing to achieve the new
arrangements for Health and Social Care under the Local Care
Organisation/Care Together to deliver savings.
In our MTFP we updated our resources to include increased projected
business rates income (which included our share of benefits from the 100%
growth retention pilot), increased projected council tax income as well as
further use of reserves.
There has been a comprehensive review of how our available resources are
utilised to invest in the priority areas agreed with our residents. Our MTFP
highlighted that there is a need to invest more into the Council s front line
services such as social care, services for the homeless and helping to
mitigate some of the impacts of welfare reform.
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2019/20 2019/20
Original Revised
Budget Budget

2020/21
Budget

Directorate

£M

£M

£M

Business Rates Related Funding

314.6

314.6

339.5

Council Tax

166.5

166.5

174.5

Other non-ring fenced Grants

54.4

65.8

66.7

Dividends and Use of Airport Reserve

62.4

62.4

62.9

Use of Other Reserves

12.9

12.9

21.5

610.8

622.2

665.1

Total Resources Available

The table below shows the net budget per directorate for 2019/20 and
2020/21.
Cash Limit
2019/20

Cash Limit
2020/21

£M

£M

Children Services

120.4

130.3

MHCC Pooled Budget

193.7

216.9

4.3

4.4

Homelessness

13.9

15.3

Corporate Core

69.6

70.0

Adults Social Care

Neighbourhood Services

66.9

63.7

Resources Required:

Growth and Development

5.8

7.6

Corporate Costs:

Total Directorate Budget

474.6

508.2

Levies and Statutory Charge

70.0

70.0

71.3

1.6

0.9

0.9

44.5

44.5

44.5

7.1

18.4

18.3

123.2

133.8

135.0

10.0

10.0

9.6

The budget contains investment for priorit areas including Children s
Services, Adult Social Care and Homelessness. It also includes £7.5m of
efficiency savings, of which £4.6m are being reinvested back into the budget.
The full further details can be found in the Council s Medium Term Financial
Plan for 2020/21 and the accompanying Directorate Budget Reports.

Insurance Costs

2.0

2.0

2.0

COVID-19 pandemic

Inflationary Pressures and budgets to be
allocated

9.9

1.8

10.3

465.7

474.6

508.2

487.6

488.4

530.1

610.8

622.2

665.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

Contingency
Capital Financing
Transfer to Reserves
Sub-Total Corporate Costs
Directorate Costs:
Additional Allowances and other pension
costs

Directorate Budgets
Sub - Total Directorate Costs
Total Resources Required
Shortfall / (surplus)

The MTFP was set whilst there was considerable financial uncertainty post
financial year 2020/21 and prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Numerous
financial reviews planned by the Government had already been delayed,
adding to the financial challenges faced.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant effect on the financial
position of all Local Authorities. Nationally emergency funding of £3.2 billion
has been announced to support Councils through the immediate pressures.
This has been made available through two tranches of non-ring-fenced grant
funding of £1.6bn and one of £500m. The first funding announcement was
on 20 March and the Council was allocated £18.589 million; the second was
announced on 18 April with the individual allocations released on 29 April.
Manchester has been allocated £15.167m. The allocations of the third
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tranche were announced on 16 Jul with the Council s allocation being
£7.085m. This takes the total amount of emergency funding available to the
Council up to £40.841m.
There have been further funding allocations:
£7.458m Council Tax Hardship Fund
£68k Emergency Support for Rough Sleepers
£3.342m Care Home Infection Control Fund
£5.432m Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund
£4.837m Track and Trace Fund, and
£489k Reopening High Streets Safely Fund.
£0.957m Local Authority Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and
Essential Supplies
Further national allocations have been announced but the Council has not
yet been informed of the amount it has been allocated. These are:
Homelessness £105m nationally (£85m new funding and £20m from
refocusing existing budgets.
Support for income shortfalls (sales, fees and charges only) - national
amount not announced. The funding per Council is limited to 75p in
the pound for income losses in e cess of 5% of a Council s planned
income from sales, fees and changes.
The Council is also responsible for processing expanded retail discounts of
£138.477m to business ratepayers and paying small business grants and
retail, hospitality and leisure grants of £121.032m on behalf of the
government.
Alongside this funding, £1.3bn has been made available to Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to enhance the NHS discharge process so
patients who no longer need urgent treatment can return home safely and
quickly. There is an expectation that where funds are needed for social care
costs associated with discharge or to prevent hospital admissions then this
should be met from this funding stream.

-

Identifying cost implications for the Council due to additional
Expenditure.
Identifying financial implications of lost income from both fees and
charges and commercial arrangements.
Lobbying Government to ensure that Manchester can access the
appropriate amount of available Government funding to support
during the current crisis.
Reviewing all budgets in order to identify any areas of discretionary
spend that can be delayed/ceased to support other areas of the
budget

From April 2020, every Local Authority has been required to submit monthly
returns to the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG) setting out the forecast financial implications of COVID-19.
This has included a significant reduction in the value of business rates and
council tax collected so far in 2020/21, some of this will relate to the deferral
of payments and some due to an increase in Council Tax Support claimants.
This will be monitored closely during the financial year.
The work to identify the financial implications of the current COVID-19 crisis
is ongoing, but it is clearly going to have a significant impact both in 2020/21
and future years particularly with the expected loss of business rates and
commercial income.
The Council is reporting on the 2020/21 position to the Executive at the end
of July. This will include the work that has been undertaken to reduce costs
and deliver a balanced budget in 2020/21.
The measures required to address the longer term financial position are
being developed. The Council continues to work with Core Cities and
Greater Manchester Authorities to make representations to the Government
to seek solutions to address the funding shortfall.

There are financial pressures in excess of the financial support provided
including significant income losses particularly reductions in business rates,
council tax and commercial income as well as sales, fees and charges.
The Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer and Deputy City
Treasurer are leading the financial work stream for the Council covering:
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c. Comparable: In complying with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local
Authorit Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20 ( the Code ) and
consistent Local Authority reporting.

Financial Statements
The Statement of Accounts provide an overview of the Council s financial
position for 2019/20.

d. Understandable: These accounts are based on accounting concepts,
treatments and terminology that require reasonable knowledge of
accounting and Local Government. However, every effort has been
made to use plain language and where technical terms are
unavoidable they have been explained in the glossary of terms.

It is important to note that the deadline for the production of the Annual
Accounts has been changed for 2019/20. The Ministry of Housing
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) have introduced the
Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 which
have amended the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. This is following
consultation with all key stake holders and in recognition of the impact of
COVID-19.
The draft Accounts must now be submitted for audit by 31 August 2020
rather than 31 May 2020 and the timeline for the conclusion of the audit is
now 30 November 2020 rather than 31 July 2020.

Throughout, consideration has been given to the significance
( materialit ) of an item i.e. whether its misstatement or omission
might reasonably be expected to influence assessments of the
Council s financial management.
Underlying Assumptions

The accounts were reported to the Audit Committee on 28 July; in advance
of the revised deadline

The annual accounts of all authorities are prepared following the standard
assumptions set out below, to ensure that all Council s reports are consistent
and comparable.

The Basis of the Preparation and Presentation of the Annual
Statement of Accounts

Accruals Basis

The accounts that follow have been prepared to be:
a. Relevant: The accounts provide information about the Council s
performance and position that is useful for assessing the stewardship
of public funds and for making economic decisions.
b. Reliable: The financial information
● Has been prepared so as the reflect the reality or substance
of the transaction and activities and underlying them
● Is free from deliberate or systematic bias
● Is free from material error
● Is complete within the bounds of materiality and
● Has been prudently prepared

●

The financial statements, other than the cash flow, are prepared on an
accruals basis. Income and expenditure is recognised in the accounts
in the period in which it is earned or incurred not as the cash is received
or paid.

Going Concern
The accounts have been prepared on the assumption that the
Council will continue in existence for the foreseeable future. This
position will not change with the impact of COVID-19. However,
unless support from central government significantly increases the
budget gap for 2021/22 is significant. The Council is working on a
range of budget options that will assist with closing the budget gap
and will be reviewing its financial position again after the Spending
Review and Finance Settlement. Further information on going
concern is shown within the accounting policies.
Primacy of Legislation Requirements

16

●
●

In accordance with the Code, where an accounting treatment is
prescribed by law then it has been applied, even if it contradicts
accounting standards. The following is an example of legislative
accounting requirements having been applied when compiling these
accounts

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set aside a
minimum revenue provision

The Financial Statements: Purpose and Summary
The annual statement of accounts has been prepared in accordance with
the 2019/20 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (The Code) and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Changes in accounting
requirements over the past few years have led to an increase in complexity
of the accounts and the level of detail they contain.
One of the purposes of this introduction is to provide a guide to the Council s
accounts and the most significant financial matters contained within the
statements.
The Accountancy Code of Practice requires that the Council s accounts are
set out with the core financial statements grouped together, followed by
detailed notes, the supplementary statements and the group accounts.
The core financial statements are:

●

●

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) sets out the costs and income of
owning and maintaining council properties which are let to tenants. The
costs and income are also shown within the main statements.
The Collection Fund Account includes the collection of local taxes
(council tax and business rates) and their distribution to the Council, the
Greater Manchester Combined Authority (Police and Crime
Commissioner) and Greater Manchester Combined Authority (Fire and
Rescue).
The Group Accounts show the full e tent of the Council s economic
activities b including the Council s involvement with its group
companies and organisations. The Group Accounts are of equal
prominence to the Council in compiling the financial statements.

These are also followed by notes explaining these statements.
Accounting Changes
The way the accounts are presented is governed by the accounting policies
that the Council has to follow. This has undergone major change over the
last few years in order to bring public sector accounting in line with that of
the private sector. The most significant change was the move to International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 2010/11. These accounts are
compliant with the IFRS based Code.
The intended adoption of IFSR16 Leases for the 2020/21 accounts has
been deferred. IFRS16 is being introduced for local authorities from 1 April
2021 which means that the annual accounts for 2021/22 will be the first set
of accounts produced in accordance with this standard.
Accounting policies are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.
Business Rates 100% Retention Pilot

●
●
●
●

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)
The Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS)
The Balance Sheet
The Cash Flow Statement

Each statement is preceded by a note explaining its purpose and followed
by notes explaining the main items within the statements.
These are followed by three further sections:

The ten Greater Manchester authorities including Manchester are part of the
Greater Manchester 100% of Business Rates pilot. As 1% of business rates
is transferred to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (fire and
rescue element) the Council retains 99% of business rates.
Any business rates income in e cess of Manchester s assessed funding
need is still paid back to central government to be redistributed in the form
of tariffs and top ups but the Council now retains all of the growth it achieves
in its business rates base. Under the new regime Revenue Support Grant
and Public Health grant are not received but are met from within the
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Business Rates income with the assessed funding need adjusted
accordingly.
The Government has guaranteed that the individual authorities within
Greater Manchester will not be any worse off under the 100% Rates
Retention Pilot than they would otherwise have been. This is referred to as
the No Detriment principle.
Greater Manchester, Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester
Business Rates Pool
The Council was again a member of the Greater Manchester, Cheshire East
and Cheshire West and Chester Business Rates Pool in 2019/20. The
purpose of pooling rates across the individual authorities is not intended to
alter individual authorities income levels but to retain any levy that might be
payable by some authorities to Central Government enabling it to be
invested in the locality.
As a result of participation in the business rates retention pilot in 2019/20 the
Greater Manchester authorities within the pool no longer generate a levy
payment. However any levy that would have been paid is taken into account
when measuring the no detriment principle.
Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester retain 50% of any levy saved.
The remainder of the levy is retained centrally by the Pool.
The use of the levy held centrally is agreed with the Greater Manchester
District Councils, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Cheshire
East and Cheshire West and Chester Councils to benefit the Region.
The summary of the pool position for 2019/20 is shown below:
Local Authority

Cheshire West and Chester
Cheshire East
Retained for the pool (less
£21k administration costs)

Total
Levy
Saving
2.2
2.7

Retained by
Local
Authority
£M
1.1
1.4

4.9

2.5

Retained by
Pool
£M
1.1
1.3
2.4

The Financial Statements
The Council s Comprehensive Income and E penditure Statement
The analysis within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
(CIES) is shown by Council Directorates rather than by the standard service
classifications previously required by the Service Reporting Code of Practice
(SeRCOP). This format aims to be more meaningful for users of the financial
statements as it follows that of the budget and financial monitoring reports
produced by the Council.
As the Council operates and manages most of its corporate and support
services separately from the other Directorates these services are shown
separately and not apportioned across the other Directorates.
The Directorate figures in the CIES show the accounting cost of Council
activities including the notional accounting entries, such as depreciation, that
have to be made. Information is provided in note 11 showing a subjective
analysis of the deficit on the provision of services.
The CIES is broken down into three sections:
● Net cost of services;
● Other operating expenditure; and
● Corporate expenditure and income.
This Net Cost of Services is the cost of providing the Council s services as
reported in the revenue monitoring reports, however it also includes
accounting adjustments for items such as depreciation and impairment.
These would be a significant cost in a commercial organisation but
legislation is in place that ensures these costs are not required to be funded
by council tax payers. (The details of the accounting adjustments are shown
in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis Note). These items are transferred
to unusable reserves in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
The Total Net Cost of Services (including the technical accounting
adjustments) totals £647.160m.
Other Operating Expenditure includes costs such as levies paid and
payments made in relation to the pooling of HRA capital receipts (capital
receipts relating to right to buy sales council dwellings are pooled between
the Council and central government) as well as technical adjustments such
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as the loss on the disposal of non-current assets (including schools
transferred to Academies). These total £116.697m.
Corporate Expenditure and Income includes:
● corporate expenditure and income such as interest paid and
received, investment property rental income and the change in
values of investment properties (net income totalling £79.672m)
● general income due to the Council from Council taxpayers, National
Non Domestic ratepayers (NNDR) and general government grants
including grants to fund capital expenditure (net income totalling
£668.541m).
These three sections are totalled to produce an overall accounting deficit on
the provision of services of £15.644m.
The CIES is then reconciled to the change in the balance sheet by adding
the impact of the following accounting entries:
● the surplus on the revaluation of non-current assets;
● impairment losses on non-current assets charged to the revaluation
reserve;
● the gain or loss on investments classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income;
● re-measurement of the defined benefit pension scheme relating to
changes in pension assumptions.
The following table shows the reconciliation from the overall underspend to
the accounting deficit reported in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure
Statement by adding the notional accounting adjustments shown in the CIES
and removing transfers to earmarked reserves.

Reconciliation

General
Fund
£M

HRA

Total

£M

£M

Over / (Under)spend

0.5

(14.6)

(14.1)

Budgeted transfer (to) / from
general reserves

0.2

9.6

9.8

Net transfer (to) / from general
reserves

0.7

(5.0)

(4.3)

(28.7)

(0.0)

(28.7)

5.1

(5.1)

0.0

Notional accounting adjustments

59.1

(10.5)

48.6

Deficit / (Surplus) per CIES

36.2

(20.6)

15.6

Transfers (to) earmarked
reserves
Other income and expenditure
classification

Note 12 to the accounts shows the notional accounting adjustments that do
not affect the Council s bottom line i.e. the level of council tax or housing
rents.
The Council s Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS)
This statement sets out the movements in the main reserves and balances
of the Council from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020.
The reserves are distinguished between
●
usable (those that can be used to finance expenditure) and
●
unusable (those that contain technical accounting adjustments and
cannot be used to finance expenditure).
Of the usable reserves only the General Fund Reserve has not been
allocated for specific purposes. The usable reserves are cash backed. The
unusable reserves are mostly non cash backed.
It is a requirement placed on all Councils that the level of reserves is
reviewed regularly by the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer and
due consideration is given to all local financial risks and liabilities when doing
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so. The reserves are fully reported in the Budget Report presented to Full
Council each year.
Usable Reserves
Usable reserves are defined as those that the Council could utilise to fund
capital or revenue expenditure. The Council holds a number of reserves all
of which, aside from the General Fund Reserve, have been set aside to meet
specific future expenditure or risks including Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
costs, statutory reserves, school balances and grants which cross over
financial years. The Council needs to maintain reserves as, unlike central
government borrowing money over the medium-term, other than for
investment in assets, is not allowed and there is a requirement to balance
budgets on an annual basis.

Type of Reserve

31
March
2019
£M

31
March
2020
£M

Reserves held for capital purposes including capital
receipts and capital grants unapplied

142.3

203.3

Sub Total

142.3

203.3

20.5

25.0

2.4

2.1

100.3

117.8

19.2

25.5

113.4

116.8

37.4

30.8

Small specific reserves

3.5

4.3

Grants and contributions held to meet expenditure
commitments over more than one year (incl. COVID-19)

9.8

Capital

Revenue
The increase in usable reserves of £94.046m is mainly due to increases in
the usable capital receipts reserve and capital grants unapplied and to a
lesser extent the capital fund reserve to fund capital schemes for the general
fund, as well as the capital financing reserve which has been set up to fund
future increases in borrowing costs as a result of the Council s capital
programme. Much of this reflects the timing issues between funding being
received and expenditure being incurred.
In addition the unused the balance of the first tranche of grant for COVID-19
(£18.2m) received in March 2020 has been therefore transferred into the
reserve to meet future cost pressures of the pandemic.
Reserves have also been set aside to support the financial position from
2019/20 and over the next three years as reported during the budget setting
process. This has enabled the planned use of one off funding from the
Business Rates pilot and of social care grants to be used in a planned way
to support council services and avoid cliff edges and the need for cuts when
funding streams end.
The usable reserves (as reported at Note 42 to the financial statements) are
held for the following purposes:

Statutory reserves that have to be set aside e.g. On
street parking reserve, bus lane enforcement
Reserves held for PFIs to meet contracted future costs
Reserves held to smooth risk or for assurance including
the insurance reserve of £18.6m and airport dividend
reserve of £55.8m (Dividend is used a year in arrears)
Business Rates Reserves
Revenue reserves held to support capital including the
Capital Fund
Reserves held to encourage economic growth or for
public sector reform e.g. Our Manchester reserve,
Town Hall reserve

26.4

Sub Total

306.4

34.7

Housing Revenue Account reserve (£35.6m earmarked for
future PFI payments and other potential liabilities)

104.4

109.4

22,0

21.4

General Fund reserve
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Type of Reserve

31
March
2019
£M

31
March
2020
£M

Schools reserves (these belong to schools and are for their
use only)

25.48

11.7

Total

600.6

694.6

Overall the net worth of the Council has increased by £365m during 2019/20.
The increase in usable reserves is mainly due to:
●
●

Unusable Reserves

●

Unusable reserves hold unrealised gains or losses for assets not yet
disposed of and also accounting adjustments which are required by statute.
These reserves cannot be used to fund capital or revenue expenditure

●

The total increase in unusable reserves of £270.8m is mainly due to:

The unusable reserves are shown in the table below:

Unusable Reserve
Revaluation Reserve
Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve
Pensions Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Short-term Accumulated Absences Account

31 March
2019
£M
1.182.0
13.9
(952.6)
1 280.7
3.8
(1.1)
21.7
(5.7)
1,542.7

£18.2m increase due to the introduction of the first tranche of Covid19 funding which will support the 2020/21 revenue budget.
£61m increase in reserves held for capital purposes namely capital
receipts and capital grants
£6.6m increase in the capital fund and capital financing reserve due
to capital expenditure being delayed into future years. This reserve
will be used to support future capital schemes.
£5m increase in HRA reserves due to delays in capital expenditure
funded from revenue resources.

31 March
2020
£M
1,210.7
13.0
(715.9)
1,296.4
3.6
(4.3)
15.8
(5.8)
1,813.5

The negative pension reserve of £715.9m has reduced by £236.7m from the
previous year. This matches the pension liability in the balance sheet as
measured under International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19.
The purpose of IAS19 is to create a comparison of the pension obligations
of different employers. The IAS19 calculations are carried out using a
prescribed method. This is different to the formal actuarial triennial
valuations of the fund which set the level of contributions that need to be
paid into the pension fund. With the triennial funding valuation any calculated
deficit can be spread and paid off over a number of yea by an addition to the
contribution rate.

● £236.7m reduction in the minus pension reserve following the IAS19
actuarial valuation of the pension liability as outlined above
● £15.7m increase in the capital adjustment account. This includes the
costs of depreciation and impairment losses in addition to amounts
set aside to finance capital expenditure including grants, contributions
and capital receipts
● £28.7m increase in revaluation reserve from the revaluations of noncurrent assets, during 2019/20 mainly in relation to council dwellings
and other land and buildings.
The increase in the net worth is matched by an increase in value of net
assets of the Council of £365m.
The Council s Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet shows a summary of the Council s financial position as
at the 31 March 2020, the last day of the financial year. This shows what the
Council owns (its assets) and its debts (its liabilities) as well as the net worth
of the Council assets less liabilities.
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Assets
Council Dwellings
Other Property and
Equipment
Heritage Assets
Investment Properties
Other Assets
Investments
Money owed to the
Council
Total

£M

Liabilities

568.2 Borrowing
Provisions for Future
1,969.9
Liabilities
Liability for Pension
542.4
Scheme
475.2 Capital Grants Received
in Advance
Money owed by the
154.9
Council
149.5

£M
618.3
271.4
715.9
9.7
217.8

481.2
4,341.2 Total

Net Worth of the Council

1,833.2

2,508.0

The net worth of the Council is £2,508,040m. This is split between usable
reserves of £694,571m and unusable reserves of £1,813,469m.
Cash Flow Statement
This summarises the total movement on Cash and Cash equivalents during
the year for revenue and capital purposes.
The Council s Group Accounts
The Council conducts activities through a variety of undertakings, either
under ultimate control or in partnership with other organisations. The
standard financial statements consider the Council as a single entity
accounting for its interests in other undertakings as investments. For a full
picture of the Council s involvement in other activities group accounts are
prepared. These reflect the figures contained in the single entity accounts
consolidated with figures for the Council s material subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

Subsidiaries are defined as organisations that the Council controls by having
power over the organisation, exposure or rights to variable returns from its
investment and the ability to use its power over the organisation to affect the
amount of the return. The subsidiary considered to be material is Destination
Manchester Limited.
Associates are defined as organisations where the Council has significant
influence. Significant influence is defined as the power to participate in
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. The assumption is
that a holding of more than twenty percent of the voting power of an investee
would bring significant influence. The Council has no associates considered
to be material.
Joint Ventures are defined as arrangements under which two or more parties
have contractually agreed to share control such that decisions about
activities that significantly affect returns require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control and have the rights to the net assets of the
arrangement The joint venture considered to be material is Manchester
Airports Holdings Ltd.
In producing the group accounts the Council is required by the CIPFA Code
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting to make consolidation adjustments
to take account of any differences in accounting policies between the Council
and its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures so that the group accounts
are prepared on a standard set of policies.
Land and buildings in the Council s single entit accounts are valued at
current value (i.e. the amount that would be paid for an asset in its existing
use). Where sufficient market evidence is not available, the value is
estimated at depreciated replacement cost, using the modern equivalent
asset method (i.e. the market value of the land on which the building sits plus
the current gross replacement cost of the building less an allowance for
physical deterioration of the building).
Manchester Airport Holdings Limited (MAHL) accounts are prepared using
deemed cost for land and buildings. Deemed cost is the cost or valuation of
assets as at 1 April 2005. Consequently property, plant and equipment is
included in MAHL s accounts at cost or deemed cost less accumulated
depreciation. A valuation of MAHL s land and building assets has been
undertaken in order to align the accounting policy with that of the Council.
This valuation has been used for the Council s group accounts.
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The land and building assets of Destination Manchester Limited (DML),
which is a subsidiar within the Council group, are included in DML s
accounts at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. A valuation
of DML s land and building assets has been undertaken in order to align the
accounting policy with that of the Council. This valuation has been used for
the Council s group accounts.

the services delivered across the borough by the Greater Manchester
Combined Authority, specifically for the Mayoral Police and Crime
Commissioner and Fire and Rescue services. It is a statutory requirement to
maintain a Collection Fund to account for all the Council tax and Business
rates income and expenditure the Council collects each year.
Borrowing Limit

All other accounting policies within the group have been aligned to those of
the Council.
The Group Accounts contain the Group Consolidated Income and
Expenditure Statement, the Group Movement in Reserves Statement, the
reconciliation of the single entity deficit to the group deficit / surplus, the
Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement and notes to the
Group Accounts.
Housing Revenue Account
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a record of revenue expenditure
and income relating to an authorit s housing stock. Its primar purpose is to
ensure that expenditure on managing tenancies and maintaining dwellings
is balanced by rents charged to tenants. Consequently the HRA is a statutory
account, ring-fenced from the rest of the General Fund, so that rents cannot
be subsidised from council tax (or vice versa).
The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in
the year of providing housing services in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from rents and
government grants. Authorities charge rents to cover expenditure in
accordance with the legislative framework; this may be different from the
accounting cost. The increase in the year, on the basis upon which rents are
raised, is shown in the movement on the Housing Revenue Account
Statement.
Collection Fund
The Collection Fund is a fund administered by the Council that shows the
transactions of the billing authority (the Council), in relation to the collection
of Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) and how the income from
these sources has been distributed to precepting authorities and the
Council s General Fund. The e penditure includes the precept pa ment for

In 2019/20 the Council had an authorised limit for borrowing of £1,521.4m
(£1,351.4m for external debt and £170.0m for other long term liabilities such
as PFIs and finance leases). The actual level of external debt at 31 March
2020 is £618.3m. The borrowing limit is based on the Council s Capital
financing Requirement or CFR. The Council may meet this need from
e ternal borrowing or from internal borrowing from its cash flow and cash
backed reserves.
During 2019/20 the Council has borrowed from Salix and Homes and
Communities Agency, and has taken some temporary debt to manage cash
flow. The Council has also repaid c. £1.5m of market debt which was due for
repayment.
Now the Greater Manchester Combined Authority has received the relevant
borrowing powers the Council has transferred responsibility to the GMCA for
funds it has been administering on its behalf. These include all loans from
the HCA relating to City Deal Receipts and following the novation of all
outstanding Housing Investment Fund investments and debtors to the
Greater Manchester Combined Authority, the temporary loan from the
Authority to the Council funding them has been written down.
The external debt is made up of the following figures on the balance sheet:
External Borrowing
Long-term Borrowing
Short-term Borrowing
Total

2018/19
£M
607,2
126.3
733.5

2019/20
£M
585,4
32,9
618.3

Long term borrowing is reclassified as short term borrowing when it is due to
be repaid within the next twelve months.
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Whilst the 2019/20 Capital Programme was funded notionally by borrowing
of £131m, the debt outstanding on the balance sheet at 31 March 2020 has
decreased b 115m as the Council s Treasur Management Strateg is to
use cash backed reserves, i.e. internal borrowing, in lieu of external
borrowing where possible.

Private Finance Initiatives (PFI)

Due to historic low interest rates the Council retains minimal cash balances
and reduces the use of external borrowing as borrowing rates are
substantially higher than investment returns.

As at 31 March 2020, the Miles Platting Housing, Plymouth Grove Housing,
Brunswick Housing, Temple School, Wright Robinson Sports College and
Street Lighting PFI schemes were ongoing. The Housing Energy Services
PFI ended during 2019/20.

The Council s Cash Flow Statement

The schemes were funded as follows:

This shows the reasons for the change in cash, cash equivalents
(investments made for a period of less than three months) and the bank
balance during the year. The cash balance at 31 March 2020 had increased
by £29.5m from 31 March 2019.
Major Acquisitions and Disposals
The Council s significant acquisitions of non-current assets during 2019/20
included;
Various properties at the Courtyard at Royal Mills £1.8m
Properties at Edwin Road, East Manchester £2.9m
Significant disposals in 2019/20 included schools which transferred to
academy status. Their value upon disposal was £50.2m. Other significant
disposals were:
The former Waverley Care Home site at Hough End £2.1m
Land at Toxteth Street East Manchester £0.8m
Land in West Gorton £2.1m
Investment in Manchester Airport Group
The Council s shareholding remains at 35.5%. The Council received
significant dividend income during the year from this investment.

PFIs involve a private sector contractor building or improving buildings used
in the provision of public services and operating and maintaining the asset
for an agreed period of time.

Scheme
Housing schemes
Schools schemes
Street Lighting scheme

Funding Source
PFI grant and Housing Revenue Account
(HRA)
PFI grant and Dedicated Schools Grant
(DSG)
PFI grant and Council resources

Further details on these schemes are shown in Note 13.
Private Public Partnership (PPP) Schemes
The Council has developed the following PPP Schemes with private sector
contractors to provide services to the Council and its residents:
● Manchester Working
during 2006/07 the Council established a
partnership arrangement with Morrison PLC for the provision of
building maintenance services.
● Indoor Leisure PPP the renovation, maintenance and management
of some indoor leisure facilities has been undertaken via a trust for
more than ten years. A contract has again been awarded to Greenwich
Leisure Ltd for the operation and maintenance of Leisure Buildings and
Provision of Leisure Management Services.
● Wythenshawe Forum PPP the Council has established a trust, which
has responsibility for the renovation, maintenance and facilities
management of Wythenshawe Forum.
● Car Parks Partnership the Council has entered into a partnership
with National Car Parks Limited to manage its car parks.
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● Eastlands Trust
the Council has established a trust which has
responsibility for the management of the National Cycling Centre, the
National Squash Centre, the National Taekwondo Centre, the
Regional Athletics Centre, the Regional Tennis Centre, the Regional
Gymnastics Centre and Belle Vue Leisure Centre / Regional Hockey
Facility.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Evens after the balance sheet date are those events that occur between the
end of the reporting period (i.e. 31 March) and the date when the Statement
of Accounts is authorised for issue. The Council is required to disclose any
material events as a note to the accounts.
Post balance sheet events have been reviewed up to the date that the
accounts have been authorised for issue by the Deputy Chief Executive and
City Treasurer.

.
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The Statement of Responsibilities for the Annual Statement of Accounts
The Council's Responsibilities
The Council is required to:
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to
secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those
affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Deputy Chief Executive and City
Treasurer;
manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources
and safeguard its assets; and
approve the statement of accounts.
The Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer's Responsibilities
The Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the
C
cil a d G
statement of accounts in accordance with proper practices as set
out in the CIPFA / LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom (the Code).
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer
has:
selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and
complied with the local authority code.
The Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer has also:
kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and
taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The statement of accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Council and Group as at 31 March 2020 and their income and expenditure for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Carol Culley
Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer
28 July 2020
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Note 6. Impact of Accounting Changes Issued But Not Yet Adopted
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting requires the Council to
disclose information relating to the impact of an accounting change that will be
required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted by the
2019/20 Code.
The Code has introduced changes in accounting policies which will be required
from 1 April 2020 and will therefore be valid for the 2020/21 accounts. The
changes introduced by the 2020/21 Code that will be adopted by the Council
and its Group are:
Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures:
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015 - 2017 Cycle
Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement.
IAS28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures this amendment clarifies
that the exclusion in IFRS9 Financial Instruments, relating to the impairment of
long term interests in associates and joint ventures, applies only to interests
that a company accounts for using the equity method.
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2015

2017 Cycle

These improvements relate to the following:
IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS11 Joint Arrangements. The
amendment to IFRS clarifies that when an entity obtains control of a
business that is a joint operation it re-measures previously held interests
in that business. The amendments to IFRS11 clarifies that when an
entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation it does
not re-measure previously held interests in that business.
IAS12 Income Taxes. This amendment clarifies the income tax
consequences of dividends.
IAS23 Borrowing Costs. This amendment clarifies the calculation of the
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
IAS19 Employee Benefits if a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
occurs it will be mandatory that the current service cost and the net interest for
the period after the re-measurement are determined using the assumptions
used for the re-measurement. In addition the amendment has clarified
requirements regarding the asset ceiling.
These changes are not expected to have a material impact on the C
single entity or group accounts.

ncil
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Note 7. Accounting Concepts and Policies
The S a e e
f Acc
a i e he C
ci
a ac i
f
he 2019/20
financial year and its position at the year-end 31 March 2020. The Council is required to
prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
which require the accounts to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting
practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20 (The Code) issued by the Chartered Institute
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), supported by International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under Section 21(2) of the
Local Government Act 2003.
As local authorities need to reflect statutory conditions, specific statutory adjustments
are complied with
ha he C
ci acc
e e a true and fair view of the
financial position and transactions of the Council. All accounting policies are disclosed
where they are material.
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical
cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and
financial instruments.
7.1. Underlying Assumptions
7.1.1 Going Concern
The Accounting Code, (standard IAS 1) requires management to make an assessment
of an entity s ability to continue as a going concern and to disclose any material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
e i
ability to continue as a going concern. The authority discloses that the accounts
have been prepared on a going concern basis and that the Council will continue in
existence for the foreseeable future.
This assumption is made because local authorities carry out functions essential to the
local community and are themselves revenue-raising bodies (with limits on their
revenue-raising powers arising at the discretion of central government). If an authority
were in financial difficulty, the prospects are that alternative arrangements might be
made by central government either for the continuation of the services it provides or for
assistance with the recovery of a deficit over more than one financial year. The Code is
clear that transfers of services under combinations of public sector bodies (such as local
government reorganisation) do not negate the presumption of going concern. However,
if there are material concerns about the financial health of the authority this would be
raised as part of the statutory responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer.
The accounts have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue and
there are no material concerns over its financial position which would impact on this
conclusion.
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Going Concern of Companies withi
follows-

he C

ci

G

ha also been considered as

Manchester Airports Holdings Ltd (MAHL)
The directors of MAHL have prepared their financial statements on a going concern
basis. In assessing the going concern position, the directors have considered the
potential impact of COVID-19 on the cash flow and liquidity, over the next 12 months,
together with the corresponding impact on the covenants associated with the financing
arrangements leading up to the next covenant test in September 2021.
The current economic conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have had a
significant impact on activity levels from March 2020 onwards. The impacts upon the
general economy and the airline industry specifically have continued into 2020/21.
MAHL is subject to financial covenants on its Bonds and Bank facilities, being leverage
(Net Debt / EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation)) and
interest cover (EBITDA less tax / net finance charges). The covenants are tested half
yearly on 31 March and 30 September. As at 31 March 2020 MAHL had complied with
both of its covenants.
At the year ended 31 March 2020 MAHL had significant financial liquidity available of
£281.3m comprising cash in hand of £271.3m together with £10m in undrawn
committed overdraft facilities. MAHL also has access to a committed £90m Liquidity
Facility to ensure interest payment obligations can be kept current for over 12 months.
It does not currently expect to utilise the Liquidity Facility.
Despite entering the crisis in a strong financial position, as a consequence of COVID19 and the subsequent expected impact on EBITDA over the next 12months, MAHL
would not have been able to avoid breaching its covenants when next tested at 30
September 2020.
MAHL has therefore acted promptly and successfully implemented a strategic
financing response. This includes significant cash mitigation measures across costs
and capital expenditure, including reducing future forecast expenditures by over
£380m over the next 2 years; recently securing receipt of £300m of additional funding
from its shareholders; together with MAHL
e b
c e
he d f
e ae a
part of a review of its portfolio, with realisation of proceeds significantly in excess of
£400m expected to be completed well within the next 15 months. All which together
with MAHL
g i idi
i i a 31 Ma ch
ide ade a e e e
f f di g
beyond the next 12 months.
In addition MAHL has obtained comprehensive bank and bondholder support for its
response, including obtaining waivers on its next two 6 monthly financial covenant
tests at 30 September 2020 and 31 March 2021, removing any risk on financial
covenants during the next financial year.
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The actual impact of COVID-19 is expected to become clearer over the course of this
financial year. In recent weeks the level of infection has been falling in most countries,
appropriate manageable protocols have been established for a safe return to air travel,
governments are progressively beginning to reopen the borders, and flying has recommenced. The expectation is that international markets will soon reopen fully with a
gradual recovery of traffic through this year.
Management have also considered reasonable downside scenarios for the business
through 2021 and into 2022. The actions put in to place by MAHL through its financing
response, including the debt-holder consents obtained, mean that MAHL
e
covenant test is not measured until September 2021, with a reporting date of
December 2021, beings periods of 15 months and 19 months respectively from the
date of signing of the accounts. MAHL is therefore not expected to be in breach of its
financial covenants, even in a downside scenario, for a period in excess of 12 months.
In addition, taking into account the previously outlined level of cash, new equity
funding, and realisation of property, the directors are confident that MAHL has
sufficient funds to allow it to operate throughout this period even in reasonable
downside scenarios.
MAHL also has a window, in excess of 12 months, to consider and address any
emerging new or more significant risks in relation to its financial position or for future
financial covenant testing dates from September 2021 onwards. Potential actions
would include aligning capital investment, operating costs and aviation tariffs with a
lower traffic environment; sourcing additional financial support to remedy any shortterm shortfalls; or negotiating waivers with the holders for any potential breach of
future financial problems beyond the current consent period.
The potential future impact of COVID-19 creates considerable uncertainty in the
aviation industry and subsequent travel volumes. Therefore there is a risk that in the
event of an extended period of severe trading downsides MAHL might not meet the
financial ratios for its September 2021 covenant test. Following its recent strategic
response to the current impact of COVID-19, MAHL would expect to be able to solve
the issue through a number of measures available to it, including potentially
negotiating further waivers. Nevertheless the possibility of a covenant breach at the
end of September 2021 and the subsequent need to seek a waiver at that time or to
take other action, cannot be excluded given the current uncertainty and as such
represents a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability to
continue as a going concern and, therefore to continue realising its assets and
discharging its liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do
not include any adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern basis was
inappropriate.
However, having considered all the relevant requirements, including MAHL fi a cia
position, likely forecasts and reasonable downsides, together with actions available to
mitigate impacts and the time period available to act, the Directors consider it
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appropriate to adopt a going concern basis for the preparation of the financial
statements, and the directors have an expectation that MAHL will have adequate
resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.
The Board has agreed the following:
To confirm that MAHL is a going concern over the period to 31 March 2021 for
the purposes of preparing and approving the Annual Report and Accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2020, based on the information and analysis provided.
To confirm, based on the assessment of viability of MAHL over a three year
period, that the directors have a reasonable expectation that MAHL will be able
to continue in operation, and meet its liabilities as they fall due, over the period to
31 March 2023.
Destination Manchester Ltd.
Information to be included after Board approval on 28 July 2020.
7.2. Accounting Policies
7.2.1 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
Property, Plant and Equipment assets have physical substance and are held for use in
the provision of services or for administrative purposes and are expected to be used for
more than one year (e.g. land and buildings).
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation and enhancement of property, plant and
equipment has been capitalised on an accruals basis provided that it yields benefit to
the Council, and the services it provides, for more than one financial year. Expenditure
on repairs and maintenance is charged to revenue as it is incurred.
Capital expenditure is initially added to the value of an asset but if expenditure is not
considered to increase the value of the asset the value is reduced by this expenditure.
In addition all property, plant and equipment, where expenditure in excess of £500,000
has been incurred during 2019/20, have been considered b he C
ci Valuers who
have quantified the amount of impairment.
Measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially shown on the Balance Sheet at cost,
comprising the purchase price and all expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing
the asset into working condition for its intended use. The Council does not capitalise
borrowing costs incurred whilst the assets are under construction. The assets are then
revalued using methods of valuation on the basis recommended by CIPFA and in
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accordance with the guidance notes issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS).
Land and buildings and other operational assets are valued at current value, determined
as the value that would be paid for the asset in its existing use. Where sufficient market
evidence is not available, for example schools and leisure centres, current value is
estimated at depreciated replacement cost, using the modern equivalent asset method.
Short life assets, such as vehicles, are held at depreciated historical cost as a proxy for
current value on the grounds of materiality.
Council dwellings are valued at existing use value

social housing.

Community assets and infrastructure are measured at depreciated historical cost.
Assets under construction are held at historical cost and are not depreciated until
brought into use.
Surplus assets
f
a a e
Council but do
Surplus assets
future sale.

are valued at fair value based on the highest or best use of the asset
a ici a
e ec i e. These are assets that are not in use by the
not meet the definition of investment property or assets held for sale.
mainly relate to land that is being held for regeneration purposes and

Council dwellings are revalued annually. Other assets included in the Balance Sheet at
current or fair value are valued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount
is not materially different from their value at year end, but as a minimum every five
years.
Valuations have a valuation date of 1 April 2019. Any material change that occurs after
the valuation date is taken account of in the balance sheet value.
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise
unrealised gains. Where the increase is reversing a previous loss charged to the Deficit
on the Provision of Services on the same asset, the increase in valuation is credited to
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Where decreases in value are identified and there is a balance of revaluation gains in
the Revaluation Reserve relating to the asset, the value of the asset is written down
against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). Where there is a nil
or insufficient balance in the Revaluation Reserve the value of the asset is written down
against the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
Where revaluation gains or losses are credited or charged to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement they are reversed in the Movement in Reserves
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account.
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The Revaluation Reserve contains gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of
its formal implementation. Revaluation gains arising before that date are included in the
Capital Adjustment Account.
The land and building elements of all properties are valued separately and treated as
separate assets for accounting purposes. In addition to this and subject to an
appropriate materiality level, any individual component within buildings which has a cost
that is significant in relation to the total cost of the building is accounted for separately
unless the components have a similar useful life to the main building.
In considering assets for potential componentisation (i.e. the significant elements of the
asset are valued separately) the Council has included all general fund buildings with a
carrying value of more than £2m. Within each building the Council has set the threshold
for recognition of components as 20% of the cost of the building. The following
components have been valued separately in council dwellings
main building, roof,
windows, external doors, kitchens, bathrooms, heating and electrical systems.
7.2.2 Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment
Depreciation has been calculated using a straight-line method (i.e. apportioned equally
over each year of the life of the asset) for all assets. The estimated useful life of each
property is determined by a qualified valuer. Land and assets not yet available for use
(assets under construction) are not depreciated. Each component of property, plant and
equipment that is considered to be significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is
depreciated separately based on its estimated useful life.
Depreciation is charged to the service with a corresponding reduction in the value of the
asset. The depreciation charge is reversed in the Movement in Reserves Statement and
a transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account. Residual values, useful lives and
depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year end.
Depreciation has been charged to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in accordance
with proper practices and credited to the Major Repairs Reserve (MRR).
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have
been charged on their historical cost being transferred from the Revaluation Reserve to
the Capital Adjustment Account.
7.2.3 Derecognition of Property, Plant and Equipment
An item of property, plant or equipment is derecognised by disposal or when no future
economic benefit or service potential is expected from its use.
The carrying amount of a replaced or restored part of an asset is derecognised with the
carrying amount of the new component being recognised.
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When an asset is disposed of the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is
written off to Other Operating Expenditure within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Sale proceeds from
disposals are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
Any revaluation gains on the Revaluation Reserve, for assets disposed of or
decommissioned, are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Income from an asset disposal in excess of £10,000 is classed as a capital receipt.
Capital receipts from Right to Buy (RTB) sales of council dwellings are pooled between
the Council and central government. The net RTB receipts received (after reduction of
regional transaction costs and allowable debt) are split based on a share ratio provided
by central government. If the government share of capital receipts, as calculated by the
Office of Budget Responsibility, is exceeded the Council retains the remainder of the
receipts to be used for the provision of new homes. If these receipts are not used within
three years they must be returned to the government (with interest at 4% above base
rate). Non-RTB receipts are exempt from the capital pooling rules.
The balance of capital receipts is credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and used to
fund new capital expenditure or repay debt.
The written off value of disposals is reversed through the Movement in Reserves
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account.
7.2.4 Private Finance Initiatives (PFIs) and Similar Contracts
PFI and similar contracts (service concessions) are agreements to receive services
where the responsibility for making available the property, plant and equipment needed
to provide the services passes to the contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the
services that are provided under the contract and as ownership of the property, plant
and equipment will pass to the Council at the end of the contract for no additional
charge, the Council holds the Property, Plant and Equipment used under the contracts
on its Balance Sheet.
The original introduction of these assets onto the balance sheet is matched by the
recognition of a deferred liability for amounts due to the operator to pay for the assets.
Where the assets come into use at different stages the asset and matching liability are
introduced in stages. For some PFI schemes the liability is written down by an initial
capital contribution. This capital contribution was either in the form of a cash
contribution or assets transferred to the contractor.
Property, Plant and Equipment relating to PFIs and similar contracts, recognised on the
Balance Sheet, is revalued, depreciated and impaired in the same way as other
property, plant and equipment owned by the Council.
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The amounts payable to the operator each year are analysed as follows:
Value of the service received (including facilities management) during the year debited to the relevant service line in the Deficit on the Provision of Services in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Interest cost based on the outstanding deferred liability - debited to the Financing
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Deficit on the Provision of
Services.
Payment towards liability - debited to the deferred liability on the Balance Sheet
thus reducing the liability. For non-HRA contracts this reduction in the charge in
the Deficit on the Provision of Services is replaced by an equivalent amount of
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
For HRA contracts this reduction in unitary charge is reversed in the Movement
in Reserves Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Lifecycle replacement costs - these are posted to the Balance Sheet as a
prepayment and then included as additions to Property, Plant and Equipment
when the works are carried out. Where lifecycle costs can be identified as capital
in nature they have been recognised as capital expenditure. This expenditure
relates to enhancements or replacement of assets.
Government grants received towards the funding of general fund PFI related payments
are shown within the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. HRA PFI related grants are shown
within the HRA income line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
7.2.5 Heritage Assets
Heritage assets are those assets that are intended to be preserved for future
generations because of their cultural, environmental or historical associations. They are
held by the Council in pursuit of its overall objectives in relation to the maintenance of
heritage. Heritage assets include civic regalia, museum and gallery collections and
works of art. Community assets (including parks and cemeteries) are not heritage
assets, but are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
Operational heritage assets (i.e. those that, in addition to being held for their heritage
characteristics, are also used by the Council for other activities or to provide other
services) are accounted for as operational assets rather than heritage assets and
valued in the same way as other assets of that general type (e.g. buildings such as
Central Library).
Heritage assets are shown in the Balance Sheet at market value where this is available.
For those assets where no market value is available the insurance valuation is used.
Where a valuation is not available and cannot be obtained at a cost which is
commensurate with the benefits to the users of the financial statements the assets are
held at cost. Where the cost information is not available they are not recognised in the
balance sheet.
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Depreciation is not provided for as these assets are considered to have infinite lives.
Any impairment is recognised and measured in accordance with the Council ge e a
policies on impairment (policy 7.2.8). The proceeds of any disposals are accounted for
i acc da ce i h he C
ci ge e a
i i
eai g
he de-recognition of
property, plant and equipment (policy 7.2.3).
7.2.6 Investment Properties
Investment Properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and / or for capital
appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to provide
services by the Council or is held for sale.
Investment Properties are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition they are
measured at fair value - highest and best use. The fair value reflects market conditions
at the balance sheet date. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of
investment property is recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Investment Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to
market conditions at year end.
An investment property is derecognised on disposal. Gains or losses arising from the
disposal are recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Revaluation and disposal gains and losses are reversed in the Movement in Reserves
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and sale proceeds over
£10,000 to the Capital Receipts Reserve.
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and
Investment income line in the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
7.2.7 Schools
In accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting the Council has
assessed the legal framework underlying each school. The Council controls the noncurrent assets of community schools and foundation schools, vested with the governing
body as trustee, as future economic benefits associated with the assets will flow to the
Council and therefore the land and buildings of those schools are shown on the
Council's balance sheet. The land and buildings of voluntary aided, voluntary controlled
and foundation schools, where the trust is not the governing body are owned and
controlled by the trustees of the schools or the foundation body and are therefore not
shown on the balance sheet of the Council.

47

Manchester City Council Annual Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Any schools held on the balance sheet, which are transferred to academy status form
part of the loss on disposal of non-current assets. This includes schools managed under
a PFI contract.
Capital expenditure on schools h
he C
ci ba a ce hee is added to the
value of those schools. Capital expenditure on schools
he C
ci ba a ce
sheet is treated as REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute)
expenditure and written off each year to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as part of the Children's Services line. This is reversed out through the
Movement in Reserves Statement and a transfer made to the Capital Adjustment
Account.
All revenue income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of maintained schools, after the
removal of transactions between schools and the Council, are included i he C
ci
single entity accounts.
Individual schools' balances are included in the balance sheet of the Council as any
unspent delegated schools budget remains the property of the Council although these
can only be spent by the school.
The Dedicated Schools Grant is allocated between the central council budgets and
budgets allocated to individual schools (delegated school budgets). Expenditure from
central council budgets and delegated schools budgets is charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the Children's Services
line.
7.2.8 Impairment
Assets are reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting period. Examples of
impairment include a significant reduction in a specific assets value and evidence of
physical damage (e.g. fire damage).
The amount of impairment is charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that the
impairment does not exceed the amount in the Revaluation Reserve for the same asset.
Thereafter the impairment is charged to the Deficit on the Provision of Services.
This charge is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Capital
Adjustment Account.
Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed (for example if the damage is made
good), the reversal is credited to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for
depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.
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7.2.9 Provision for Redemption of Debt
The Council is required to make provision for the repayment of an element of the
accumulated General Fund capital expenditure, financed by borrowing, through a
revenue charge, in accordance with the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
requirements. Regulations replaced the detailed formula for calculating MRP with a
requirement to be prudent. The MRP policy (which details the basis of the provision) is
agreed annually by the Council within the Treasury Management Strategy.
For all non-HRA capital expenditure funded by supported borrowing, otherwise known
as supported capital expenditure, he C
ci
licy is to charge 2% of the capital
financing requirement
For all non-HRA unsupported borrowing MRP is calculated using the estimated life of
the asset. Dependent upon the nature of the capital expenditure, a straight line (equal
amount of MRP over the life of the asset) or annuity method (equal amount of MRP plus
interest over the life of the asset) is used to link MRP to the future flow of benefits from
the asset.
Where capital expenditure is incurred through providing loans to organisations, and
those loans are indemnified or have financial guarantees protecting against loss, no
MRP is charged in relation to the capital expenditure.
MRP starts in the year after the capital expenditure is incurred or in the case of new
assets, in the year following the asset coming into use.
MRP is provided for non-HRA PFI e a ed a e
he C
ci Ba a ce Shee . This
equates to the amount of unitary charge charged against the deferred liability on the
Balance Sheet.
There is no MRP charge to the Housing Revenue Account.
7.2.10 Revenue Expenditure Funded From Capital under Statute
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) is expenditure of a
capital nature that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset on the Balance
Sheet. These are generally grants and expenditure on property not owned by the
Council. Expenditure is charged to the Deficit on the Provision of Services as it is
incurred. This is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement and a
transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Details of the accounting policy relating to grants and external contribution funding of
REFCUS expenditure is shown in policy 7.2.15c.
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7.2.11 Non-Current Assets held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than its continued use it is reclassified as an
asset held for sale. Before an asset can be classed as held for sale it must be available
for immediate sale in its present condition, the sale must be highly probable, the asset
must be actively marketed and the sale should be expected to be completed within one
year of the date of classification. In situations where it is not necessary to carry out
active marketing, for example because the Council is able to identify prospective
purchasers willing to pay a reasonable price without marketing (such as transfers to a
joint venture) or because a buyer initiates the transaction (such as right to buy sales),
this test is not applicable. Where events or circumstances extend the period beyond one
year and there is sufficient evidence that the Council remains committed to the plan to
sell the assets they are classed as long-term assets held for sale.
The held for sale asset is carried at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value
less costs to sell. Where this results in a loss in value this loss is posted to Other
Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Once
an asset is classed as held for sale it is no longer depreciated.
If assets no longer meet the classification as assets held for sale they are reclassified
back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they
were classified as held for sale (adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations
that would have been recognised had they not been classed as held for sale) or their
recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.
7.2.12 Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not when cash payments are
made or received. In particular, revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
Council transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it
is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction
will flow to the Council.
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure
reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed.
Provision is made for debts that are not considered to be collectable referred to as
impairment of financial assets. This provision is calculated based on the expected
amount that will not be collected for differing types of debt applied to the amount of
outstanding debt. The balance of debtors on the Balance Sheet is reduced by the
amount of provision made.
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Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees)
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments
are made.
Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the
relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the
contract.
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received
or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.
7.2.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable
without penalty on notice of no more than twenty four hours. Cash equivalents are
highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of
change in value.
Cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that form an integral part
of cash management.
7.2.14 Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation but the timing of the
transfer is uncertain. Examples include a legal claim that will probably result in a
payment of compensation.
Contributions to provisions are charged to the appropriate service line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year the Council becomes
aware of the obligation based on the best estimate of the likely settlement. When
payments are made they are charged to the provision. Estimated settlements are
reviewed at the end of each financial year and where it becomes likely that a transfer of
economic benefits will not be required the contribution to the provision is reversed and
credited back to the service line.
Provisions are classed as either short or long term dependant on the likely date of
settlement.
7.2.15 Government Grants and Contributions
Government grants and contributions are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Council will comply with the conditions attached to them and the
grant or contribution will be received. Grants and contributions are credited to the
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where the grant or
contribution has a condition that has not been met. Conditions are stipulations that must
be satisfied or the grant or contribution must be returned. Monies advanced as grants
and contributions for which conditions are not yet met are carried in the Balance Sheet
as receipts in advance.
a. Revenue Grants and Contributions
Revenue grants and contributions are credited to the relevant service line for specific
grants and the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line for grants that cover
general expenditure (e.g. New Homes Bonus Grant) except where the grant or
contribution has a condition that has not been met. When the specific grant has been
recognised but the expenditure relating to it has not been incurred the Council has
elected to make a contribution equivalent to the unspent amount of grant to an
earmarked reserve. This reserve will be released in future financial years when the
expenditure to which the grant relates is incurred
b. Capital Grants and Contributions
Capital grants and contributions are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant
Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where the
grant or contribution has a condition that has not been met. The amount of the grant or
contribution that has been used to finance expenditure is transferred to the Capital
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The balance of the grant
or contribution that has not been used to finance expenditure is transferred to the
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve via the Movement in Reserves Statement. Amounts
in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment
Account when they are used to fund capital expenditure.
c. Grants and Contributions attributable to Revenue Expenditure Funded from
Capital under Statute (REFCUS)
These grants and contributions are credited to the relevant service line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where the grant or
contribution has a condition that has not been met. The amount of the grant or
contribution that has been used to finance expenditure is transferred to the Capital
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The balance of the grant
or contribution that has not been used to finance expenditure is transferred to the
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve via the Movement in Reserves Statement. Amounts
in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment
Account when they are used to fund expenditure.
7.2.16 Reserves
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to
cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts in the Movement
in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred it is
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charged to the appropriate service in that year. The reserve is then appropriated back
into the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge for the
expenditure on the General Fund balance.
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting treatment for Property, Plant and
Equipment and retirement benefits and do not represent usable resources for the
Council. These are shown as unusable reserves in the Movement in Reserves
Statement and Balance Sheet.
7.2.17 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is a sub-set of income and is defined as the gross inflow of economic benefits
or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase
in net worth.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. In
most cases, the consideration receivable is in the form of cash and cash equivalents
and the amount of revenue is the amount of cash and cash equivalents receivable.
Where the Council is acting as an agent of another organisation the amounts collected
for that organisation are excluded from revenue.
Revenue is recognised when the performance obligations in a contract have been
satisfied. This recognition can be over time when the service recipient simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits (e.g. home care services) or at a point in time.
Revenue for Council Tax and Business Rates is recognised when the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable the revenue will be received by the
Council.
7.2.18 Value Added Tax (VAT)
VAT is only included in expenditure, either revenue or capital, to the extent that it is not
recoverable from HM Revenues and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.
7.2.19 Leases
Leases are classified as either finance or operating leases based on the extent to which
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or lessee.
Whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease depends on the substance of
the transaction rather than the contract. Leases are classed as finance leases where
the terms of the lease transfer the majority of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases. Land and building elements of a lease are
considered separately for the purpose of lease classification.
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Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey the right to use an
asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific asset. This is referred to as an
embedded lease.
Finance Leases
Lessee
Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases are recognised on the
Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its current value at the time of
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments if lower). The asset
recognised is matched by a deferred liability for the obligation to pay the lessor.
Lease payments are apportioned between a charge for the acquisition of the interest in
the property, plant or equipment which is applied to write down the deferred liability and
a finance charge which is recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
These property, plant and equipment recognised are subject to depreciation. The MRP
on these assets equates to the amount of the lease payment that is applied to write
down the deferred liability.
The deferred liabilities are classed as either short or long term in line with the lease
repayments.
Operating Leases
Lessee
Leasing payments for operating leases are charged to revenue on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g.
there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease) and are shown within
service expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a
premium paid at the commencement of the lease) and is shown in the Other Operating
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Assets held
for use as opera i g ea e a e ec ded a a e i he C
ci Balance Sheet.
7.2.20 Benefits Payable during Employment
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within twelve months of the
year end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, flexi
time leave and paid sick leave for current employees. They are recognised as an
expense for services in the year in which employees undertake the service for the
Council. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlement (including flexi time
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leave), earned by employees but not taken before the year end, which employees can
carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wages and salary
rates applicable in the following financial year, being the period in which the employee
takes the benefit and includes employer national insurance and pension contributions.
The accrual is charged to the Deficit on the Provision of Services but then reversed
through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Short Term Accumulated
Absences Account so that holiday absences are charged against Council Tax or
Housing Rents in the financial year in which the absence occurs.
7.2.21 Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to
e i ae a
ffice
e
e bef e he
a e i e e da e
a
ffice
decision to accept voluntary severance and are shown on an accruals basis in the
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement at the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer or when it
recognises the costs for a restructuring that involves termination benefits.
Where the employee makes the decision the liability is recognised at the earlier of when
he e
ee acce
he ffe
he a e ic i
he C
ci abi i
i hd a
the offer takes effect.
7.2.22 Post-Employment Benefits
a. Teachers’ Pension Scheme
The payment of statutory pensions to former teachers is administered by Capita
Teache Pe i
beha f f the Department for Education (DfE). Contributions from
teachers together with the employer's contribution are paid by the Council. The
arrangements for this scheme mean that liabilities for benefits cannot be identified to the
Council. The scheme is therefore accounted for as a defined contribution scheme no
liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet and the
Chi d e
Se ice i e i hi he Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
i cha ged i h he e
e c
ib i
a ab e i he ea .
The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early
retirement
ide f he e
f he Teache
che e. The e be efi are fully
accrued in the pension liability.
b. National Health Service (NHS) Pension Scheme
Under the arrangements for Public Health, staff performing public health functions who
were compulsorily transferred from the Primary Care Trusts to local authorities and had
access to the NHS Pension Scheme on 31 March 2013 retained access to that Scheme
on transfer at 1 April 2013.
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The NHS pension scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers and is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. This means that liabilities
for benefits cannot be identified to the Council. The scheme is therefore accounted for
as a defined contribution scheme
no liability for future payments of benefits is
recognised in the Balance Sheet and the Adult Social Care line within the
Comprehe i e I c e a d E e di e S a e e i cha ged i h he e
e
contributions payable in the year.
c. Local Government Pension Scheme
The Council pays an employer's contribution into the Greater Manchester Pension
Fund, which is a fully funded defined benefits scheme administered by Tameside
Metropolitan Borough Council from whom an Annual Report is available.
The liabilities of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund attributable to the Council are
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, i.e.
an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates,
employee turnover rates and projections of projected earnings for current employees.
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on
the indicative rate of return on a basket of high quality corporate bonds, government
gilts and other factors.
The assets of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund attributable to the Council are
included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value:
quoted securities current bid price
unquoted securities professional estimate
unitised securities current bid price
property market value.
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:
The current service cost (the increase in the liability as a result of pension earned
by Council employees in the year) is charged to the net cost of services.
Past services costs (the increase in the liability arising from current year
decisions whose effect relate to years of service earned in earlier years) are
shown within council wide items as they are costs that are not attributable to a
particular service. An example of when past service costs would occur is where
there was a change in the basis of up-rating annual pensions.
Gains and losses on settlements and curtailments (the result of actions to relieve
the Council of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or
accrual of benefits of employees) are also shown as council wide items.
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The net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. net interest expenses for
the period that arises from the passage of time, is shown within the Financing
and Investment Income and Expenditure line.
Re-measurements comprising:
The return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest on the
defined benefit liability;
change in demographic assumptions re-measurements; and
actuarial gains and losses on changes in financial assumptions changes in the
net pension liability that arise because events have not coincided with
assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because actuaries have
updated their financial assumptions (such as percentage increase in salaries) are
shown within Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund and
HRA balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant
accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there
are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and
credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the
pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year
end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the
beneficial impact to the General Fund and HRA of being required to account for
retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by
employees.
Financial Instruments
7.2.23 Financial Assets
Financial Assets e.g. investments and debtors are classified into three types
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL).
The categorisation of financial assets into these types is dependent on the reason for
holding these assets (to collect cash flows, to sell assets or achieve objectives by other
means).
Financial assets are brought onto the balance sheet at fair value when the Council
becomes a party to contractual provisions.
Amortised Cost
These assets relate to financial instruments where the amounts received relating to
them are solely principal and interest and they are held to generate cash flows (e.g.
investments of surplus cash with the government deb a age e
ffice
a
third parties).
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The interest received on these assets is spread evenly over the life of these
instruments.
Any gain or loss in the value of these assets is recognised in the net deficit on the net
provision of services at the point of derecognition (disposal) or reclassification.
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)
These assets relate to financial instruments where the amounts received relating to
them are solely principal and interest but they are held to collect cash and sell the
assets (e.g. money market funds).
The interest received on these assets is spread evenly over the life of these
instruments.
Changes in the fair value of these assets are charged to Other Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure. Cumulative gains and losses are charged to the deficit on provision of
services when they are disposed of.
Under capital accounting regulations where these assets were treated as capital
expenditure the gain or loss is reversed to an unusable reserve - the Financial
Instruments Revaluation Reserve.
Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVPL)
These assets relate to financial instruments where the amounts received relating to
them are not principal and interest (e.g. equity investments).
Dividends received are accounted for at the point they are declared.
Charges in fair value are charged to the deficit on the net provision of services as they
occur.
Under capital accounting regulations where these assets were treated as capital
expenditure the gain or loss is reversed through the Movement in Reserves Statement
and charged to an unusable reserve - the Capital Adjustment Account.
.
An equity instrument that has been classed as FVPL can be designated as FVOCI if it is
not held for trading (e.g. a strategic investment). Once this designation has been made
it cannot be reversed. This designation would mean that any gains and losses would be
held in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve.
Credit loss
The Council will recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses, if applicable, on
assets where cash flows are solely principal and interest (i.e. financial instruments
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI unless they have been designated as such). This
does not apply where the counterparty is central government or another local authority.
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At each year end the loss allowance for a financial instrument is calculated as equal to
the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
If at year end the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to twelve month expected credit losses.
Where the financial asset was treated as capital expenditure any losses will be reversed
via the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account.
The Council has made a number of loans to individuals at less than market rates of
interest (these are known as soft loans). When the loans are made the amount of
interest foregone over the life of the loan is charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement (debited to the appropriate service line) and the outstanding
principal is reduced on the Balance Sheet. This represents the present value of the
interest that will be foregone over the life of the loan agreement. Statutory provisions
require that the impact of the soft loans on the General Fund balance is the interest
receivable in the year, so the amount of foregone interest charged is managed by a
transfer from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account to the Movement in
Reserves Statement.
7.2.24 Embedded Derivatives
The Council has given equity mortgages and loans to individuals to assist with the
purchase and improvement of properties. The repayments of these are based on a
proportion of the value of the property in a number of years. This type of loan is classed
as an embedded derivative as the amount of repayment is linked to future property
values. When these mortgages and loans are granted, long-term debtors and deferred
capital receipts are written onto the balance sheet. At the end of each financial year the
long-term debtors and deferred capital receipt are adjusted in line with the change in
property values.
7.2.25 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities (e.g. borrowings and creditors) are recognised when there is a
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that
are potentially unfavourable to the Council. For instance, when the Council takes out a
loan, the advance of cash from the lender initiates the obligation to repay at some future
date, and the loan would be recognised as a liability on the Balance Sheet when the
advance is received.
Charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on
the carrying amount of the liability multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the
instrument. (The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
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cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally
recognised).
For many of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount shown in
the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable plus accrued interest, and the
amount charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the
amount payable per the loan agreement.
For Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans the effective interest rate has been
calculated over the life of the loan. This is an average and differs from the amounts
actually paid in the year. The difference between the calculated interest charge and
interest paid has been adjusted in the carrying amount of the loan on the balance sheet.
The amount charged in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the
effective interest rate for the life of the loan rather than the amount payable per the loan
agreement.
Where the Council is in receipt of loans that are interest free or at less than prevailing
market interest rates if material, the effective interest rate is calculated so that the value
of the financial assistance to the Council by the lender is separated from the financial
cost of the transaction. This gain is calculated by working out the net present value of all
future cash payments using the interest rate for a similar loan taken by the Council. This
results in a lower figure for the fair value of the loan with the difference from the loan
received treated as a government grant. This gain is reversed out in the Movement in
Reserves Statement to the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account. This is then
reversed over the life of the loan.
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited or
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase or
settlement. However if the repurchase takes place as part of a restructuring of the loan
portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium
or discount is deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan.
In this scenario the write down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest
rate.
Where premiums and discounts (amounts paid or received on the rescheduling of a
loan) have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
regulations allow the impact of premiums on the General Fund balance to be spread
over the longer of the outstanding period of the replaced loan or the period of the
replacement loan or any other shorter period that the Council wishes to choose.
Discounts are required to be credited to revenue over a maximum period equal to the
outstanding term of the replaced loan or ten years (if shorter). The difference between
the amount charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the
net charge against the General Fund balance is transferred to or from the Financial
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement of Reserves Statement.
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Following the HRA debt settlement there are no outstanding HRA premiums and
discounts.
7.2.26 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to
the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or
service potential.
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council.
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to
the accounts.
7.2.27 Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates
and Errors
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to
correct a material error. Changes in estimation techniques are accounted for
prospectively (i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change) and do not
give rise to a prior period adjustment.
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect
f a ac i
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financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless
otherwise stated) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior
period.
7.2.28 Material Items of Income and Expenditure
Where items of income and expenditure are material, their nature and amount is
disclosed separately either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to
a
de a di g f he C
ci fi a cia e f
a ce.
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7.2.29 Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the balance sheet date are those events that occur between the end of the
reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.
Where these provide evidence of conditions in existence at the balance sheet date, the
amounts recognised in the accounts are adjusted (e.g. settlement of a court case that
confirms the amount of obligation at the balance sheet date). Where these are indicative
of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date the amounts in the accounts are
not adjusted (e.g. significant decline in market investments after 31 March). This is
known as a non-adjusting event and is disclosed as a note to the accounts.
Events identified after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the
Statement of Accounts.
7.2.30 Interests in Companies and Other Entities
The Council has material interests in companies and other entities and therefore group
accounts have been prepared for the Council and its material interest in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures. Inclusion in the Council group is dependent upon the
e e
f he C
ci i e e a d power to influence an entity. The determining factor
for assessing the extent of interest, power or power to influence is either through
ownershi f a e i , a ha eh di g i a e i
e e e ai
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year, in accordance with the Code of Practice, to determine the relationships that exist
a d he he he h d be i c ded i he C
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ci
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ci i e e i those companies included in its group
accounts are recorded as long term investments at cost.
7.2.31 Joint Operations
Joint Operations are arrangements where the parties are bound by a contractual
arrangement, have joint control of the arrangement and have rights to the assets and
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The Council recognises its
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of the joint operation in its single
entity accounts.
7.2.32 Local Taxation
The Council, as a billing authority act as an agent, collecting Council Tax and national
non-domestic rates (NNDR) on behalf of the major preceptors and, as principals,
collecting Council Tax and NNDR for themselves. Billing authorities are required by
statute to maintain a separate fund (i.e. the Collection Fund) for the collection and
distribution of amounts due in respect of Council Tax and NNDR. Under the legislative
framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities and major preceptors share
proportionately the risks and rewards that the amount of Council Tax and NNDR
collected could be less or more than predicted.
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The Council Tax and NNDR income included in the Comprehensive Income and
E e di e S a e e i he C
ci
ha e f acc ed i c e f he ea . H e e ,
regulations determine the amount of Council Tax and NNDR that must be included in
he C
ci s General Fund. Therefore, the difference between the income included in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by
regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment
Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
The Ba a ce Shee i c de he C
ci
ha e f he e d f ea ba a ce i e ec
of Council Tax and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowances for doubtful debts,
overpayments and prepayments and appeals.
7.2.33 Fair Value Measurement
The Council measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value at the balance
sheet date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
In the principal market for the asset or liability or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability.
The Council uses valuers to provide a valuation of its assets and liabilities in line with
the highest and best use definition within the accounting standard. The highest and best
use of the asset or liability being valued is considered from the perspective of a market
participant.
I
he a a i
ech i e i e ec f he C
ci fai a e f i
liabilities are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows:
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Level 1
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Council can access at the measurement date
Level 2
inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Note 8. Critical Accounting Judgements
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 7 the Council has to make certain
judgements about complex transaction or those involving uncertainty about future
events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:
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8.1 Schools Non-Current Assets
The Council has assessed the legal framework underlying each type of school.
Community schools property, plant and equipment are owned by the Council and
remain on the balance sheet as future economic benefits associated with the assets will
flow to the Council.
The plant, property and equipment of voluntary aided, voluntary controlled and
foundation schools are owned and controlled by the religious body or the trustees of the
schools and are therefore not shown on the balance sheet of the Council unless the
trustees are the governing body.
The Council does not control the schools
e , a a d e i e owned by the
religious bodies or the trustees, there has been no past events which have transferred
the ownership or control of the property, plant and equipment to the Council and any
future benefits from the property, plant and equipment would be for the benefit of the
religious body or trustee and not the Council.
An asset must be controlled by the Council for that asset to be recognised in the single
entity accounts. Usage of the asset does not demonstrate control in form or substance
without rights that are either legal or substantive.
The religious bodies or trustees own the assets, there has not been a reassignment of
those assets to the Council and the rights to the asset are still maintained by the
religious body or trustee. The religious bodies or trustees have a legal right to take back
these assets.
The religious bodies or trustees have provided a licence for the Council to use the asset
however these licenses are not provided in a written form. These licences do not create
control of the asset by the Council. The religious bodies or trustees assert their
continued control over the asset by permitting the asset to be used for precisely the
purpose that the school wishes by the objectives of the religious bodies or trustees
being the same as the governing bodies.
The religious bodies or trustees have decided that their asset is to be used as a school
and therefore continue to have the rights to the resources in the asset. The continued
agreement to permit the schools to use the asset means that the religious bodies or
trustees are perpetually reasserting their control and this has not been passed to the
school.
The right of termination of the arrangement at any time by the religious body or trustee
provides evidence that the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset have not
transferred to the Council.
Details of the value of schools land and building assets are shown in Note 24 to the
accounts.
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8.2 PFI and Similar Arrangements
The Council is deemed to control the services provided via its PFI arrangements and
also to control the residual value of the assets at the end of the contract. The
accounting policy for PFIs and similar contracts has been applied to these
arrangements and the assets valued at £217.077m (£228.004m in 2018/19) are
recognised as Property, P a a d E i e i he C
ci Ba a ce Shee .
The
ea
de
e e e a i ed
ide if he e ice e e e
f he
ia
charge. Where that charge could not be clearly separated the relevant costs were
obtained from the models and a margin was applied to the costs to provide an amount
for the service costs. The margin used was based on advice received from expert
external advisors. The service element of the unitary charge is inflated annually by an
agreed indicator (e.g. RPI) as per the contract.
The implicit interest rate (IIR) was calculated by discounting the non-service element of
the unitary charge at a rate that brings it back to the fair value of the asset. The fair
value of the asset is taken as the construction or refurbishment costs of the scheme.
The IIR calculated is compared to the closing swap rate in the financial model to check
the reasonableness of the assumptions made.
8.3 Investment Properties
The Council has reviewed all assets to ensure they meet the accounting policy for
investment properties (i.e. they are solely used to earn rentals and / or for capital
appreciation) and as a result assets valued on that basis total £475.227m (£442.814m
in 2018/19) and are recognised as Investment Properties i he C
ci Ba a ce
Sheet.
8.4 Valuation of Heritage Assets
The Code permits councils to measure community assets in the same way as heritage
assets. However the Council has decided that these should continue to be measured at
depreciated historical cost.
The Code states that valuation of heritage assets may be made by any method that is
appropriate and relevant. There is no requirement for valuations to be carried out or
verified by external valuers. The Council has therefore chosen to use market valuation,
where this is available. Where a market valuation is not available insurance valuation
has been used. Where this information is not available, and cannot be obtained at a
cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of the financial statements, the
assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Items with a value of less than
£100,000 are excluded from the balance sheet.
As a result assets valued at £542.367m (£528.272m in 2018/19) have been classed as
Heritage Assets.
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8.5 Classification of Financial Assets
Under IFRS9 (Fi a cia I
e ) he defa
a ai
e h d f he C
ci
e i h di g
d be Fai Va e h gh P fi a d L
. H e e i i he C
ci
view that the majority of its equity instruments are strategic investments (i.e. are not
held for trading) and designating these at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income results in a reasonable and reliable accounting policy for the investment.
8.6 Better Care Fund (BCF)
The Better Care Fund Pooled Budget arrangements commenced on 1 April 2015. The
Council is the host for the Manchester BCF. The accounting arrangements for the BCF
are dependent on whether the Council, as host, has control of the fund. The agreement
with the Manchester Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) states that relevant decisions
have to have unanimous agreement, all members of the fund hold providers to account
for delivery of services and risks are borne in line with the agreement. The C
ci
view is that the BCF should be accounted for as a joint operation and as a result
accounts for its share of the fund s assets, liabilities, expenditure and income.
8.7 Composition of the Council’s Group
The Council undertakes its activities through a variety of undertakings, either under
ultimate control or in partnership with other organisations. Those considered to be
material are included in the group accounts. Profit and loss, net worth and value of noncurrent assets f each ga i a i
ae c
ide ed a a e ce age f he C
ci
single entity accounts to determine those that are material. Turnover, assets and
liabilities (including the pension liability) are assessed individually. An entity could be
material but still not consolidated (if all of its business is with the Council and eliminated
on consolidation) i.e. the consolidation would mean that the group accounts are not
materially different to the single entity accounts. The assessment of materiality also
considers qualitative factors such as whether the Council depends significantly on these
entities for the continued provision of its statutory services or where there is concern
about the level to which the Council is exposed to commercial risk
Note 9. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions
made by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant
factors. However because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results
could be different from the assumptions and estimates.
The i e
i he C
ci Ba a ce Shee a 31 Ma ch 2020 for which there is a risk of
adjustment in the following financial year are:
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9.1 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
The C
ci
e , plant and equipment assets are valued on the balance sheet in
accordance with the statement of asset valuation principles and guidance notes issued
by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS):
plant and machinery is included in the valuations of buildings when it is an
integral part of the building.
properties classified as operational, excluding council dwellings, were valued on
the basis of net realisable value in existing use or, where a market did not exist,
on the basis of depreciated replacement cost.
council dwellings were valued in accordance with Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance at open market value
less a specified, notified percentage known as the social housing discount.
community assets and infrastructure have been valued at depreciated historical
cost.
properties classified as non-operational have been valued on the basis of market
value for the highest or best use.
Council dwellings are revalued annually. All other property, plant and equipment are
valued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially
different from their value at year end, but as a minimum every five years. Valuations are
undertaken during the year by internal council valuers and Jacobs, external valuers
commissioned by the Council with a valuation date of 1 April 2019. Jacobs provided
indexation factors for the percentage increase in value from the date of the last
valuation to 31 March 2020 for each category of asset. These did not have a material
effect so were not applied to the asset values.
The C
ci Va e ha e a ed ha
a e ac i i i bei g i ac ed i
a
sectors as a result of the COVID 19 pandemic. At the valuation date they consider that
they can attach less weight to previous market evidence, for comparison purposes, to
form opinions of the value of property, plant and equipment where market value is a
factor. The current response to COVID 19 means that they are faced with an
unprecedented set of circumstances on which to base a judgement. The valuations
ha e he ef e bee e
ed
he ba i f a e ia a a i
ce ai
a e he
RICS Red Book Global.
An assessment as to whether there is an indication of impairment is also made. This
includes examination of capital expenditure incurred in the financial year to ascertain
whether or not it has resulted in an increase in value of an asset. Advice has been
provided by valuers employed by the Council. If the actual results differ from the
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assumptions the value of PPE will be over or understated. This would be adjusted when
the assets were next revalued.
It is estimated that the carrying value of property, plant and equipment would increase
by £18.03m for every 1% increase in valuation.
9.2 Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment.
Assets are depreciated based on useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about
the level of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets.
The current economic climate makes it uncertain that the Council will be able to
maintain the expenditure on repairs and maintenance resulting in uncertainty in the
useful lives assigned to assets by the Valuers. If the useful life of assets is reduced
depreciation increases and the carrying amount of assets falls. It is estimated that the
annual depreciation charge would increase by £8.3m for every year the useful lives are
reduced.
However, due to capital regulations, there would be no impact on the general fund
balance.
External Valuers have provided percentages, based on their professional judgement, for
various components of council houses and flats. These percentages have been applied
to the valuations of houses and flats to obtain valuations of the components to which
useful lives are applied to calculate the depreciation on council dwellings. If these
percentages were amended, the value of the council dwellings and the related
depreciation would be over or under stated.
9.3 Compensation Provisions
The Council has made various provisions in relation to compensation claims submitted
to the Council. These provisions are based on the number of claims outstanding at the
end of the financial year, the average settlement amount for each type of claim and the
likelihood of each type of claim being settled. It is not certain that the precedents set in
previous years will be applicable to the current outstanding claims. An increase of 1% in
the estimate average settlement would have the effect of adding £0.095m to the
provision required. An increase of 1% in the likelihood of each claim being settled would
have the effect of adding £0.104m to the provision.
9.4 Provision for Business Rate Appeals
The Council has made a provision for a reduction in business rate income due to
appeals made against rateable values set by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA). This is
based on percentage reductions in rateable values for hereditaments where there was
an outstanding appeal at 31 March 2020. This provision includes the estimated impact
on 2019/20 income of appeals anticipated to be lodged in future years. The percentages
used for appeals against the 2010 valuation list are based on information from the VOA
on the percentage reductions, per category of property and type of appeal, to the
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valuation list following previously settled appeals. Appeals raised against hereditaments
with larger RVs have been considered separately. The percentage used for the
reduction in the 2017 valuation list is based on the percentage that the 2010 list has
fallen by adjusted by the reduction in value that has already occurred as a result of the
new check, challenge, and appeal process. An increase of 1% in the percentage
reduction would have the effect of adding £5.681m to the total provision required
(Council share £5.624m).
9.5 Arrears
At 31 March 2020 the Council had a balance of short term debtors of £311.036m. This
included sundry debtors of £213.021m (including housing benefit overpayments),
housing rent debtors of £7.599m, council tax debtors of £61.502m and business rates
debtors of £28.914m. A review of these outstanding balances suggests that an
impairment of doubtful debts of £140.181m (£63.369m sundry debtors, £6.356m
housing rents, £47.203m council tax and £23.253m business rates) was appropriate.
However in the current climate it is not certain that such an allowance would be
sufficient. If collection rates were to deteriorate by 1% this would require an additional
£1.9m (£1.1m sundry debtors, £0.6m council tax and £0.2m business rates) to be set
aside.
9.6 Pensions Liability
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex
judgements relating to the discount rate used, the expected rate of price inflation, the
rate at which salaries and pensions are expected to increase, mortality rates and rate of
commutation of pensions. A firm of actuaries are engaged by the Pension Fund to
provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. The effects on the net
pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured. For instance a
0.5% decrease in the discount rate assumption would result in an increase in the
pension liability of £317.524m, a 0.5% increase in the salary increase rate would result
in a £30.281m increase in the pension liability and a 0.5% increase in the assumed
pension rate increase would result in a £284.518m increase in the pension liability.
The actuary has made an estimated adjustment to the liabilities for the McCloud
judgement from the 2019 valuation to ensure this is captured in the March 2020 balance
sheet figures. This impact is separately recorded as a past service cost.
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Audit Status
The City Council's accounts are subject to audit in accordance with the Audit
Commission Act 1998 (formerly part of the Local Government Finance Act
1982) and the Code of Audit Practice.
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS
Actuarial Gains and Losses
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses
that arise because events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for
the last valuation (experience gains and losses) or the actuarial assumptions have
changed.
Agency Services
Services that are performed by or for another authority or public body, where the
authority responsible for the service reimburses the authority carrying out the work for
the cost of that work.
Amortisation
A charge to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement spread over a
number of years.
Assets
Items of worth that are measurable in terms of value. Current assets are ones that
may change in value on a day-to-day basis (e.g. debtors). Non current assets are
assets that yield benefit to the Council for a period of more than one year (e.g. land).
Balances
The reserves of the Council, which include the accumulated surplus of income over
expenditure.
Capital Expenditure
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of property, plant and equipment that
have a long-term value to the Council. This includes grants or advances paid to third
parties to assist them in acquiring or enhancing their own property, plant and
equipment.
Capital Receipts
Money received from the sale of property, plant and equipment or repayment of a
capital advance.
Collection Fund
The fund maintained by the Council into which are paid the amounts of Council Tax
and Business Rates that it collects, and out of which are to be paid precepts issued by
precepting authorities, its own demands and shares of business rates to the Greater
Manchester Combined Authority (fire and rescue element).
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Community Assets
These are assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity, which have no
determinable finite useful life and may have restrictions on their disposal (e.g. parks).
Contingent Assets
Sums due from individuals or organisations that may arise in the future but which
cannot be determined in advance.
Contingent Liabilities
Sums due to individuals or organisations that may arise in the future but which cannot
be determined in advance.
Core Cities
Core Cities are a unique and united local authority voice to promote the role of cities
in driving economic growth, representing the councils of England, Wales and
Sc la d largest city economies outside London - Birmingham, Bristol, Cardiff,
Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham and Sheffield.
These cities drive local and underpin national economies. Working in partnership, they
aim to enable each City to enhance their economic performance and make them better
places to live, work, visit and do business.
Creditors
Amounts owed by the Council for goods and services provided by the balance sheet
date, where payment has not been made at that date.
Current Service Cost
The i c ea e i
e e
al e f a defi ed be efi e i
cheme
expected to arise from employee service in the current financial year.

liabili ie

Curtailments
For a defined benefit pension scheme, an event that reduces the expected years of
future service of present employees or reduces the accrual of defined benefits for a
number of employees for some or all of their future service.
Debtors
Sums of money owed to the Council at the balance sheet date but not received at that
date.
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Defined Benefit Scheme
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution
scheme. Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the
contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of
the scheme. The scheme may be funded or unfunded.
Defined Contribution Scheme
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employer pays regular
contributions fixed as an amount or percentage of pay and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.
Depreciated Replacement Cost
A method of valuation that provides a proxy for the market value of specialist
properties.
Depreciation
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful
economic life of property, plant and equipment.
Expenditure
Amounts paid by the Council for goods received or services rendered of either a capital
or revenue nature. This does not necessarily involve a cash payment - expenditure is
deemed to have been incurred once the goods or services have been received even
if they have not been paid for.
Fair Value
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arms length
transaction.
Fees and Charges
Income arising from the provision of services, e.g. the use of leisure facilities.
Finance Lease
A finance lease is one that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of items of property, plant and equipment to a lessee.
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General Fund
The total services of the Council except for the Housing Revenue Account and the
Collection Fund. Council Tax, Government Grants and Business Rates meet the net
cost of this.
Impairment
A reduction in the value of a property, plant and equipment or financial asset below its
carrying amount on the balance sheet.
Income
Amounts due to the Council for goods supplied or services rendered of either a capital
or revenue nature. This does not necessarily involve cash being received - income is
deemed to have been earned once the goods or services have been supplied even if
the cash has not been received.
Infrastructure Assets
These are inalienable assets, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued
use of the asset created. Examples of such assets are highways and footpaths.
Interest Cost (Pensions)
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period in the present
value of the scheme liabilities that arise from the passage of time.
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
These are statements prepared by the International Accounting Standards Board to
ensure consistency in accountancy matters. Many of these standards now apply to
local authorities and any departure from these must be disclosed in the published
accounts.
Inventory
Raw materials and consumable items the Council has purchased to use on a
continuing basis and has not used by the end of the financial year.
Investment Properties
These are property or land that is held solely to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation or both.
Liabilities
Amounts due to individuals or organisations that will have to be paid at some time in
the future. Current liabilities are payable within one year of the balance sheet date.
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Long-term Contracts
A contract entered into for the design, manufacture or construction of a single
substantial asset or service where the time taken to complete the contract is such that
the contract activity falls into different accounting periods.
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
This is the amount that is charged to an authority's Movement in Reserves Statement
each year and set aside as a provision for credit liabilities.
National Non-Domestic Rate (NNDR)
All non-domestic properties have been valued and the Government determines a
national rate poundage each year, which is payable to all local authorities. The Council
collects the national non-domestic rate and passes 1% to the Greater Manchester
Combined Authority (fire and rescue element).
Notional accounting adjustments
Adjustments made to the figures within the accounts that reverse entries required in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that do not need to be
f ded a a f he C
cil b dge e.g. impairment.
Observable Inputs
Those that are developed using market data, such as publicly available information
about actual events or transactions, and that reflect the assumptions that buyers and
sellers would use when pricing the asset or liability.
Operating Lease
A lease other than a finance lease.
Outturn
Actual net expenditure and income that is then compared to the budget.
Past Service Cost
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the increase in present value of the scheme
liabilities related to employee service in prior periods arising in the current period as a
result of the introduction of, or improvement to, retirement benefits.
Precept
The amount levied by various joint authorities, which is collected by the Council on
their behalf.
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Provisions
These are sums set aside to meet liabilities or losses that have been incurred but
where the amount and/or timing of such costs are uncertain.
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)
A Government agency that lends money to local authorities. Local authorities are able
to borrow some or all of their requirements to finance capital expenditure from this
source.
Residual Value
The net realisable value of property, plant or equipment at the end of its useful life.
Reserves
These are sums set aside to meet possible future costs where there is no certainty
about whether or not these costs will be incurred.
Revenue Contributions
The method of financing capital expenditure directly from revenue.
Revenue Expenditure
Expenditure incurred on the day-to-day running of the Council. This mainly includes
employee costs, general running expenses and capital financing costs.
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS)
These are items of capital expenditure that do not result in, or remain matched by, the
C
cil
e ty, plant and equipment.
Settlement
An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary responsibility for a
pension obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to the obligations and the
assets used to effect the settlement.
Unobservable Inputs
Inputs for which market data is not available and that are developed to estimate fair
value using the best information available to the Council about the assumptions that
buyers or sellers would use when pricing the asset or liability. The most significant of
these inputs used in fair value measurement include management assumptions
around rent growth and vacancy levels of properties.

Annual Governance
Statement 2019/20
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1.

Introduction

1.1 This statement provides an overview of how the Council s governance arrangements
operate, including how they are reviewed annually to ensure they remain effective. A
summary of significant governance challenges which the Council faces is also given,
alongside an explanation of what actions have been taken to bring about required
improvements, and what work is still to be done. This provides transparency, and
gives assurance that the Council is committed to continuously improve the way in
which it functions. More detail on particular topics can be accessed by clicking on the
hyperlinks, which are highlighted and underlined throughout the document.
1.2 The Council operates in a complex and constantly evolving financial, policy and
legislative environment. The role, responsibilities and funding models of local
government continue to be in a period of rapid transition. The city continues to
progress the delivery of its ambitious Our Manchester strategy, with staff, residents
and stakeholders across the city engaged in working towards the realisation of the
vision set out in the strategy. The Council s Corporate Plan sets out its priorit actions
for delivering the strategy for the city. The Council has set a one-year budget and
business plan for 2020/21, following the Government s decision to announce a oneyear Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2020/21, in contrast to
previous multi-year settlements. The Council s five-year Capital Strategy (2020-2025)
also forms a critical part of strategic and financial planning. Significant policy
developments at city region level included the launch of the Greater Manchester
Local Industrial Strategy, which sets out long-term priorities to increase productivity in
the region.
1.3 The changes taking place present both opportunities and challenges. Therefore, the
Council must continue to engage in a broad programme of innovation and reform
work so that it can maintain services for residents which are efficient, effective and
deliver value for money using available resources. This document explains the
governance mechanisms in place to ensure appropriate oversight of this work.
1.4 Whilst this document focuses on governance, the Council s Integrated Annual Report
provides an overview of the context in which it operates, how public money has been
spent, and what achievements this led to.
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the city and the Council, and governance of
the initial response
1.5 The national and international public health emergency caused by the COVID-19
pandemic led Manchester and Greater Manchester (GM) to declare a major incident
on 20 March 2020. There have been substantial impacts for the Council, which
include implications for provision of services, our workforce and our financial position.
As a statutory Category One Responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, the
Council has worked with multi agency partners through the Greater Manchester
Resilience Forum (GMRF), and it has been represented at the Strategic Coordinating
Group (SCG) and Emergency Committee. The COVID-19 Update on Response
Phase report to the Executive sets out in detail the governance and activities
involved in the Council s initial response to date.
Governance of the COVID-19 recovery phase

2

1.6 The Council is also now planning ahead for the longer term challenges that will begin
to become clearer as we emerge from the lockdown period. This forward planning
work will focus on planning for the cit s recover including its econom , residents
and communities, as well as the impact on the Council including its services and
finances. To oversee the coordination of the different recovery phases and the
activities required, a COVID-19 Recovery Coordination Group has been established,
which is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer. More information
about this recovery planning work is provided in the COVID-19 Forward Recovery
Planning report to the Executive. Monthly reports are prepared for the Council's
Executive that provide an update on the recovery and response to COVID-19.
Impact on our 2019/20 Governance Challenges, and our Action Plan for 2020/21
1.7 COVID-19 has affected our work to improve our governance arrangements during
2019/20 in various different ways - for example, new or adapted approaches have
been taken to some work programmes, whilst in other instances work has been
paused or re-prioritised. An update on these changes is provided in Section 6 of this
document: Progress in addressing the Co ncil s go ernance challenges . It is clear
that during 2020/21 and beyond, a sustained and effective approach to recovery from
COVID-19 will be critical for the Council and the city. Therefore, coordination and
delivery of this work is recorded as a key overarching governance challenge for the
Council in the Action Plan for 2020/21 at the end of this statement.
Impact on our Budget and Council Business Plan 2020/21
1.8 The Council s one-year Budget, and Council Business Plan 2020/21 were approved
in February 2020. Since this point, the substantial impacts of COVID-19 have
necessitated a reset of the revenue Budget, and a review of the delivery of the
Council Business Plan. The review of the Council Business Plan will recognise the
changes that have been required to the delivery of many of the activities set out in
the plan, which contribute to the achievement of our Corporate Plan priorities. The
proposals for the revenue Budget reset will be reported to a meeting of the Executive
on 29 July 2020.

2.

Scope of Responsibility

2.1 Manchester City Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in
accordance with the law and proper standards. It is also responsible for ensuring that
public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically,
efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the Local Government
Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in
which its functions are exercised.
2.2 In discharging these responsibilities, the Council must put in place proper
arrangements for the governance of its affairs and effective exercise of its functions,
which includes arrangements for the management of risk. The Council first adopted a
Code of Corporate Governance in June 2008. This Code is included in the Council s
Constitution (part 6 section G). It sets out how the Council operates, how decisions
are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient,
transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these processes are required
by law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose.
3

2.3 The Code of Corporate Governance and the Council s Constitution are reviewed
annually to ensure they remain consistent with the principles of the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and the Society of Local Authority Chief
Executives and Senior Managers (CIPFA/SOLACE) joint framework for delivering
good governance in local government. CIPFA issued an update to the Framework in
2016, which has informed the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement
(AGS) from 2016/17 onwards.
2.4 This AGS explains how the Council has complied with the Code of Corporate
Governance. The AGS also meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit
(England) Regulations 2015 regulation 6(1) which requires all relevant bodies to
prepare an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The Accounts and Audit
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 makes provision for the deadline for
the publication of local authority audited accounts to move from 31 July 2020 to 30
November 2020.

3.

The Purpose of the Governance Framework

3.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and
values by which the Council is directed and controlled, and through which it is
accountable to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the Council to
monitor the achievement of the cit s strategic objectives as set out in the Our
Manchester Strategy, and to consider whether those objectives have led to the
delivery of appropriate, cost effective services. The Council s Corporate Plan sets out
the Council s contribution to the Our Manchester vision. The objectives in Our
Manchester and Our Corporate Plan are underpinned by the four Our Manchester
principles;
Better lives it s about people
Listening we listen, learn and respond
Recognising strengths of individuals and communities we start from
strengths
Working together we build relationships and create conversations
3.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of the framework and is designed
to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve
the Council s aims and objectives, and can therefore onl provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control identifies and
prioritises risks; evaluates the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised; and aims to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.

4

4.

The Governance Framework

Corporate governance is a phrase used to describe how organisations direct and control what they do. The Council operates to a Code
of Corporate Governance, which forms part of the Constitution. The Code was updated in 2019 to ensure it reflected the Council s current
governance arrangements, and complied with CIFPA s delivering good governance in Local Government Framework (2016 Edition) .
The table below includes examples of how the Council has adhered to its governance commitments set out in the Code and includes
hyperlinks to sources of further information, which include more detail about how the Council has implemented its commitments.
A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law.
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Where you can see
Commitment to
Governance in action
Good Governance
Behaving with
Integrity

The Council s Our Manchester approach includes four central principles that
underpin everything the Council does, including how it works with partners, how it
makes decisions and how it serves local communities;

People Strategy - Our
People

o Better lives it s about people
o Listening we listen, learn and respond
o Recognising strengths of individuals and communities we start from
strengths
o Working together we build relationships and create conversations
Listening in Action events, attended b The Leader and the Chief Executive, give
staff the opportunity to engage with senior leaders. At the events, staff can ask
questions and understand more about the future direction of the Council, the Our
Manchester Strateg , and what the behaviours are that are expected of all staff.
The Council has a zero tolerance approach towards fraud and corruption and this
commitment is set out in the Council's Anti-fraud and Irregularity Strategy.
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Counter Fraud Strategy

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law.
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Where you can see
Commitment to
Governance in action
Good Governance
Whistle Blowing Policy
The Whistleblowing Policy, which was updated and reviewed by Standards
Committee in November 2018, provides protection for individuals who raise any
serious concerns they have about suspected illegal or illegitimate practices at the
Council, and explains how these will be investigated. Future revisions to the Policy
will be reviewed by Audit Committee.
The Council ensures that, as part of their induction, new members of staff clearly
understand the values of the organisation, and the standards of behaviour which
are expected. As part of the Our People strategy, improved induction and About
You processes were introduced. These ensure that all staff understand the part
they will play in delivering the vision for the city set out in Our Manchester.

Our People People
Strategy Update

A Register of Members Interests, in which Members disclosable pecuniar
interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests (as defined in the Member
Code of Conduct) are registered. Each Member s individual entry can be viewed
from their webpage, accessed via the Your Councillors webpage.

Your Councillors

The operation of the updated Member procedures for Gifts and Hospitality, Use of
Resources and the Member Officer Relations Protocol was reviewed by Standards
Committee in March 2019.

Demonstrating
Strong Commitment
to Ethical Values

The Standards Committee champion high standards of ethical governance from
elected members and the Council as a whole. A summary of its work is included in
its Annual Report to Council.
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Annual review of the
operation of the Use of
Resources Guidance
for Members, the
Gifts and Hospitality
Guidance for Members
and the Member /
Officer Relations
Protocol

Standards Committee

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law.
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Where you can see
Commitment to
Governance in action
Good Governance
Local Code of Conduct
The Council has a Code of Conduct for elected and co-opted Members,
for Members
(Constitution Part 6, section A), as required by the Localism Act 2011. Allegations
that the Code has been breached are heard by the Standards Sub Committee. A
Standards Committee
summary of the outcome of investigations is included in the Standards Committee
Annual Report
Annual Report. The operation of the Code of Conduct is reviewed annually by
Standards as part of the annual review of the Constitution.
The Members Update on Ethical Governance was updated and reviewed by
Standards Committee in October 2019.

Members Update on
Ethical Governance

An Employee Code of Conduct (Constitution Part 6, Section E) which makes it
clear what standards are expected from staff across the organisation in the
performance of their duties. The Member/Officer Relations Protocol (Constitution
Part 6, Section F) governs the relationships between officers and members of the
Council.

Employee Code of
Conduct,
Member/Officer
Relations Protocol

The Council insists its commitment to its values and integrity is shared by external
suppliers delivering services on its behalf, as detailed in its Ethical Procurement
Policy.

Ethical Procurement
Policy

The Council has a Partnership Governance Framework, which sets out protocols
for partnership working, and the high standards of conduct which are expected
from partner organisations. The Framework will be reviewed, as part of efforts to
continually seek improvements in the wider Register of Significant Partnerships
process.
Respecting the Rule
of Law

The Council s Cit Solicitor undertakes the role of Monitoring Officer. The
Monitoring Officer ensures that Council decisions are taken in a lawful and fair
way, correct procedures are followed, and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with.
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Partnership
Governance
Framework

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law.
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Where you can see
Commitment to
Governance in action
Good Governance
The Council uses its legal powers, including the general power of competence to
promote its values and priorities to the full benefit of the citizens and communities
in Manchester.
The Council has measures to address breaches of its legal and regulatory powers.
The Council s Monitoring Officer (the Cit Solicitor) has statutor reporting duties in
respect of unlawful decision making and maladministration.

Our Constitution (article
12.3(b))

The Council appoints Statutory Officers who have the skills, resources and support
necessar to ensure the Council s statutor and regulator requirements are
complied with.
The Chief Finance Officer (Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer) has
statutory reporting duties in respect of unlawful and financially imprudent decision
making.
The Council ensures that it complies with CIPFA s Statement on the Role of the
Chief Finance Officer in Local Government (2016).
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Our Constitution (article
12.4(a))

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to
Good Governance
Ensuring Openness

Where you can see
Governance in action

The Council s website is set out in a clear and easil accessible wa , using
infographics and plain language. The information which residents use most, such
as about Council Tax, and Waste and Recycling can be accessed quickly and
easily from the main page.

manchester.gov.uk
website

The Council s commitment to Openness is set out in its Constitution (Article 12.3
(e)) and is evidenced by its decisions, along with the reasons for them being made
publicly accessible.

Our Constitution
(article 12.3(e))

All Council and Committee meetings are held in public (other than in limited
circumstances where consideration of confidential or exempt information means
that the public are excluded), with agenda and reports being produced in paper
form and on the Council s website. Live-streamed webcasts of Council, Executive
and Scrutiny committee meetings are available online, as well as in an archive
which can be accessed on-demand.

Council Meeting
Agendas and Reports
Online Videos of
Council Meetings

Register of Key
The Council publishes a Register of Key Decisions to notify the public of the most
Decisions
significant decisions it is due to take. To make the Register accessible and
transparent the format discourages the use of 'generic entries' for types of decision,
and encourages decisions to be included in full.
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B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
The Co ncil s
The Co ncil s Commi men o Good Go ernance
Commitment to
Good Governance

The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance

Open Data
The Council has an Open Data website to meet its commitment to publishing as
much non-personal data as possible. This means partners and the public can freely
make use of it, supporting transparency and accountability.

Engaging
Comprehensively
with Institutional
Stakeholders

The Council has an online residents surve , which helps it to design services
around residents views and concerns about their local area and their public
services.

Our Manchester
Residents Survey

The Council informs, consults and involves residents in significant decisions
including service and budget changes. Their views are submitted to those making
decisions for consideration. Consultations and surveys this year have included the
Budget Consultation 2020/21, and a Northern Quarter consultation about plans
which aim to make streets in this area safer, greener and better for everyone on
foot and by bike as well as other transport users.

Consultations and
Surveys

The Our Manchester Forum supports development of effective relationships across
leaders of the cit s ke private, public and voluntar sector organisations. The
Forum benefits the city by driving forward the priorities set out in the Our
Manchester Strategy.

Our Manchester
Forum

The Council publishes its Partnership Governance Framework, which standardises
the approach to managing partnerships to strengthen accountability, manage risk,
and to ensure that a consistent approach is taken to working with partners.

Partnership
Governance
Framework

The Council also maintains a list of major partnerships in a Register of Significant
Partnerships. This contains an assessment of the strength of the governance
arrangements of each partnership, shining a light on areas where improvements
may be required - so that these can then be addressed.

Register of Significant
Partnerships
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B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
The Co ncil s
The Co ncil s Commi men o Good Go ernance
Commitment to
Good Governance

The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance

The Council supports different ways for residents to raise their individual and
communit s concerns to elected members, for example by contacting their Ward
Co-ordinator.
Engaging with
Individual Citizens
and Service Users
Effectively

As part of Our Manchester, the Council focuses on a strengths based approach to
residents and communities. This means:
o Recognising that it s about people and better lives
o We listen, learn and respond
o Recognising strengths of individuals and communities we start from
strengths
o Working together, we build relationships and create conversations
o This approach is used consistently to inform the development of policy and
strategy. One of the first examples of this was the Family Poverty Strategy.
The Council is developing some of the next steps to seek to improve how we
undertake consultations and community engagement. Part of this involves a
commitment to ensuring that our workforce have the skills to take an Our
Manchester engagement approach to working with residents and communities,
which forms part of the programme for the new Campaigning Engagement
Framework (CEF).
The Communications Service Plan Review provides an update on the delivery of
the Communications Strategy for 2019/20. It outlines progress against the key
delivery themes for Council communications of integrated working with partners,
digital delivery, participation and engagement.
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The Family Poverty
Strategy 2017/22

The Council s
approach to
Consultation
Our Manchester
Campaigning
Engagement
Framework
Communications
Service Plan - Review

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
The Co ncil s
The Co ncil s Commitment to Good Governance
Commitment to
Good Governance
Engaging with
Individual Citizens
and Service Users
Effectively

The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance

An Our Manchester approach was taken for the Budget Conversation, to inform
the 2017 to 2020 Budget. This resulted in significant engagement about what
people value and why, as well as what they could do to support those things. We
consulted again on our current budget for Council services, which will be for one
year only, 2020/21. This builds on our existing priorities, which were determined by
Manchester residents.

Budget 2020/21

Scrutiny Committees proactively invite local and national interested parties to
contribute to their discussions.

Scrutiny Committee
news bulletins

To promote transparency and wider engagement with Council decisions, residents
can sign up for email e-bulletins and use social media to interact with the Council.

E-bulletins and Social
Media

There is a Social Media Code of Practice for staff in place to ensure a consistent
approach, security of information, and avoid reputational damage. Social Media
Guidance for Members has been updated, but the planned review by Standards
Committee has been delayed due to COVID-19.

Social Media Guidance
for Members

As part of its consideration of the needs of the current and future service users in
the city, the Council produces an annual Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
(JSNA). This provides a baseline assessment of need across the city as a whole,
and is a key piece of evidence underpinning the development of the Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy.

Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment

Our Integrated Annual Report gives an overview of funding, spending, activities
and performance to show what was achieved in the financial year, as we worked
towards the city's goals outlined in the Our Manchester Strategy.

Integrated Annual
Report
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The Age-Friendly Manchester Older People's Board includes and represents older
people, addressing issues affecting the quality of life for older residents and their
communities across Manchester. The Board members provide a vital voice for
older people in the city.

Older People s Forum
and Board

The Council is committed in its support of the Manchester Youth Council, which
acts to ensure young people have a strong voice enabling them to influence
decision makers in the city and shape future services.

Manchester Youth
Council

The Council produces public reports which provide information on complaints
performance, and which identify where service improvements may be required.
Strategic Directors share the complaints performance reports with their respective
Executive Members. The Annual Complaints and Enquiries Report is submitted to
Audit Committee.

Annual Complaints
and Enquiries Report
(accessed via the
supplementary
Agenda)
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C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Defining Outcomes

An extensive consultation in 2015 led to a 10-year strategy for the city the
Our Manchester Strategy 2016-2025 which included a new approach to
working across the whole organisation and with residents, partners and other
key stakeholders. The overall vision is of Manchester as a:
o Thriving and Sustainable City
o Highly Skilled City
o Progressive and Equitable City
o Liveable and Low Carbon City
o Connected City
Our Corporate Plan sets out the Council s contribution to the Our Manchester
vision. The Plan was updated for 2020/21, to reflect the cit s ero carbon
ambitions and declaration of the climate emergency. The priorities are;
o Zero carbon Manchester
o Young people
o Healthy, cared-for people
o Housing
o Neighbourhoods
o Connections
o Growth that benefits everyone
o Well-managed Council
The Council uses its budget and business planning process to ensure that
progress towards the strategic vision for the city is made in the most effective
and efficient way.
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Where you can see
Governance in action
Our Manchester
Strategy

Budget 2020/21
The Single Council
Business Plan /
refreshed Corporate
Plan

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
The Council sets a Medium-Term Financial Plan, which sets out the financial
assumptions and provides a set of goals for financial decision making for the
planning period ahead.

Where you can see
Governance in action
Medium-Term Financial
Plan

A Performance Management Framework enables the Council and its
Committees to access timely and accurate information about service delivery,
supporting intervention to address any barriers to good performance.

Performance
Management Framework

The cit s role in delivering Our Manchester will provide a key element of
support for the linked objectives of the Greater Manchester Combined
Authority (GMCA), as set out in the Strategy launched in October 2017; The
Greater Manchester Strategy Our People, Our Place .

Our People, Our Place

Annual Corporate Risk
The Council has processes in place to identify and manage risks to the
achievement of its objectives, as set out in the Risk Management Strategy. The Management Report and
Corporate Risk Register
Corporate Risk Register is a part of this framework and is used to inform
decision making, provide assurance over actions being taken to manage key
risks, and to inform risk management planning and mitigation activities.
The Council has developed a School Governance Strategy to support and
secure effective governance of schools in the city.
Sustainable
Economic, Social and
Environmental
Benefits

The themes of sustainability, equity, and low carbon emissions are at the heart
of the vision statement in the Our Manchester Strategy. In reports where the
Council is recommending a decision, the impact that the decision will have on
these broad objectives in the strategy will be set out.
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The School Governance
Strategy

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
The Council sets out the factors it has taken into consideration when making
Sustainable
decisions in reports, which are available on its website. It also maintains a
Economic, Social and
public Register of Key Decisions.
Environmental
Benefits
Our Manchester demands an integrated approach to the deployment of
revenue and capital spend against a clear set of priorities. The Council has a
longer term five-year Capital Strategy, which forms a critical part of strategic
service and financial planning. This has been updated for the years 2020-2025.

Where you can see
Governance in action
Executive Reports
Register of Key
Decisions
Capital Strategy

As part of the business planning process, the Council sets out how it will work
towards its agreed Equality Objectives. When required, Equality Impact
Assessments are carried out to assess the impact of proposals, which may
have an effect on different individuals and communities across the city.

Equality Objectives

The Council strives to ensure fair access to services and monitors the extent to
which this is occurring through its regular Communities of Interest publication.
Future publications will be called Communities of Identit .

Communities of Interest

In July 2019, the Council declared a climate emergency recognising that urgent
action needs to be taken to reduce the city's carbon emissions and mitigate the
negative impacts of climate change.
The target is for Manchester to become a zero carbon city by 2038 at the
latest. The Council established a Zero Carbon Coordination Group (ZCCG) to
drive forward the integrated activity required to ensure that the Council plays its
full part in ensuring the city reaches its ambitious climate change
commitments.
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C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Along with other partners, the Council works with the Manchester Climate
Sustainable
Change Agency (MCCA) to develop initiatives which will contribute towards the
Economic, Social and
goal of Manchester becoming a zero carbon city. The approach will be set out
Environmental
in the Manchester Climate Change Framework 2020-2025
Benefits

Where you can see
Governance in action
Manchester Climate
Change Framework
2020-2025
Developing a More
Inclusive Economy - Our
Manchester Industrial
Strategy

Our Manchester Industrial Strateg sets out Manchester s vision for developing
a more inclusive economy that all residents can participate in and benefit from,
which will support the delivery of the Our Manchester Strategy, and the Greater
Greater Manchester
Manchester Local Industrial Strategy.
Local Industrial Strategy

Manchester collaborates with the other GM authorities to prepare the Greater
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). This document will provide a policy
framework to guide development across the City Region up to 2037. An update
setting out next steps following the consultation on the second draft GMSF in
early 2019 is available online.

Greater Manchester
Spatial Framework
Consultation Responses
- Update

To enable a coordinated approach to transport investment, the Council will
work with other GM authorities, GMCA, the Local Enterprise Partnership and
TfGM to deliver the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.

Greater Manchester
Transport Strategy 2040:
Draft Delivery
Plan (2020 2025)

An updated Family Poverty Strategy for Manchester has been in place since
September 2017, supporting the aim of becoming a more progressive and
equitable city.

Manchester Family
Poverty Strategy 20172020
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C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
The Council is part of a Strategic Education Partnership, working with schools
and local businesses to promote economic growth, reduce dependency, and
help people gain the skills needed to access rewarding jobs in the city.

Where you can see
Governance in action
Strategic Education
Partnership Board

The Council considers Social Value and follows an Ethical Procurement Policy,
which sets out ethical trade practices and the ethical core objectives that the
Council will deliver through commissioning and procurement activities.

Social Value

In November 2019, the Council announced its successful accreditation as a
Living Wage Employer by the national Living Wage Foundation (LWF).

Living Wage
Accreditation
announcement

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance

Where you can see
Governance in action

Determining
Interventions

Decision makers receive accurate, relevant and timely performance and
intelligence to support them with objective and rigorous analysis of options,
covering intended outcomes, financial impact and associated risks informing
efficient service delivery. This can take the form of regular performance
reporting, or bespoke reports.

Performance
Management Framework

Delegation of decision making to officers is detailed in the Constitution, so that
they can deal with the day-to-day running of the service without the need to
constantly refer matters back to Elected Members. Details of what decisions
are taken in this way are included in the Scheme of Delegation in the council's
Constitution. Further specific delegations may be granted, through
recommendation in public reports to Committees.

Our Constitution (Part 3,
Section F)
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Executive Reports

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Planning Interventions

Where you can see
Governance in action

The Council plans its activity at a strategic level through its budget and
business planning cycle and does so in consultation with internal and external
stakeholders to ensure services delivered across different parts of the
organisations and partners complement each other and avoid duplication.

Business Plans and
Budgets

The Manchester Partnership s Thematic Partnerships support deliver
agencies across the city to co-ordinate their activity and consider how they can
collaborate to reduce the risks to achieving their outcomes.

The Manchester
Partnership

The effectiveness of the Council s interventions and the quality of its services is Performance
Management Framework
monitored through the provision of regular performance reports, showing
progress towards goals and targets set in the budget and business plans. Key
areas are highlighted, so that decision makers can take corrective action where
necessary.

Optimising
Achievement of
Intended Outcomes

The Council s Communication Strateg sets out its approach to engaging with
stakeholders, to ensure their involvement in determining how services and
interventions should be delivered.

Communications Service
Plan - Review

The Council has a Planning Protocol within its Constitution (Part 6, Section B),
to ensure fair planning decisions are based on sound evidence. This was
reviewed by Standards Committee in November 2018.

Planning Protocol

The Council integrates and balances service priorities, affordability and other
resource constraints, supporting it to take into account the full cost of
operations over the medium and longer term, including both revenue and
capital spend budgets. This includes a medium term financial plan.

Medium-Term Financial
Plan

19

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
The Council considers Social Value at pre-tender and tender stage, to ensure
that appropriate desirable outcomes can be offered by suppliers in their tender
submissions. An example of this approach can been seen in the major six-year
restoration project Our Town Hall.

E. De eloping he en i
The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance
Developing the
Organisa ion s
Capacity

s capaci , incl ding he capabili of i s leadership and he indi id als
How the Council meets these principles

Where you can see
Governance in action
Social Value
Our Town Hall
Value

i hin i

The Council s Our People Strategy articulates what its workforce will need to be like
in order to achieve the vision set out in Our Manchester. As part of this workforce
plans are developed, which ensure staff have the necessary skills and behaviours to
deliver this vision for the city. These behaviours are;
We ork oge her and trust each other
We re pro d and passiona e abo Manches er
We ake ime o lis en and nders and
We o n i and e re no afraid o r ne hings
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Social

Where you can
see Governance
in action
Our People

E. De eloping he en i
The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance

s capaci , incl ding he capabili of i s leadership and he indi id als
How the Council meets these principles

i hin i
Where you can
see Governance
in action

The Council continually seeks better outcomes from its use of resources by
comparing information about functions, expenditure and performance with those of
similar organisations and assesses why levels of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness are different elsewhere. It acts upon the findings of this intelligence as
part of its budget and business planning to ensure continual effectiveness of service
delivery.
Developing the
Capability of the
Organisa ion s
Leadership and Other
Individuals

The Council Leader and Chief Executive have clearly defined roles, and maintain a
shared understanding of roles and objectives. The Chief Executive leads on
implementing strategy and managing service delivery and other outputs set by
members. The Chief Executive and Leader provide a check and balance for each
other s authorit .

Our Constitution
(Part 3, Section F)

The Council maintains an annually updated Scheme of Delegation, setting out which Our Constitution
(Part 6, Section F)
decisions and powers have been delegated to various Committees and Officers.
To enable Elected Members and Senior Officers to have a shared understanding of
their respective roles the Council has produced a Protocol governing Member and
Officer relations.
Member
Immediately following local elections, new Council Members receive an induction
Development and
into the work of the Council and their role as local members. The format and
Training
content are reviewed annually with members. A new member induction programme
was introduced in 2018, which spread increased content over two separate sessions
and including an interactive session. In 2019, induction training was opened up to all
members, and a number of other members attended induction sessions. The
programme is subject to ongoing evaluation and review. The form and content of the
induction is reviewed annually with Members. Member Development Strategy was
considered at March 2019 Standards Committee. Planning is underway in respect of
the programme for 2020/21, taking into account feedback from Members.
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E. De eloping he en i
The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance
Developing the
Capability of the
Organisa ion s
Leadership and Other
Individuals

s capaci , incl ding he capabili of i s leadership and he indi id als
How the Council meets these principles

i hin i
Where you can
see Governance
in action

An Annual Members Assurance Statement is compiled, to identify governance
challenges relating to the roles of elected members.
As part of the Our People strategy, improved induction and appraisal processes
( About You ) were introduced. These ensure all staff understand the part they will
play in delivering the vision for the city in Our Manchester. A new induction
approach was also developed.
Each year the Council listens to the views of its staff via the annual BHeard
survey, and uses learning from this to make continuous improvements in the way
that it operates and communicates. This feedback played a key part in the
development of the Our People Strategy.
There are a number of tools in place to ensure staff are briefed effectively, for
example via staff engagement events, such as Listening in Action events which
seek to engage staff on a regular basis and involves a Questions and Answers
session with the Leader and Chief Executive, as well as active participation from
Executive Members.
Internal regular staff e-mail communications were re-launched with a new look and
feel for 2019 onwards;
The Buzz a dedicated channel for Chief Executive to connect with staff in
an informative and engaging way.
Team Talk a dedicated channel for all managers.
The Forum an all-staff broadcast designed to include something for
everyone.
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Our People

E. De eloping he en i
The Co ncil s
Commitment to Good
Governance

s capaci , incl ding he capabili of i s leadership and he indi id als
How the Council meets these principles

i hin i
Where you can
see Governance
in action

The Council delivers a comprehensive programme of leadership and management
development, which all new managers are enrolled on. The programmes are
targeted at different Grade banding, and cover a spectrum of areas essential to
managers in the organisation.
The Council is committed to promoting the physical and mental health and wellbeing
of the workforce as a core component of the People Strategy through both specific
interventions and opportunities and as a central part of the role of all managers.
There is a dedicated intranet page with a wide range of support and guidance for
staff and their managers covering a wide range of health and wellbeing topics and a
24/7 Employee Assistance Programme (phone line) providing a range of support.
The strategy for Employee Health and Wellbeing in the Council is called Being Our
Best Selves .
The Council has an open and welcoming approach to external and peer review and
inspection and actively considers constructive feedback.
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Being Our Best
Selves

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Managing Risk

The Council operates a risk management framework that aids decision making in
pursuit of the organisation s strategic objectives, protects the Council s reputation
and other assets and is compliant with statutory and regulatory obligations.
The Corporate Risk Register is part of this framework and is an articulation of the
key risks impacting the Council. It is used to inform decision making, provide
assurance over actions being taken to manage key risks and to inform directorate
level risk management planning and mitigation activities. Named risk managers are
identified in the Register for its key strategic risks.

Where you can
see Governance
in action
Annual Corporate
Risk Management
Report and
Corporate Risk
Register

Risk training has been reviewed and refreshed, alongside the Our People and Our
Manchester strategies. Two new e-learning packages; for risk management, and
business continuity were launched in April 2020.
Risk Management forms part of the Council integrated performance, finance and
risk reporting to SMT, which includes a verification of the effectiveness of
operational processes.
Risk management is an integral component of the budget and business planning
process. During 2019/20 there was Risk and Resilience Team scrutiny and
assurance over Business Plan risk assessments.
Council Heads of Service provide a self-assessment of the effectiveness of Risk
Management within each Service, as part of their annual assessment of their
Service s compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance.
Risks are recorded at service, directorate and corporate level, as well as within
major projects and programmes such as Our Town Hall, the Factory and ICT
developments. The Risk Management team supports Directorate Management
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Council Business
Plan and
Directorate Budgets

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Teams by facilitating risk workshops when requested. There is scope for greater
consistency in approach, and in the embedding of risk recording and reporting this
will remain a focus of the Risk and Resilience Service for 2020/21.

Managing
Performance

Where you can
see Governance
in action

The Council has a health and safety policy, supported by a three-year health and
safety strategy. Key priorities are to strengthen leadership of health and safety,
ensure managers focus on significant health and safety risks and improve employee
participation within the risk assessment process. Health and safety has now been
included in all corporate and directorate Joint Consultative Committees to improve
collaboration with Trade Unions on the health, safety and welfare of Council
employees.

Corporate Health
and Safety Policy
and Three Year
Health and Safety
Strategy

The Council puts in place Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to monitor service
delivery whether services are internal or through external providers. An integrated
report is provided to SMT every month. This brings together analysis of
performance, finance, workforce intelligence and complaints - to support effective
resource allocation, and to shine a light on any challenges so that they can be
addressed.

Performance
Management
Framework

The Council has developed performance logic models which give senior managers
a clear picture of progress towards Our Corporate Plan priorities. This takes a
holistic view of shared priorities across Services, and involves an understanding of
the collective contribution required to make a difference. These models measure
both internal and external factors that influence performance towards our priorities.
As part of the Council's business planning process, service plans are reviewed and
refreshed on an annual basis. These plans detail service priorities, which are
aligned to corporate plan priorities, and they also set out any associated key
performance metrics. The service plans are used to create the overall Council
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Council Business
Plan 2020/21

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Business Plan. This is taken to Scrutiny Committees, before it is approved at
Executive. The business planning process supports both performance management
and efficient resource allocation at a service and corporate level.

Where you can
see Governance
in action

The Council ensures that external companies who deliver services have an
understanding of expected contract performance, and monitoring takes place
throughout the contract period.
Each year the Council produces the State of the City report, which details the
performance against key measures established to understand how the city is
meeting its vision and priorities.

State of the City

Effective Overview
and Scrutiny

The Council has six scrutiny Committees, which hold decision makers to account
and play a key role in ensuring that public services are delivered in the way
residents want. The agenda, reports and minutes are publicly available on the
Council s website.

Scrutiny
Committees

Robust Internal
Control

The Council has robust internal control processes in place, which support the
achievement of its objectives while managing risks.

Annual Internal
Audit Plan

The Council s approach is set out in detail in both the latest Annual Corporate Risk
Management report, and its Internal Audit Plan.

Annual Corporate
Risk Management
Report and
Corporate Risk
Register

The Council has an Audit Committee, in line with CIPFA s Position Statement: Audit
Committees in Local Authorities and Police (2018) , which provides an independent
and high-level resource to support good governance and strong public financial
management. The Committee has two Independent Co-opted Members, and
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Audit Committee

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
provides a mechanism for effective assurance regarding risk management and the
internal control environment.
The Council maintains clear policies and arrangements in respect of counter fraud
and anti-corruption. These are the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy;
Whistleblowing Policy; Anti Money Laundering Policy and the Anti Bribery Policy.
An assessment of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of
governance, risk management and control is provided b the Council s internal
auditor in the Head of A dit and Risk Management Annual Opinion 2019/20
section of this Annual Governance Statement.
Managing Data

The processing of personal data is essential to many of the services and functions
carried out by local authorities. The Council complies with data protection
legislation, which includes GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) and the
Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018). This will ensure that such processing is
carried out fairly, lawfully and transparently.
The Council reviews and supplement its policies, and also keep its processing
activities under review, to ensure they remain consistent with the law, and any
compliance advice and codes of practice issued from time to time by the Information
Commissioner s Office (ICO).
The Council ensures that officers handling personal data are trained to an
appropriate level in the use and control of personal data. It is made clear that all
staff and Members are personall accountable for using the Council s information
responsibly and appropriately. All staff must undertake protecting information elearning training, and this forms part of the induction process for new staff. Data
protection also forms part of the induction programme for new Members.
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Where you can
see Governance
in action

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance

Where you can
see Governance
in action

To remind staff of their responsibility to always take due care to protect information,
the Council uses internal communication campaigns; posters and email reminders
signposting to information protection principles and guidance.
Information Governance is overseen by the Corporate Information Assurance and
Risk Group (CIARG) chaired by the City Solicitor who is the Senior Information Risk
Officer for the Council (SIRO).
The Council complies with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 by
publishing accurate data within appropriate timeframes, in the areas mandated by
the Code in the Council s Open Data Catalogue together with additional data of
value to stakeholders and the public.
The Council allocates resources to review and monitor the quality of the data which
it produces, and which it uses to produce performance reporting to inform decision
making.
The Council makes information available to the public via the information access
regimes provided for by the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental
Information Regulations 2004. Data protection legislation, including the Data
Protection Act 2018, provides individuals with various rights. The Council ensures
that all valid requests from individuals to exercise those rights are dealt with as
quickly as possible, and by no later than the timescales allowed in the legislation.
Strong Public
Financial Management

Local Government
Transparency Code
Open Data

Freedom of
Information

Medium-Term
The Council s approach to Financial Management ensures that public mone is
safeguarded at all times, ensuring value for money. Its approach supports both long- Financial Plan
term achievement of objectives, and shorter term financial and operational
performance.
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F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance

Where you can
see Governance
in action

The Chief Finance Officer (Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer) ensures that Our Constitution
(Part 5)
appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, proper financial records and
accounts are kept, and oversees an effective system of internal financial control.
The City Treasurer ensures well developed financial management is integrated at all
levels of planning and control including management of financial risks, systems and
processes. The Constitution (Part 5) details the financial regulations which underpin
the financial arrangements.
The Financial Management Code (FM Code) sets out the standards of financial
management expected for local authorities and is designed to support good practice
and to assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability. The FM
Code was launched in 2019, to be implemented from April 2020 with the
commencement of a shadow year. It is expected that by 31 March 2021 Local
Authorities can demonstrate that they are working towards full implementation of the
code, with the first full ear of compliance being 2021/22. The Council s
preparations for this are set out in the Budget Overview 2020/21 report.

Budget Overview The Council's
Financial Strategy

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that when a local authority is Budget Overview The Council's
making its budget calculations, the Chief Finance Officer ( CFO ) of the authorit
must report to the Council on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes Financial Strategy
of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The
Council CFO s detailed report in relation to these matters is set out in the Budget
Overview 2020/21 report.
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G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
Implementing Good
Practice in
Transparency

Implementing Good
Practices in Reporting

Where you can
see Governance
in action

The Council follows the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, which
includes requirements and recommendations for local authorities to publish certain
types of data.

Local Government
Transparency Code

The Council s website is set out in a clear and easil accessible wa , using
infographics and plain language. Information on expenditure, performance and
decision making is sited together in one place and can be accessed quickly and
easily from the homepage.

manchester.gov.uk
website

The information in the Annual Report is drawn from sources including the more
detailed State of the Cit publication, which charts the cit s progress towards its
vision and priorities.

State of the City

The Council explains how it reviews its governance arrangements, and how it has
complied with CIPFA s Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (2016)
principles by producing this Annual Governance Statement (AGS). This includes an
action plan (section 7) identifying what governance challenges it will need to
address in the next financial year. A concise summary of the findings of the AGS is
included in an easily digestible format within the Annual Report.
Assurance and
Effective
Accountability

The Council welcomes peer challenge, internal and external review and audit, and
inspections from regulatory bodies and gives thorough consideration to arising
recommendations. An example of positive improvement having taken place
following recommendations can be seen in the Ofsted report, which followed on
from their recent focused visit to the Council s children s services.
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Ofsted focused visit

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability
The Co ncil s
How the Council meets these principles
Commitment to Good
Governance
The Council monitors the implementation of internal and external audit
recommendations. Assurance reports are presented to Audit Committee and
Mazars (the Council s external auditors) bi-annually, summarising the Council s
performance in implementing recommendations effectively and within agreed
timescales.

Where you can
see Governance
in action
Outstanding Audit
Recommendations

This Annual Governance Statement contains a section Ann al Re ie of the
System of Internal Audit 2019/20 which sets out how the Council has gained
assurance regarding the effectiveness of its Internal Audit function.
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) set out the standards for internal
audit and have been adopted by the Council. This process includes the
development of an Emergent Audit Plan designed to invite comment from
management and the Audit Committee.
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Annual Internal
Audit Plan

5.

Annual review of effectiveness of the governance framework

5.1

The Council has a legal responsibility to conduct an annual review of the
effectiveness of its governance framework, including the systems of internal
control. After conducting this review the Council has assurance that its
governance arrangements and systems of control are robust and reflect the
principles of the Code of Corporate Governance. This section explains what
arrangements were reviewed, and how this assurance was achieved.

5.2

As well as providing overall assurance about the Council s governance
arrangements, the review mechanisms detailed in this section are used to identify
governance challenges. This process takes place in a cycle, to ensure continuous
improvement, as illustrated below. The next section details progress made in
addressing the challenges set out in the Action Plan at the end of last ear s AGS.

The governance improvement cycle

1) The Council
considers multiple
evidence sources to
identify significant
governance challenges
that it must address.
These are then set out
in this year's AGS
Action Plan.

2) Senior responsible
officers are identified
who oversee work in
the next financial year
to respond to each
challenge.

3) Progress made in addressing
each challenge is summarised in
next year's AGS.
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Leadership of governance and internal control
5.3 Responsibility for governance and internal control lies with the Chief Executive and
the Strategic Management Team (SMT), which meets on a roughly bi-weekly basis
to steer the organisation s activit . SMT receive a regular suite of assurance
reports from a number of sources including the Corporate Risk Register, and the
Integrated Monitoring Report, which allows the Council to track performance
towards its agreed objectives. Once per year SMT review the progress in
addressing the significant governance challenges, which were set out in the Action
Plan in the last AGS. Progress made is summarised in Section 6 of this AGS.
Summary of the process of challenge and scrutiny by Council and its
Committees
5.4 The Council has four bodies responsible for monitoring and reviewing the Council s
governance;
Audit Committee

The Executive

Approves the Council s Annual Accounts,
oversees External Audit activity and oversees
the effectiveness of the Council s governance,
risk management and internal control
arrangements.

Proposes the budget and policy framework to
Council and makes decisions on resources
and priorities relating to the budget and policy
framework.

Resources and Governance
Scrutiny Committee

Standards Committee
Promotes high standards of ethical conduct,
advising on the revision of the Codes of
Corporate Governance and Conduct for
Members.

Considers the implications of financial
decisions and changes to corporate,
partnership and city region governance
arrangements.

Identifying significant governance challenges which the Council will need to
address in the next financial year (2020/21)
5.5 To identify significant governance challenges to be addressed during 2020/21, the
Council considers a number of evidence sources, which include;
Analysis of responses from Heads of Services to online annual governance
questionnaires, which provide a self-assessment of compliance with the Code of
Corporate Governance.
Significant governance challenges in Partnerships as identified b the Council s
Register of Significant Partnerships assessment process.
A meeting of key Senior Officers with responsibility for Governance, to identify
and discuss emerging governance issues
Consideration of risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register
Emergent challenges identified by the work of Internal Audit during 2019/20
Where appropriate, carrying forward elements of action points from 2019/20 if
substantial further challenges and monitoring is required.
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Key assurance processes listed above are set out in more detail below, and these
lead to the identification of the governance challenges described in section seven.
This sets out an Action Plan, which looks ahead to the main challenges where the
Council will need to focus attention in 2020/21.
Head of Audit and Risk Management Annual Opinion 2019/20
5.6 The Head of Audit and Risk Management audit opinion focuses on the year to
March 2020, however it was evident in the last six weeks of the financial year that
there would be likely significant UK-wide implications of the Coronavirus (COVID19) outbreak and this would have an impact on the governance, risk and control
systems across the Council. Planning was undertaken across the Council and with
partners in anticipation of potential impacts and whilst the annual audit report is not
intended to provide an assurance assessment of the full incident response and
planned recovery activity, it is appropriate to acknowledge these matters and
provide a high level commentary on the response to these unprecedented events.
Whilst the risks and issues presented by COVID-19 are significant, they are well
understood, are being mitigated where possible, and have been managed through
effective governance arrangements. Therefore, as such they are not considered to
impact adversely on the annual audit opinion.
5.7 On this basis, in terms of the year to March 2020, the Head of Audit and Risk
Management provides moderate assurance that the Council s governance, risk
and control framework was generally sound and operated reasonably consistently
within the year. This is the same opinion as issued in the previous three years and
reflects that overall governance, financial management arrangements and core
systems and processes within the Council remained generally sound.
5.8 There are notable strengths in some areas and there have been improvements in
some key systems however there have been issues identified as result of audit
work and an assessment of other sources of assurance, which prevent a higher
level of assurance. The key governance, risk and internal control strengths and
issues of which the Head of Audit and Risk Management was made aware during
the year and which impact on the overall opinion are described in the opinion
report along with more details of the initial impact assessment in relation to COVID19.
E ernal A di or s Re ie

of he Effec i eness of Go ernance Arrangemen s

5.9 The Council s external auditor is Ma ars. Their Annual Audit Letter for the year
ended 31 March 2019 was reported to Audit Committee in October 2019. The main
conclusions of the Audit Letter regarding the key assessment areas were:
Overall Value for Money Conclusion:
Our audit report issued on 31 July 2019 reported an unqualified Value for Money
concl sion for the 2018/19 financial ear.
Audit of the financial statements:
Mazars also issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements.
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5.10 The Council monitors the implementation of external audit recommendations.
Assurance reports are regularly presented to Audit Committee and Mazars,
summarising the Council s performance in implementing recommendations
effectively and within agreed timescales. However, progress is also monitored
through other relevant Committees and Scrutiny functions. The latest Outstanding
Audit Recommendations Report was taken to Audit Committee in February 2020.
Annual Review of the role and responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer
5.11 As part of its work on governance and financial management across public
services, CIPFA issued its Statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer in
Local Government (the Statement) in 2016. The Council has undertaken a review
of the role and responsibilities of its Chief Financial Officer (CFO) against the five
principles that define the core activities and behaviours that belong to the role of
the CFO and the governance requirements needed to support them.
5.12 The 2019/20 review concluded that the CFO met the responsibilities of the Senior
Finance Officer in full and was ideally placed to develop and implement strategic
objectives within the Council, given her role as the Council s Section 151 Officer,
Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer. She reports directly to the Chief
Executive and is a member of the Council s Senior Management Team. The CFO
influences all material business decisions and oversees corporate governance
arrangements, the audit and risk management framework and the annual budget
strategy and planning processes. The Council's financial management
arrangements conform with the governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement
on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government.
Annual Report of the Standards Committee
5.13 The Council is committed to promoting the highest standards of conduct by
members and has adopted a Code of Conduct for all members as part of its
constitution. The Council has also established a Standards Committee, which is
responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by members
of the Council. The Annual Report of the Standards Committee is one of the
Council s sources of governance assurance.
Assessment of the robustness of corporate governance across services
5.14 As part of the process of identifying any areas where governance may need to be
strengthened across the organisation, Heads of Service each complete an annual
online questionnaire. Services provide a set of assurance scores, based on their
self-assessment of how effectively the good governance standards set out in the
Code of Corporate Governance (the Code) have been implemented by their
Service. The 2019/20 questionnaire was revised to reflect the update of the Code
carried out in 2019.
5.15 Using a strengths-based approach, services highlight and give more information
about areas of strength and good practice in their questionnaire responses. These
are then shared, so that good practice can be adopted across the organisation.
5.16 The analysis also identifies areas where improvement and support may be
required. Any challenges experienced by multiple services, which are significant at
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a corporate level form part of the evidence base used to identify the governance
challenges which the Council will address in 2020/21 (Action Plan at Section 7).
Evaluation of the effectiveness of processes to gain assurance about the
rob s ness of go ernance arrangemen s in he Co ncil s Significan
Partnerships
5.17 The Council has a standardised approach to managing its partnerships as detailed
in the Partnership Governance Framework. This supports officers and stakeholders
in ensuring that good governance is understood and embedded from the outset,
and throughout the lifetime of all partnerships. The governance arrangements of
the Council s partnerships, which are on the Register of Significant Partnerships,
are self-assessed annually to provide assurance that effective arrangements are in
place, and to highlight any governance challenges which need to be addressed.
5.18 The annual self-assessment process has been developed to provide clear
accountability, and robust scrutiny and challenge. It can be summarised as follows;
Self-Assessment
An Officer assesses a range of assurance criteria, for example Finance, and Audit and Risk
Management arrangements for each Partnership. A recommended assurance rating is provided.

Independent Review
An independent panel of Officers review assurance ratings proposed for all the Partnerships, to
assess whether sufficient evidence has been given to support the assurance level recommended.

Strategic Management Oversight
Senior Officers oversee the proposed ratings to ensure they accurately reflect their knowledge of
the partnership.

Audit Committee
The Committee provide scrutiny and challenge of the Register.

5.19 The Council works to continuously improve both governance in partnerships, and
the assessment process. The assessment process is reviewed annually.
External inspection agencies
5.20 The Office for Standards in Education, Children s Services and Skills (Ofsted)
inspects and regulates services which care for children and young people and
those providing education and skills for learners. It publishes all school inspection
reports on its website, in addition to the inspection reports for the services for
children and families which the Council provides. The last Children s Services
focused visit took place in December 2019.
5.21 Mazars are the Council s External Auditors. The carr out auditing of the Council s
activities in accordance with the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit
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Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014. Their key responsibilities are to:
o Give an opinion on the Council's financial statements
o Assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion)
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6

Progress in addressing he Co ncil s go ernance challenges
This section provides an update on progress made addressing the Council s governance challenges for the 2019/20 financial year,
which were set out in the Action Plan in last year s AGS (2018/19). An interim update setting out progress earlier in the financial year
was taken to Audit Committee in November 2019. Topics below are grouped together by particular governance themes.
Governance Area: Delivering Our Manchester
Action 1) C n in ing
ge
i h embedding O Manche e
i i ie , beha i
and approach across all aspects of
service delivery, ensuring that staff develop the skills and behaviours articulated in the 'Our People' Strategy, including
effec i e im lemen a i n f
kf ce lan . S
ing Se ice
m e f m ea l and de el ing,
ma ing and
ma e in he O Manche e Self-Assessment. Continuing to develop leadership and management capacity and
ca abili .
There continues to be dedicated commitment to support how the Our Manchester (OM) approach is embedded throughout the
Council, with the internally focused OM programme integrating with Organisational Development, ensuring that Our Manchester
remains at the core of the Our People Strategy.
The response to COVID-19 has provided a catalyst for change for our residents and our workforce and has allowed us to reimagine
what the workforce will look like in the coming months and beyond, with a workforce that is supported to excel and be well, working in
a transformed way and delivering improved services.
Going forward into 2020/21, Organisational Development and Our Manchester will be an essential part of how we bring together the
longer term aspirations of culture change and programmes such as Our Ways of Working (under Our Transformation), with the
shorter term need to help our workforce adapt to more agile wa s of working and the new normal within the coming months. All of
this must be underpinned by our organisational development approach, and Our Manchester - ensuring there is a clear, coherent and
consistent plan for our workforce.
Our People Strategy
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Our People strateg , agreed in Januar 2017, recognises the critical role the Council s workforce pla s behind the vision of Our
Manchester. In agreeing the Strategy, there was a recognition that the scale of change described would take time to achieve with its
delivery timeline broadly aligned to the Our Manchester 2025 vision.
Our People strategy sets out a compelling vision for a future workforce and workplace where our systems, processes and cultures
are fully aligned with Our Manchester behaviours and where people have the skills, opportunity and support to perform at their best. This, in turn, will ensure the Council can achieve the Corporate Plan and play its full part in delivering on the vision for Our
Manchester. During 2019 there has been continued activity to progress initiatives in support of the Our People strategy as well as the
initiation of Our People Plan 2020/23, to articulate how we will continue to progress with Our People ambitions.
Work has commenced to consult widely with key stakeholder groups regarding Our People Plan 2020/23, the current draft was
presented to HR Sub Committee on 24 February 2020, and will next be taken to Executive. Key stakeholders will be managers, staff
groups including the staff networks and Trade Unions. The final version will also be informed by the Race Equality review, and the
BHeard Surve results.
Some of the key activity that supports embedding of the Our Manchester approach includes:
Transforming our systems, policies and processes
A review of systems, processes and governance based on feedback from staff are now being progressed as part of Our
Transformation Programme, which will provide staff with the right tools and time to deliver high quality services for our
residents.
To continue to support the Our Transformation Programme, Our Ways of Working is the opportunity to allow staff to work
more flexibly across different locations and services in an agile way, and even more so as we move into our new normal .
A programme of partnership work has been developed to mobilise Bringing Services Together for People in Places which is
Manchester's approach to place-based reform.
Our Manchester in Health and Social Care which is establishing an agreed format and approach for the way in which
Manchester Health Care Commissioning (MHCC), and the Local Care Organisation (MLCO) will operate to improve the
experience for employees and for all people and communities across the city.
Ongoing review of the Council s people management policies to support alignment with Our Manchester, including Code of
Conduct, Pay Policy, Recruitment and Selection, plus others.
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The Council s overarching framework for learning and development provision ensures all providers are aware of Our
Manchester, and are delivering the right messages when delivering training on behalf of the Council. Further work will discover
how we transform our learning and development offer going forward into our recovery phase.
Our Transformation
Our Transformation is the work to modernise and digitise how the Council operates. Our Transformation is focused on five key work
programmes:
Strengthening accountability - Reviewing how we make decisions, creating accountability and empowering our managers.
Our Ways of Working - Improving our working practices and culture, and making sure that we have the right tools (including
ICT) to do our jobs.
Improving our Processes - Understanding and improving the processes we follow and manage to get things done.
Designing our Future Core - Understanding how we currently operate in the Corporate Core, identifying what needs to
change and what the Core will look like after transformation.
Improving Resident & Business access to digital services - Improving the user experience of interacting with the Council
for our residents and businesses.
Bespoke work and targeted offer
Through the Self-Assessments, nine services were receiving targeted support to develop their understanding of Our
Manchester, and what it means to them and the roles they do. This is part of the work to support services to move from
developing to mature , and will continue as the offer develops.
131 OM Service Champions continue to support their colleagues in their own services on their journe (1.8% of organisation).
A focused strengths based development programme is now live, with roll out prioritised across the MLCO and the
neighbourhood teams, with a cohort of over 300 staff having been through the programme.
The refresh of the Council s leadership and management offer will be developed further to full embed Our Manchester across
both the Council s core leadership and management programmes.
Wider development offer for senior leaders through engagement workshops and conferences, such as monthly Senior
Leaders Group sessions and the annual Leadership Summit, which took place in October 2019. The Leadership Summit 2020
will be planned in line with the recovery phase of COVID-19.
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Delivering a universal offer to all
The Our Manchester Experience has welcomed over 4,000 Council staff along with 482 staff from partner organisations to
date, and a target plan was agreed for a 7,000 staff target to be reached by September 2021, which will be reviewed in light of
COVID-19.
Our Manchester Experience Roadshow was launched, making the Experience more flexible and adapted for certain staff
groups, such as Facilities Management and Social Care. Further adaptations and delivery will be considered, as part of the
new offer, in line with social distancing.
Staff engagement events showcase Our Manchester as a way of doing things, and provide opportunity for staff to demonstrate
the Our Manchester Behaviours. For example, Listening in Action evolved and gave staff the chance to hear from our senior
leaders, as well as being listened to when discussing our Corporate Plan priorities.
Behaviours Toolkits continue to be in circulation across the organisation and MHCC. Teams are creating and testing tools that
suit their service, fully embedding the behaviours and how it works for them. New tools and formats will be considered, as
part of our recovery and support plan for the workforce.
This activity forms part of an ongoing programme to fully embed Our Manchester into everything that we do, so that it is part of
mainstream business and not a stand-alone thing that we do. It has supported a continued improvement in organisational
engagement levels as measured by the BHeard Survey, with the Council increasing by 14 points since the previous year, firmly
placing us at the high end as a one-to-watch company.
Progress on Equality
Numerous programmes of work have been either commenced or completed in 2019/20 which will further embed workforce equality in
our systems, processes, governance and culture. These are long-term and ongoing pieces of work that will incrementally improve the
representation, opportunities and experience of all identity groups in the workforce in the coming years. There is a particular focus on
BAME and disabled employees, as these have been identified as priority groups.
The COVID-19 pandemic is causing numerous communities of identit both in Manchester generall and in the Council s specificall
to experience adverse impacts to a disproportionate degree. Older, disabled and BAME people and those with ongoing health
conditions have been particularly notably impacted, and the adverse impact of lockdown on the mental wellbeing of a number of
Council staff is also notable; but the effects touch every identity group in some way. Understanding these impacts and responding to
them throughout the recovery period is a Council priority and will help to fully embed equality and inclusion both in the recovery
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response and in the Council s governance processes going forwards. This is d namic, developing work and is not described in detail
here. Rather, what follows is the position on the Council s non-COVID related workforce equality issues.
Equality Employee Network Groups
A refreshed approach to employee engagement on equality has been launched with a new Equality Employee Network Group
framework.
This has led to the re-establishment and growth in membership of the groups previously in operation (BAME, disability,
LGBT+), as well as the development of new groups (women, mental health).
The groups are employee-led and each works to its own work-plan, with support and input from HROD and the Equality,
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Team as required.
The groups give an opportunity for employees to access development and peer support as well as to influence programmes of
Council work, and are a valuable source of lived experience and information for services to benefit from in developing services
and policies.
Equality Impact Assessments
Work has begun to refresh our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) framework, a key tool in ensuring that equality is considered
in the development of our services and policies.
This aims to make the range of identity groups assessed more representative of Manchester; the protected characteristics
defined by the Equality Act 2010 will remain, but consideration will also be given to additional priority groups such as
homeless people and ex-armed forces personnel.
In addition, the training and support, quality assurance and governance arrangements in relation to EIAs is currently under
review.
Using the existing framework, equality analyses have been completed against several workforce policy reviews to mitigate the
risk of adverse impacts on employees arising from these.
In order to enable swift decision-making with due regard being maintained, a simplified OVID-19 EIA template has been
developed, with an initial analysis undertaken of the Community Response Hub. The COVID-19 EIA template is being
promoted to the wider workforce to ensure equalities-governance during the COVID response phase.
Workforce Race Review
An independent review of workforce race equality at the Council was commissioned and undertaken in 2019.
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The review has been completed and a final report of its findings has been received.
An action plan is in development to respond to the report findings; this is being co-designed with BAME employees and other
ke stakeholders to best reflect BAME staff s experiences and needs.
The implementation of the action plan and the achievement of its desired outcomes is a long-term programme of work, but
aims to result in mainstreamed and sustainable improvements in the areas of representation, experience and progression.
Regardless of the COVID-19 pandemic, this work remains a Council priority.
Disability Development Programme
A parallel programme of work relating to disabled employees has been in development in 2019; this programme aims to
achieve improvements in the same areas as the race review regarding representation, experience and progression as well as
some specific areas such as reasonable adjustments, equipment and adaptations.
Some elements of the programme have been introduced for trial such as the Access to Work Mental Health Support Service,
and membership of the Business Disability Forum.
Adoption of the broader programme of work will be considered in 2020/21.
Learning and Development Review
A review of our equality-related learning and development tools was commenced in 2019; this aims to promote the use of the
existing equality learning resources we have, and strengthen the offer.
Work has commenced with our e-learning provider to develop a revised equality and diversity tool, which will form the core
element of equality-related training from 2020 onwards.
Our leadership and management development training is also looking to more proactively promote inclusive management
practice.
Governance Area: Health and Social Care Integration
Action 2) S
ing he in eg a i n f heal h and cial ca e b en
ing effec i e g e nance f in eg a ed eam ,
including operation of the MHCC c mmi i ning f nc i n, and im lemen a i n f he L cal Ca e O gani a i n (LCO)
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The Our Healthier Manchester locality plan is the key document that sets out the strategic ambitions for health and social care
integration in the city - to improve health and care outcomes for the people of Manchester within a financially sustainable system.
Health and social care partners will develop a new, refreshed Locality Plan for the city, building on the unique experiences of COVID19. This will start from the strategic ambitions of the existing plan. It will set out how partners will move from the incident response
phase to recovery and transformation, which manages the profound impact that the pandemic has had on the city and its people.
This work will take place during the first phase of the recovery period.
The governance for the refreshed Locality Plan will be through the Transformation Accountability Board, reporting to the Health and
Well-Being Board. Connections with other aspects of the recovery work will be managed within the Council through the Recovery
Coordination Group, chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer. Recovery plans will be aligned between the Council,
MHCC and MLCO through joint working on key priorities, for example, the wider contribution that health and social care can make to
the economic recovery of the cit , and the mutual importance of people s health and being in good qualit work.
The strategic aims of Our Healthier Manchester are to:
Improve health and well-being in Manchester
Strengthen the social determinants of health and improve healthy lifestyles
Ensure services are safe, equitable, and of a high standard, with less variation
Enable people and communities to be active partners in health and well-being
Achieve a sustainable system
Manchester Health and Care Commissioning (MHCC) was established in April 2017, as a partnership of the Council and the NHS
Manchester Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). MHCC is governed by a Board, which includes the Council Chief Executive, the
Executive Director of Commissioning and Director of Adult Social Services (DASS), the Executive Member for Adult Services, and
the Executive Member for Children and Schools. The Council and NHS Manchester CCG MHCC have agreed a pooled single
commissioning budget for health, adult social care and public health, with a Section 75 Partnership Agreement and Financial
Framework.
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Manchester Local Care Organisation (MLCO) was established in April 2018, to deliver integrated out of hospital health and care,
including Community Health, Primary Care, Mental Health and Social Care. MLCO is leading the delivery of Integrated
Neighbourhood Teams (INTs) that bring together the workforce in the above services to deliver integrated care around residents
needs, taking Our Manchester approaches.
The integrated governance structure for MLCO is a Partnership Board and Partnering Agreement, signed by all key partners
including the Council. The Council representatives on the Partnership Board are the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer, and
the Director of Policy, Performance and Reform.
The MLCO Executive includes the Executive Director of Adult Social Services, and other senior adult social care staff (including three
Assistant Directors) are represented on the internal MLCO governance groups that sits beneath the MLCO Executive. These
connections have been further strengthened through the Gold, Silver, Bronze command arrangements within MLCO for the COVID19 response. Other governance groups are in place across the city to deliver the work required on the overall Locality Plan, and the
enablers of integration such as health and social care workforce, finance, performance and ICT.
Work has largely been paused on the Adult Social Care Improvement Plan, although the principles of improvement and more
effective ways of working through the programme have facilitated an effective and structured ASC operational response to COVID19. The programme to date has led to a significant recruitment of additional social workers, introduction of a new strengths-based
assessment process, improvements to technology enabled care, and a focus on reducing waiting lists for assessments and
reassessments.
Wider work has been paused during the COVID-19 period such as the procurement process between MHCC and MLCO to agree a
contract for the commissioning and provision of health services. Work has commenced to recommend ways to improve outcomes for
children and oung people in Manchester through more effective joint working between Children s Services and the MLCO.
The COVID-19 period has enabled partners to make practical progress on integration of health and social care for our residents,
such as:
Integrated discharge planning work has helped to expedite significant numbers of people from hospital into care
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Primary Care providing new and improved digital services to patients
Partners working together to create the Nightingale North West hospital at Manchester Central very quickly
Greater joint working on the challenges of residential and nursing homes in the social care market
Daily social care provider health checks have provided clearer insight into organisational resilience of our providers
Teams and managers have responded quickly and effectively to the challenges presented by personal and protective
equipment, testing, and contacting citizens remotely for safe and well calls
There have also been challenges during this period including significant financial challenges relating to additional costs for social
care provision across the city. The work to improve governance arrangements across the city undertaken during 2019/20 will also be
re-examined in the light of learning from the COVID-19 situation.

Governance Area: Adults Services Governance
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The Adult Social Care Improvement Programme has been established to focus on ensuring the basics are in place for adult social
care, to deliver high quality services for our residents, and to successfully deliver health and social care reform and integration.
The programme plan for this work was developed in late 2018, based on the outcomes of diagnostic work and the internal audits
completed. As part of additional overall investment of £11.4m to meet increased need for adult social care, it was agreed by
Executive in February 2019 that additional resources of £4.225m in 2019/20 rising to £4.8m for 2020/21 and 2021/22 be invested into
the service to support the delivery of the improvement programme through increased capacity in front-line roles. This includes areas
of the service where capacity has been met by temporary posts and short-term contracts as recurrent funding has not been in place.
A number of key priorities have progressed successfully including:
Major recruitment campaign delivered - since April 2019 87.5 FTE social workers recruited into posts funded by the
improvement programme, other externally funded posts and vacant mainstream positions
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Development of new strengths based approach to assessment and support planning - delivering improved outcomes and a
more streamlined process - a significant change from the legacy process which had been in place for a decade
Delivery of phase one of technology enabled care (TEC) programme transferring c.150 citizens from legacy provider, and
operationalising TEC into business as usual
Focused work on reducing waiting lists
Introduction of enhanced communications and engagement with staff, boosting morale and buy-in including ASC forum and
regular bulletins
Development of new policies
Progress on operational integration, including 12 neighbourhood social work managers in place
Significant reductions in Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards waiting lists
In late 2019 through early 2020, a stock-take exercise was undertaken on delivery of the programme to date to ensure the
programme continues to deliver improved outcomes. In order to address a number of the issues identified a revised portfolio
structure has been designed - separating a core programme from a wider set of transformational programmes, and positioning all of
the programmes collectively into the Manchester Local Care Organisation wider portfolio. The transformation programmes include:
Provider Services Review
Learning Disabilit and Autism Programme (including transition from Children s to Adults provision)
Urgent Care and Winter Programme
Technology-enabled Care (TEC) Programme
Integrated Commissioning and Contracting Programme
For 2020/21, the core ASC Improvement Programme is intended to include the workstreams as described below. The principles of
improvement and more effective ways of working through the programme have facilitated an effective and structured ASC
operational response to COVID-19. The programme itself has been largely paused during the COVID-19 response period from
March 2020, and will recommence when service resources can be prioritised.
Assessment and safeguarding function, including:
Front door pilot to test approach to better management of demand
Active management and monitoring of the waiting lists
Embedding of timeliness and strength-based practice standards
Peer support and challenge process in teams to understand and act on strengths, issues and challenges
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Work to improve and embed end-to-end business processes
Testing and evaluation of strength-based quality assurance framework
Development of kitemark approach to further delegate decision making
Development of team and service managers and review and embedding of core policies including supervision
Implementation of social work career pathway
Embedding performance management approach
Commissioning and contracting including:
Development of approach to wider care market management
Work to develop a brokerage function and improved business process following assessment
Work to ensure effective contract management through appropriate function and the interface with MHCC
Monitoring and management of contracts register, and effective procurement planning
Governance Area: Information systems - delivery and governance
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Data Centre
The Council s ICT deliver team continues to run the Data Centre Programme to deliver against the ICT Data Centre Strategy, which
outlined the replacement of our legacy core infrastructure and single, Council owned, data centre site at the Sharp Project. The
Programme will address single points of failure b replacing the Council s core infrastructure and moving to an entirel new data
centre solution, hosted across two separate data centre facilities to support disaster recovery capability.
The replacement of the core infrastructure via the introduction of a new technology for virtual server hosting, and a new backup and
storage solution was completed in November 2019. The next programme phase was to see the ph sical move and migration of our
IT services and applications on this new infrastructure to the two new data centres resulting in the closure of the data centre in
Sharp.
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The programme remained on plan and achieved the target of migrating 80% of our business applications and services (the servers
and data storage that they use), to the two new data centres before the financial year end (March 2020). This provides the immediate
benefit of provision of those services from two resilient data centres reducing the possibility of service outages. However, these
services are still reliant upon the Sharp data centre for user access and internet connectivity until the Programme activities are
complete.
The next phase of the plan, from April - June 2020, would have been to cut over our network to the new data centres and migrate
services such as the internet and remote access solutions and complete the remaining physical relocation of hardware where we had
a reliance on third parties, namely our legacy BT telephony system. This plan would have enabled us to exit Sharp by June 2020.
The COVID-19 outbreak has inevitably disrupted this stage in the plan resulting in the dispersion of programme team resources, loss
of some resource time to addressing critical IT incidents brought about by the change in our users interaction with technology, and
our suppliers who have instigated their own business continuity plans. Access to the new data centres has been severely restricted.
The physical migration of our telephony systems in June 2020 has been cancelled, owing to the fact it will require a large team of
Council and multiple supplier resources to complete the move, where social distancing is not possible.
Whilst it remains the priority of the programme to migrate all remaining services from Sharp to the new data centres, the focus has
also been to prioritise what planned tasks can be brought forward and completed under current COVID-19 restrictions and planning
for when restrictions are eased.
The focus has shifted to those services which are:
Increasing resilience of remote access services to support Council staff working from home (whilst transitioning to additionally
resilient services in the new data centres).
Removing the dependency on Sharp.
Assuming the programme continues to make good progress, and key factors such as restrictions on working practices improve, it
would be possible to have all services running from the new data centres and the programme could move to the decommissioning
phase by October 2020.
Cyber Security
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The Council recognises that one of the biggest risks to the organisation regarding Cyber Security remains with our end-users, this
has been even more apparent recently during the COVID-19 pandemic which has seen a reported 400% rise in cyber related crime
nationally. The Cyber Security team continues to promote the need for good Cyber hygiene through an active communications
campaign, and also through our mandatory Cyber e-learning course. This multi-layered Cyber Security training and awareness
programme is available to all staff and at its core, the training will provide a base level understanding of Cyber Security best practice
that staff can utilise in both their professional and personal lives. Regular dialogue with all staff continues to raise awareness around
all aspects of Cyber Security and we encourage everyone to remain vigilant especially at this time and to report anything suspicious
to the ICT Service Desk.
The current COVID-19 lockdown situation has presented numerous operational challenges to the way we function as an
organisation. Since lockdown was introduced, the Council has mobilised large amounts of our workforce and ICT has enabled them
to work from home. This significant shift has been extremely challenging and has stretched our local resources and assets to make
sure we continue to deliver our essential services. However, with some technical, operational and process changes, the Cyber
security team continue to deliver and deploy software security updates, antivirus updates, malware protection and other protective
security functions based on known, identified and evolving security vulnerabilities to all managed devices regardless of their
operating location.
Recently the Cyber Security team has developed a 5-year Cyber Security Strategy, that will be published alongside the wider ICT
strategy 2020-25. The Cyber strategy defines our strategic vision, and outlines our objectives based on three core themes (Defend,
Deter and Develop).
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Good governance is critical for the ICT service as it enables the Council to:
Demonstrate measurable results against Council business strategies and goals;
Meet relevant legal and regulatory obligations, such as those set out in the GDPR;
Assure stakeholders that they can have confidence in Council IT services;
Facilitate an increase in the return on IT investment;
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For the delivery of new services such as the new telephony platform, ICT uses two distinct processes. Initially, when a new service or
product is required ICT follows The Open Group Architecture Framework (TOGAF), this is an enterprise architecture framework that
helps define business goals and align them with architecture objectives around enterprise software development. It helps businesses
align IT goals with overall business goals while helping to organise cross-departmental IT efforts. TOGAF helps businesses define
and organise requirements before a project starts, keeping the process moving quickly with few errors.
Once an initiative is considered a project, PRINCE2 , a project management methodology developed by the UK government, and
used widely in IT environments is employed to provide governance of project delivery. PRINCE2 makes use of the best-proven
practices from a variety of industries and backgrounds. Documents with templates and clear decision points are characteristics of this
methodology. All ICT Project Managers, Programme Managers, and Project Management Officers (PMOs) are qualified PRINCE2
Practitioners. This is coupled with ServiceNow ITBM which is a governance and project management tool. This ensures that
projects are governed and delivered following PRINCE2 best practice, and that stakeholders are provided with assurance over
project delivery through the reporting functionality.
For live Business as Usual (BAU) services such as Liquid Logic and SAP, the ICT Service Operations adheres to IT Infrastructure
Library (ITIL). The IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL) is a library of volumes describing a framework of best practices for delivering IT
services. ITIL s s stematic approach to IT service management can help businesses manage risk, strengthen customer relations,
establish cost-effective practices, and build a stable IT environment that allows for growth, scale, and change. The newest version of
ITIL focuses on company culture and integrating IT into the overall business structure. It encourages collaboration between IT and
other departments, especially as other business units increasingly rely on technology to get work done. ITIL 4 also emphasises
customer feedback, since it s easier than ever for businesses to understand their public perception, customer satisfaction, and
dissatisfaction.
In order to ensure effective Portfolio, Programme and Project assurance, ICT utilises P3O. P3O stands for Portfolio, Programme
and/or Project Offices and is a framework of principles, processes, and techniques to facilitate effective Portfolio, Programme and
Projects management through its enablement, challenge and support structures. P3O guidance is aligned fully to PRINCE2,
Managing Successful Programmes, and Management of Portfolios products, and brings together in one place a framework for best
practice. Utilising P3O the ICT Project Management Officers (PMOs), all of whom are P3O practitioners, assist the bridging of the
gap between strategy and policy makers, and the delivery arm of the Council from an IT perspective.
Change is effectively managed within the Council, using all the above frameworks in conjunction with our governance approval
forums; IT Board, Design Authority Group, and the Change Assurance Board.
Telephony and Contact Centre Project
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The current core telephony and contact centre systems become end of life March 2020 due to the manufacturer withdrawing support,
a support contract is in place until March 2021 but this still represents a high risk to the Council. ICT has undertaken a tender
exercise for a replacement telephony system. The contract was signed with a new provider in March 2020. Immediate engagement
with the supplier has commenced, detailed planning is underway for the rapid deployment of contact centre services for the Covid
Hub, Social Care and ICT Service Desk, to enable significantly more staff to work from home. Once these services are in place,
planning will resume for full deployment of the contact centre functionality and telephony services across the rest of the Council.
Prior to COVID-19 the estimated go live date was March 2021, however this date cannot be confirmed until the contact centre
services are in place and the detailed planning of the wider project has taken place, to understand the effects on timescales of
COVID-19 and the resulting change in approach.
Liq idlogic Programme
The Liquidlogic suite of systems has now been operational for over six months (since July 2019). The Council are now in
component two of the change programme, with s stem implementation now complete (component one). Business change activit is
ongoing across Children's Social Care (CSC) and Adult Social Care (ASC). From an ICT perspective, the systems are stable, this is
an improvement on the Micare system, which encountered unplanned outages and was subject to performance issues. Good
progress is being made, but there remain a number of challenges to resolve. Children s Services will be read to move to business
as usual in late February or early March 2020. The timeline for ASC will be longer, with the need to learn from the implementation to
date, and the establishment of a brokerage function that will enable some of the current challenges to be resolved. The leadership of
the Deputy Director of ASC, aligned to the ASC Improvement Programme is driving substantive progress. The change management
approach, and any financial implications of a longer timeline for ASC moving to BAU will be identified as part of the work outlined.
LAN / WiFi
The Network Refresh Programme work will be carried out throughout 2020/21, and is critical for the ongoing performance and
resilience of the networks operating within the Council. The programme is currently at procurement phase. As a result of COVID-19,
the decision was made to extend the procurement phase of this programme by ten weeks to mitigate any impact on quality of
responses and their evaluation. The programme consists of the following projects:
Wide Area Network (WAN) Refresh - this provides the connectivity between Council buildings
Local Area Network (LAN) and Wi-Fi Development Project;
o LAN provides connectivity to Council systems within Council buildings
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o Wi-Fi provides wireless connectivity within Council buildings, comprising; New Public Wi-Fi where required; GovRoam
(a network providing staff with roaming internet access across multiple public sector locations. GovRoam phase one
connectivity for the Town Hall Extension and Bridgewater House has been delivered); Corporate and Guest Wi-Fi
Prioritisation
In light of COVID-19, ICT has conducted a detailed planning and re prioritisation exercise to determine the initiatives and projects ICT
will deliver over the next twelve months, ensuring the best use of available resources and optimum balance of risk against
achievability under the current circumstances. This process has taken into consideration not just the current situation, but that
immediatel following the end of lockdown and the ensuing months. Therefore ICT s current priorit projects and initiatives are (not in
rank order);
Microsoft Office 365 Programme
Alexandra House Refurbishment (Corporate offices in Hulme)
Application rationalisation (FLARE replacement)
Data Centre Facilities and Delivery
Network Provision to the new Data Centres
Early Years & Education system (EYES) Implementation
End User Compute - Phase 2
Replacement C,P & C system
Income Management (PARIS replacement with CIVICA Pay )
LAN and Wi-Fi Programme
Social Care System Phase 2
Making Tax Digital
Telephony & Contact Centre
These priority projects have been agreed with SMT and communicated to key stakeholders across the Council.
Governance Area: Finance and Savings
Action 6) Change
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Changes to Local Government Finance system
The 2020/21 spending round announcement and subsequent settlement on 6 February 2020 set out the funding for 2020/21, which
informed the budget proposals approved by budget Council on 6 March 2020.
The government funding commitments are for one year only, and considerable uncertainty remains for longer-term planning. Even
prior to COVID-19 there were significant medium term risks around the levels of public spending overall (to be determined in the
2020 spending review), the distribution of funding across local government (through the Fair Funding review) and the impact of
anticipated business rates reforms and reset (the update of the current business rates baseline).
The longer term spending review was deferred from 2019/20 to 2020/21, and is now anticipated to take place in late summer. This
should give some high level figures for the Local Government sector. The planned changes affecting business rates and funding
reform were also deferred until 2021/22, as notified last year. Following the COVID-19 outbreak, they have now been deferred further
until 2022/23. The financial impact of these reforms is unknown and could be considerable.
In relation to Business Rates Reform, Manchester has been involved in a number of schemes to maximise the resource available in
the region including the creation of a Business Rates Pool across Greater Manchester (GM) and Cheshire, the Business Rates
Growth Retention Scheme 2015, and a 100% retention pilot from April 2017 to March 2021. With the deferral of the full system
reform, the pilot may now be extended until 2021/22.
The Council was already engaging with central government and other interested bodies through formal consultation responses and
working groups to ensure the impact of the potential changes on local government - and particularly cities - is recognised. This
included numerous Fair Funding and Business Rates redesign workshops and consultations, as well as contributing to papers
considered by the Fair Funding Technical working group. The last formal response submitted was the budget representation to HM
Treasury, on 7 February 2020.
Following the COVID-19 outbreak and associated financial impact, these discussions have been focussed on ensuring the costs and
income losses incurred by the Council are recognised, and that appropriate support measures are in place. A government update on
this is expected in late July 2020.
Delivery of continued significant savings
The 2019/20 budget process identified £14.798m of savings and budget reductions to be delivered in 2019/20.
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Each saving has been monitored and reported throughout the year. The table below shows where savings have, or have not, been
achieved in 2019/20 across each of the Directorates. The position on the deliverability of the savings moving forward was taken into
account as part of the 2020/21 budget setting process.
Directorate

Savings Target 2019/20
Not
Total
Non recurrent Net Total as
achieved
/ Investment per MTFP
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
2,466
187
2,653
392
3,045

Achieved

Children's Services
Adults Social Care

3,908

4,000

7,908

(5,915)

1,993

0

440

440

0

440

Corporate Core

3,349

0

3,349

0

3,349

Neighbourhoods

4,951

0

4,951

0

4,951

Growth and
Development
Total Budget
Savings

1,020

0

1,020

0

1,020

15,694

4,627

20,321

(5,523)

14,798

Homelessness

Budget 2020/21 and beyond
The 2020/21 budget reflected changes arising from the Spending Round announcements, the Final Local Government Finance
Settlement 2020/21, forecast pay awards, notifications from GMCA and a robust review of all Council service spend to realign
budgets and identify savings options. In total, savings and efficiency options of £7.5m were identified for 2020/21, which net to £2.8m
after pressures have been met. These are being found through a combination of efficiencies, income generation and innovation and
should not impact on frontline services to residents. In recognition of the challenges faced b Adults and Children s Social Care and
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the Homelessness Service, any efficiencies identified in these areas will be used to help achieve a balanced budget in 2020/21, with
a focus on stabilising the position and preparing for possible changes from 2021/22 onwards.
All proposals were presented to the relevant Scrutiny Committees in January and February 2020 for comment, and approved by
Council 6 March 2020. The table below summarises these by Directorate.
Net Efficiency Options 2020/21

2020/21 Efficiency / Income
Options Identified

2020/21 Pressures/ Priorities
Identified

£'000

Net efficiency options
supporting budget

£'000

£'000

Homelessness

(1,000)

1,000

0

Corporate Core

(3,449)

2,872

(577)

Neighbourhood Services

(2,324)

754

(1,570)

Growth and Development

(690)

0

(690)

Total Efficiency Options

(7,463)

4,626

(2,837)

The Council is continuing to collate details of the additional expenditure and estimated loss of income arising from COVID-19, and
report to MHCLG each month. Current government funding allocations are insufficient to meet the identified pressures particularly in
relation to the anticipated loss of income, which will crystallise further as the financial year progresses. This is a national issue, which
has been widely reported by all types of Local Authorities across the sector.
As part of the Council's recovery from the COVID-19 outbreak, a financial resilience workstream has been established. To support
the viability of the 2020/21 revenue budget all directorates have been requested to undertake a line by line review of their 2020/21
revenue budget, and look for immediate cost reductions and efficiencies. This will be reported to Executive 29 July 2020 for
consideration. The report will contain a proposal for a reset revenue budget, including the funding for the Health and Social Care
Pooled Budget. There will also be the headline implications for 2021/22.
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The position for 2020/21 is expected to be manageable through immediate additional savings and the use of reserves, however the
financial position in 2021/22 becomes much more challenging based on current information.
The Council is working with the LGA, Core Cities, GMCA and MHCLG to seek an urgent, decisive response to the position of local
government. Key to this will be providing greater long-term certainty to support sound financial planning alongside work to
compensate the additional immediate costs to the system.
By early Autumn there will be a report setting out any further corrective actions for 2020/21 and the implications of setting the budget
for 2021/22 and beyond. Inevitably, this work will also be dependent on further announcements from Government regarding funding
and flexibilities, as well as the latest guidance on the approach to tackling and living with COVID-19 including any associated costs
and income losses.
Despite the uncertainty around COVID-19 and government funding, it is recognised that longer term planning is essential. Therefore,
work is in progress to formulate indicative budgets and scenarios for a five-year period. Alongside the COVID implications, this is in
the context of considerable changes to Local Government Funding including the outcome of the Spending Review, a review of local
authorities relative needs and resources (also known as the Fair Funding Review), reform of the Business Rates Retention scheme,
and the government proposals on the future of Adult Social Care funding and interaction with the NHS ten year long term plan.
Governance Area: EU Exit Preparations
Action 7) Planning and im lemen a i n f change e i ed mi iga e potential negative impact of Brexit on budget and
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Extension to Article 50, and EU exit
Since the last Brexit update when the UK was preparing for EU Exit on the 31 October 2019, Parliament was unable to agree a deal
and requested a further extension to Article 50 to 31 January 2020. This was agreed by European Council, and all EU Exit
preparations stood down. A General Election was then announced, and took place on the 12 December 2019 - which the
Conservative Party won.
Under the new UK Government and the terms of the Withdrawal Agreement Bill, the UK left the European Union on 31 January
2020. Since then the Government has continued negotiations with the EU to try to secure a comprehensive partnership and trade
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deal, before the transition period ends on 31 December 2020. We will need to track progress of these negotiations, and the way in
which the pandemic may impact on them, as this could lead to new arrangements for trade, travel and business.
We will also need to be aware of the risks of disruption if these negotiations are not successfully concluded. The end of June 2020 is
the deadline by which the Government would need to ask for an extension of the Transition Period. If an extension is not requested
by then, and the Government has said that it has no intention of making such a request, a no deal exit, with the risks and potential
disruption this could bring, is a possibility unless an agreement can be reached in the meantime.
Governance
The Council s response to the risks and uncertainties associated with EU Exit Transition has been coordinated b the Brexit (now EU
Exit) Preparedness Group which is chaired by the Strategic Director - Neighbourhoods. A Greater Manchester Preparedness Group
is chaired by the Chief Executive of the GMCA, to focus on issues and civil contingencies at a city region level. The group includes
representatives from Health, Greater Manchester Police, Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue, Transport for Greater Manchester,
Manchester Growth Company and Manchester Airport.
Council EU Exit Preparedness Group
Council EU Exit Preparedness Group ( MCC Group ) have stood down meetings, which were scheduled to start again in January
2020 following national stand down in October 2019. However, officers will continue to assess the situation through engagement
with the LRF and participation in planned monthly GM Brexit meetings.
The Government s Transition bulletins continue to be shared with the MCC Group and it is likel that meetings will reconvene later in
the year if progress on the negotiations is stalled or there is likely to be a no deal exit.
If no extension is requested, the Transition Period ends on 31 December 2020. There is a risk of this period expiring without a trade
and cooperation deal having been concluded. Negotiation of a comprehensive trade deal by this date will be challenging, therefore
preparing for the t pes of no deal risks we have previousl considered will be relevant as we approach the end of December 2020.
Risk and Resilience
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In line with Government guidance the EU Exit Preparedness Group oversaw the development and update of a Corporate Impact
Assessment with all Directorates covering the following areas:
1. Fuel Supplies
2. Civil Unrest
3. Loss of EU National Staff
4. Equipment & Materials
5. Medical Supplies
6. Food Supplies
7. Finance
8. Events
9. Payment of Benefits & Poverty
10. Partnerships & Suppliers
11. Statutory & Regulatory
The approach relating to Council employees
The Council s strateg in relation to the workforce has, to date, focused in three areas:
Informing all employees of the potential implications for EU nationals in the workforce and signposting to relevant information
and guidance.
Supporting any individuals or managers who have identified specific concerns, signposting them to relevant support and
providing guidance where appropriate.
Monitoring any emerging risks or issues in either the employed workforce or agency provision.
Work has been undertaken with PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) to create a package for employees which distils Government
information into a format suitable for mobile devices. The package is being used across Greater Manchester by the majority of local
authorities, and is automatically updated with the most up to date Government guidance and deadlines.
Wider Communication
The Council Communications Team has developed an overall strategy for informing residents and businesses about the implications
of EU Exit and fed into the wider Greater Manchester plan.
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Residents have been signposted to www.gov.uk website for information, and there has been a particular focus on communicating
information, support services and Government advice on applying for EU Settled Status.
For businesses, messaging has signposted people to The Business Growth Hub and Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce.
These local hubs have simplified the information available from Government, and provided useful overviews and summaries for
technical guidance notes so that businesses can see at a glance if they are relevant and what action they need to take.
Financial implications
A number of potential financial implications across a range of areas are being considered. These include:
Impact of COVID-19 recovery
Increases in the cost of goods and services e.g. care services, buildings and construction, food and fuel.
Business rates reductions as a result of higher costs to businesses, or issues caused by import and export tariffs.
National changes such as changes to interest rates, state aid and OJEU tendering.
Impact on the Airport Dividend.
EU Grant funding including risk to existing projects and lack of clarity on UK replacement funds.
Impact Monitoring and Mitigation
The EU Exit Preparedness Group has developed a series of key indicators on a cross departmental basis that will enable any
emerging impacts to be identified, monitored and any appropriate mitigating actions taken. These will be further refreshed and
updated in 2020/21 as details of the proposed future relationship with the EU and potential impacts of EU Exit emerge.
Detailed report to Economy Scrutiny Committee
The update in this report is intended as a brief high-level overview of the governance arrangements relating to this challenge only. A
more detailed report - The Impact of Brexit on the Manchester Economy - was taken to Economy Scrutiny Committee on 5
September 2019.
Regional Reporting
Monthly GM meetings continued to be held from January, but were stood down recently in light of the pandemic. It is expected that
these meetings will start again as business as usual commences. It is likely that the frequency of these meetings will then be scaled60

up, based on trade and cooperation negotiations around Summer until December 2020 and beyond, depending on risk and issues
analysis and national reporting requirements. A meeting of Local Resilience Forum (LRF) Chairs took place on the 19 December
2019 and 8 January 2020, and no immediate issues were raised.
Although all other reporting has been stood down, the North West has been asked by the Department for Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to provide a return (initially monthly) about the economic health of the region. BEIS are trying to get a
real-time understanding on general trends and an specific issues in the run up and aftermath of EU Exit and an potential
economic shocks. GMCA are undertaking this work on behalf of the North West, and each local authority has been asked to feed into
this reporting with immediate effect.
EU Settlement Scheme
It is estimated that around 300,000 EU citizens in the UK have yet to apply for settled status, which most will need to remain in the
country long-term after EU Exit. Home Office statistics for March 2020 show that just over 3.4 million EU citizens and their family
members have applied for settled status. So far, 58% of applicants have been granted settled status, and 41% granted pre-settled
status, which allows people to stay in the UK for a further five years. The figures underline a huge take-up of the scheme, which was
launched nationally in March 2019, but also show the scale of the task that still lies ahead.
It is assumed that local authorities will be asked to continue to work to encourage registration, and the Council will continue to do
this, alongside our role in ensuring that all looked after children who are EU citizens apply for settled status. We will also continue to
engage with Home Office communications.
Risk Indicators
Whilst meetings of the MCC Group have been stood down, work being undertaken by the Risk and Resilience Team on EU Exit risk
indicators and refreshing the Corporate Impact Assessment will continue. This work has paused over the last three months but the
proposed actions over the next 3-6 months are as follows.
A review of Directorate and Service risk registers and business continuity plans will be completed as scheduled in quarter four
2019/20. As part of this, the Brexit Impact Indicators document will be updated. The focus of the team will be on supporting
services and core support functions (including ICT, Commissioning and Procurement, Finance, HROD) on development of
practical, appropriate mechanisms for monitoring and reporting on potential impacts.
The key areas of focus for indicators will remain workforce; contracts and supply chain; ICT / information governance; finance
and funding; customer / resident demand; care and safeguarding for vulnerable adults and young people; and community
cohesion.
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Governance Area: Highways Infrastructure
Action 8) De el men , de ign and deli e
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governance of response to the reporting of road issues, linking with strategic development plans, to time, quality standards
and n b dge .
The Highways service now has six major projects on site including Hyde Road, Medlock Street roundabout, A6 Stockport Road,
Royce Road Chorlton, Great Ancoats Street, and the schools crossings improvements programme. Consultation has just finished for
the cycling and walking route between Piccadilly and Victoria train stations, that was positively received. The final designs are being
completed for the Chorlton cycling and walking scheme, and there are also schemes being progressed at Fallowfield Loop, Rochdale
Canal, Northern Gateway, Levenshulme and Beswick. The five year planned maintenance programme has progressed well, and is
now in year four. Additional works funded by a Department for Transport grant of £5m has also been added into the schedule.
Despite the significant impact of COVID-19, major works have continued and in some cases the highways teams have been able to
take advantage of low traffic flows by accelerating the programme.
There has been a major focus on managing the cit s emergence from lockdown, including creating additional space for pedestrians
in areas of high footfall such as the city centre. This work has included widening pavements on key routes including Princess Street,
the pedestrianisation of Deansgate between Blackfriars and King Street West, and working with Transport for Greater Manchester
and bus operators to ensure that the cit s public transport is safe for workers.
The Highways service previously reported to the committee that it had approval to appoint a permanent Highways Development
Specialist to drive forward the strategic infrastructure plans, but recruitment was unsuccessful and so the post is being advertised
again after a market supplement was applied to the salary. The vacancy has meant a slight delay in progressing our strategic
infrastructure development pipeline.
The service has appointed a new Head of the Programme Management Office who is responsible for developing a standard
approach to project management, procedures and reporting.
Governance is now embedded and functioning well, with the service regularly reporting to the Neighbourhoods Scrutiny committee.
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Governance Area: Commissioning, Procurement and Contract Management
Action 9) S eng hening he C
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2019/20 saw two important developments for the Council in relation to social value and ethical procurement. The first is that the
Council has been accredited as a Living Wage Employer. As part of this, the Council has committed to work with its supply chain to
promote and embed the payment of the Real Living Wage. The Council has updated its tender documentation accordingly, and will
be working with contracts leads over the year to ensure Real Living Wage is included in contract discussions with suppliers.
The second development relates to the Climate Emergency declared by the Council in July 2019:
The Integrated Commissioning and Procurement (ICP) and City Policy teams have accordingly developed new questions and
wording that will be included in tender documentation.
The Council has been trialling an additional 10 percentage point weighting in the evaluation specifically in relation to carbon
reduction, on top of the existing minimum 20 percentage points in relation to social value. For example, Highways have piloted
this on some recent tenders and early indications are that bidders have responded positively.
The Council also continues to work with wider partners, including the Centre for Local Economic Studies (CLES), to learn from
each other and promote carbon reduction in procurements. This was a particular focus at the annual Power of Procurement
Event held on 14 Februar 2020.
In terms of wider commissioning and contract management, the Commissioning and Contracts Leads group is now well established,
with good representation from across the Council. In quarter three, for example, the group has co-developed arrangements to drive
better forward planning, held a dedicated session with City Policy on the climate emergency and the implications for contracts and
market development, and reinforced corporate priorities including social value key performance indicators and the real living wage.
Over the financial year, the Integrated Commissioning and Procurement Team launched two e-learning packages on contract
management and social value which are promoted (in the Forum and the Buzz emails to staff), and the numbers accessing them are
tracked regularly. A certificated course in contract management was also commissioned; this has been temporarily paused due to
COVID-19 and the Integrated Commissioning and Procurement Team are working with the provider to run virtual training sessions.
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COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the Council s suppl chain and a number of supplier relief arrangements have been put in
place, consistent with the government s procurement guidance. Council staff and schools were provided with guidance on actions
needed to help identify and mitigate risk of supplier failure due to COVID-19, and the Integrated Commissioning and Procurement
Team have been liaising with contract managers across the council to advise on specific matters. The Head of Commissioning and
Procurement also regularly engages with central government and local government forums (e.g. National Advisory Group), both to
advise on national guidance, and to ensure that the latest policy positions are quickly disseminated. Supplier relief arrangements are
recorded on a single register.
The vast majority of procurements in March 2020 went ahead as planned, and market interest in opportunities has not abated. The
major new area of procurement in March related to Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), in which the Council established a
dedicated procurement team for the supply of PPE, working alongside the health and safety team in the Council and health partners
in MHCC, as well as the Greater Manchester Health and Care Partnership.
Looking ahead to 2020/21, the main risks relate to COVID-19 and the impact it could have on recommissioning plans, particularly in
relation to health and social care services where a number of staff have been temporarily redirected to the COVID response. There is
also the indirect budgetary impact of COVID-19, which will require commissioners and the market to look at innovative approaches
for delivering services at reduced cost. The Integrated Commissioning and Procurement Team is part of the council s Financial
Resilience Group, which is working on solutions to deliver a financially sustainable budget.

Governance Area: Workforce Policy
Action 10) C n in ed de el men and c
dina i n ac
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and monitoring of workforce policy and associated guidance. This includes ensuring strong messages around compliance
and accountability, and a planned programme of work to identify and tackle areas of non-c m liance.
Responding to the challenges presented by COVID-19 has been a significant focus for the HROD team in the later part of 2019/20,
and into 2020/21. Immediate policy reviews were required in order to agree positions in relation to pay, annual leave carry forward
and the redeployment approach. In addition detailed data gathering exercises have been undertaken, to obtain workforce
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intelligence about deployment, COVID-19 impacts including identification of specific employee needs in relation to underlying health
conditions, caring responsibilities and requirements for home working adaptations. During this period some business as usual
activities have been temporarily suspended, such as employee casework, however, recovery plans are now in place for the
resumption of this activity.
Recruitment and selection
Launched in October 2018, the revised Recruitment and Selection (R&S) policy and guidance is now embedded into the recruitment
process. Encouraging managers to Hire with their Head , the policy now enables managers to tailor the recruitment process to their
roles and services - to get the best possible candidates in a way which is fair, inclusive and consistent across the organisation. Since
its launch, the mandatory e-learning module has been completed by 1,226 individuals who are involved in the recruitment process.
Further work is underway during 2020 to review our recruitment and selection process, and to get a better understanding of the
manager and applicant journeys. We will also be engaging with residents, staff and managers about their recruitment experience.
This work will be linked to the BAME review, and wider protected characteristics.
We also have a new approach to Role Profiles in development, highlighting more strongly our commitment to flexible working and
supporting applicants who have a disability, simplifying the language used, and ensuring that our roles are more specific in their
descriptions.
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Framework
Over the last year the Directorate Lead counter-signatories, with support from the HR team, has refreshed the DBS policy, audited
the list of posts that require clearance, and made system improvements (and planned others) that improve records. The internal
audit team completed an inspection of new arrangements and gave a conclusion of moderate assurance (a notable improvement on
the limited assurance findings from the last audit in 2015). The arrangements incorporate recommendations that have been acted on
during 2019, to further improve the assurance relating to the Council s DBS Framework. In addition, the Council has recentl joined a
GMCA contract for the provision of a new electronic system (e-Bulk system) for the processing of DBS checks on behalf of the
Council.
Induction
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Our new approach to induction launched in 2019 and helps our new starters to understand their role, how the Council works, and
ensures they get off to the best start. A programme of change for management induction is also underway.
Using Workforce Intelligence
The Workforce Assurance Dashboard remains a valued platform for managers to obtain key workforce performance data, with more
than 500 managers across the Council regularly accessing the quarterly reports. This online product is fully accessible on PC, tablet
or mobile enabling managers to access data at any location and at any time. The site now also contains interactive self-service
pages specifically containing data on agency spend and absence, allowing managers to draw out even more pertinent data for their
services. These quarterly reports continue to be shared with the Trade Unions, as an overview on workforce performance.
While the Workforce Assurance Dashboard remains the most widely used source of workforce intelligence, the team also engages in
frequent bespoke analysis work with directorates and services in an attempt to understand more specific challenges, and to provide a
greater understanding of these areas. Insights from one such project with Children's and Education services contributed to the
recently revised 'Recruitment and Retention Strategy' for the directorate.

7.

Action Plan: Governance Challenges for 2020/21 Onwards (draft)

The review of governance arrangements has identified the main areas where the Council will need to focus its efforts during 2020/21, to
address changing circumstances and challenges identified. These are set out in the action plan below. Completion or substantial
progress against these objectives is due by the end of the financial year, in March 2021.
Who is responsible for delivery
Directors or Heads of
SMT Leads
Service

Action What action is to be addressed
1

Effective response to COVID-19 through Council leadership, support to
our workforce and organising an effective incident response and
recovery. It is recognised that this will impact on the capacity and
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Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive & City
Treasurer

Who is responsible for delivery
Directors or Heads of
SMT Leads
Service

Action What action is to be addressed

2

3
4
5

6

ability of the Council to respond fully to all of the other identified
challenges and risks. The governance around the response will need to
ensure effective decision making is maintained, and that critical parts of
the organisation s business as usual continue to be delivered.
Continuing to embed the Our Manchester behaviours necessary to
support the deliver of Our Corporate Plan, across both the Council s
leadership and the wider workforce. This includes delivery of the
updated Our People Strategy.
Our Transformation - ensuring effective governance of all the
programmes involved in strengthening and transforming how we work.
Carbon reduction - ensuring that we have robust and effective
governance of strategies, which will enable delivery of the 2038 zero
carbon targets.
Support the integration of health and social care by ensuring effective
governance of integrated teams and activity, including the operation of
the partnership arrangements with MHCC commissioning function, and
the Local Care Organisation (LCO). Ensuring there is progress made
with developments that will deliver positive outcomes within the system
resource envelope.
Delivery of the Adults Improvement Plan and integration of Health and
Social Care, through the governance arrangements of MLCO and
MHCC, whilst ensuring that the Chief Executive can be fully assured on
statutory responsibilities, particularly around safeguarding. Ensuring
effective integrated neighbourhood team arrangements, triage at the
front door, and the assessment and review of citi ens needs in a
timely, proportionate and consistent manner. This includes Adults
Services governance oversight: operational compliance, quality
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Deputy Chief Executive
& City Treasurer, City
Solicitor

Director of HROD

Deputy Chief Executive
& City Treasurer, City
Solicitor
Deputy Chief Executive
and City Treasurer

-

Director of Adult Social
Services, Deputy Chief
Executive & City
Treasurer

-

Director of Adult Social
Services

-

Director of Policy,
Performance and Reform

Who is responsible for delivery
Directors or Heads of
SMT Leads
Service

Action What action is to be addressed

7

8

9
10

11

assurance and the transition from Children s to Adults Services
provision.
Improving the resilience of ICT systems; including continuing to
strengthen cyber security to ensure an effective response to the
evolving external environment, and the Council s arrangements for
disaster recovery via delivery of the data centre.
Governance of delivery of proposed ICT infrastructure and systems
essential to business operations and legal compliance, including the
new social care system. Mitigation of delivery timescale risks, and
effective prioritisation where there is an interdependence between
business critical programmes (e.g. telephony).
Planning and implementation of changes required to mitigate potential
negative impact of EU Exit on budget and other assumptions for the
Council, partners and residents of the City.
Strengthening the consistency of and accountability involved in the
Council s approach to commissioning, procurement and contract
management. This includes; improving supply chain resilience, building
in carbon reduction requirements and reducing reliance on waivers.
Continued development and coordination across Services of the
governance, communication, implementation and monitoring of
workforce policy and associated guidance. This includes ensuring
strong messages around compliance and accountability, and a planned
programme of work to identify and tackle areas of non-compliance.
Focus is needed on; the Accountability Framework - to support
understanding of decision making, and the operation and efficacy of
the Member / Officer Relations Protocol, and the Member Code of
Conduct.
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Deputy Chief Executive
& City Treasurer

Director of ICT

Deputy Chief Executive
& City Treasurer

Director of ICT

Chief Executive

-

Deputy Chief Executive
& City Treasurer

Head of Strategic
Commissioning

Deputy Chief Executive
& City Treasurer, City
Solicitor

Director of HROD,
Deputy City Solicitor

Conclusion
The governance arrangements as described above have been applied throughout the year, and up to the date of the approval of the
Annual Accounts, providing an effective framework for identifying governance issues and taking mitigating action. Over the coming year
the Council will continue the operation of its governance framework and take steps to carry out the actions for improvement identified in
the review of effectiveness to further strengthen its governance arrangements.
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